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DAY 2 – 24 JUNE 2015 

 

  [10.04 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Good morning everyone. Is Ms Mulcock here? No, 5 

Mr Weaver?  Mr Long, I wonder, just in regard to the lay submitters 

coming in later, if you could just keep an eye out for them and make 

sure that they are fully appraised of how things have moved along and 

so forth, so it just helps them when they make their presentation.  

Thank you very much. 10 

 

 All right.  So now, Ms Viskovic, I think we have got Mr Gregory to 

come through.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes, sir, thank you. 15 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I suppose before we get underway with that, is there any 

update on the caucusing suggestion or do you want to leave that to later 20 

in the day? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   If we could leave that to later in the day, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine, all right, okay. 25 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  And I can also confirm at this stage, just as an initial 

housekeeping matter, that I won’t have any questions for Ms Stevens 

this afternoon. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, all right, thank you.   

 

MS VISKOVIC:   So the Council calls Mr Chris Gregory. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, to embarrass everyone, I have left my spiral bound 35 

pad in my desk.   

 

 We will just hold from swearing you in, of course, without Madam 

Registrar. 

40 
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<CHRISTOPHER GREGORY, sworn [10.06 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [10.07 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Can you please confirm your full name is Christopher 

Michael Edward Gregory and you have the qualifications and 

experience set out in evidence you have previously presented to this 5 

Panel? 

 

MR GREGORY:   It is. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  And you have prepared a statement of evidence for this 10 

particular hearing, a statement dated 21 May 2015? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I have. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any changes or amendments to that statement? 15 

 

MR GREGORY:   No. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Can you confirm that your statement is true and correct to 

the best of your knowledge? 20 

 

MR GREGORY:   It is. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Now, I understand you have prepared a summary of your 

evidence in relation to this hearing, could you please take us through 25 

that and then remain there to answer any questions. 

 

MR GREGORY:  Thank you. Good morning, sir. So my evidence for the 

subdivision hearing is the third piece of evidence I have prepared for 

the Hearings Panel and in it I refer to my previous evidence for the 30 

commercial and industrial hearing and my rebuttal evidence for the 

residential hearing. 

 

 My evidence is focused on a high level overview of the current state of 

horizontal infrastructure in the post-quake environment; the Council’s 35 

long term plan process in terms of planning for infrastructure; and the 

requirements of the Local Government Act in terms of providing and 

funding infrastructure.   

 

 The 2010/2011 earthquakes severely impacted and compromised the 40 

city’s core horizontal infrastructure.  To date approximately 70 percent 

of the $2.23 billion SCIRT programme is complete and on track for 

total completion by December 2016.  Two-thirds of that expenditure 

has been on the wastewater systems.   

 45 
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 The ongoing repair and reinstatement of the water supply, wastewater, 

storm water and roading networks to fully address earthquake impacts 

will continue for a further 20 to 30 years.  This is partly due to 

affordability but also a recognition that there is still useful life left in 

many of the damaged assets. 5 

 

 With respect to planning for growth in the city this has been derived by 

modelling the anticipated population growth of 23,000 additional 

household units and the likely growth areas where that will occur to 

determine the impact on the core infrastructure assets including 10 

identification of areas of capacity constraint. 

 

 This modelling has identified a programme of projects for the coming 

10 years to input into Council’s long term plan. This growth 

programme represents over 25 percent of capital expenditure on 15 

business as usual projects over the coming 10 years at $393 million.  

This long term plan is a public process that balances operational and 

capital expenditure in a way that is both affordable, fiscally prudent and 

efficient.  These are the requirements that the Local Government Act 

places on the Council in its financial planning. 20 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 It would not be efficient to provide infrastructure to support all of the 

development allowed under the proposed district plan zoning in the 25 

timeframe of a single long term plan.  Instead the flexibility provided 

by three yearly reviews of that long term plan and annual plans is 

utilised to adjust the adopted capital programme to provide 

infrastructure required for growth as the need manifests itself.   

 30 

 This need is identified through updating our network models and the 

consenting process.  It is frequently necessary to engage with 

developers of subdivision to address various issues including capacity 

that arise from their proposals.  It is acknowledged that subdivision is a 

controlled activity in the current City Plan and under that plan 35 

discussions occur and conditions are set.  

 

 Following discussion with Mr Long and Ms O’Brien I have been 

assured that this engagement and the setting of conditions can continue 

to be provided by a controlled activity status for subdivision in the 40 

proposed replacement district plan and hence I now support subdivision 

being a controlled activity.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Gregory.  Mr Carranceja? 

 45 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, Ms Silcock will ask these questions. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Silcock. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SILCOCK [10.11 am] 

 5 

MS SILCOCK:   Good morning, Mr Gregory. 

 

MR GREGORY:   Good morning.   

 

MS SILCOCK:   Today I would like to discuss with you some of the topics that 10 

my learned friend, Mr Carranceja, traversed with Ms O’Brien and 

Mr Norton yesterday in respect of horizontal infrastructure.  The first 

topic I would like to talk to you about is the practical implementation 

of controlled activity status with respect to horizontal infrastructure.   

 15 

 Now, one option for determining capacity would be to require a 

developer to obtain some sort of certification from the Council that 

there is sufficient capacity available, is that correct? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I understand that is an option that is being looked at, yes. 20 

 

MS SILCOCK:   And in terms of how that certification might be obtained there 

would be a couple of options, one might be that a certification could be 

informed by mapped capacity areas, either areas where there is no 

constraints or where there is sufficient capacity? 25 

 

MR GREGORY:   Certainly that would aid a certification process, yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   And another option would be perhaps if those maps either 

weren’t available or that they illustrated there wasn’t sufficient capacity 30 

that the Council could also look at its records to see whether or not 

capacity might be available? 

 

MR GREGORY:   That is true to the extent that we could look at the records 

but we would also need to know what the particular proposer’s 35 

proposals were in terms of the layout of their development proposal 

and so on.  Because the way in which we provide that capacity may be 

impacted by the way in which they are going to lay out their particular 

development, the density of housing they are going to put in there and 

all those matters.  So, yes, at a macro level we can use that model to 40 

identify a general capacity in various areas but then it comes down to 

the detail, particularly in areas where there is capacity constraint as to 

what mitigations might be able to be put in place or plans put in place 

to provide the capacity needed by the particular applicant. 

 45 
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MS SILCOCK:   Certainly.  So provided that you had sufficient information 

from the developer, certification would be possible? 

 

MR GREGORY:   We could certainly give the developer an indication that 

their proposal met the capacity constraint or addressed it, or that 5 

Council’s future programme of upgrade works might address that 

capacity constraint at some point in the future based on its long term 

programme. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you.  Now, another matter that was raised yesterday by 10 

Mr Udale was the potential for a gold rush if the certification approach 

was taken, so developers would essentially bank capacity which could 

have implications for recovery and development.  Now, one option 

potentially that could be used to address this situation would be 

providing certification subject to a time limit, would you agree with 15 

that? 

 

MR GREGORY:   Certainly the time limit would put a constraint around it that 

I would suggest would be necessary.  We would also need to be 

mindful of the potential for having in effect guaranteed a capacity.  So 20 

if there was a certain amount of capacity allowed in a certain area, once 

we had certified that capacity to one particular applicant then we would 

have to be mindful that may restrict other people in the same area from 

envisaging their plans for their land.  And that would put Council in the 

position of having basically, as you say, banked that particular spare 25 

capacity in a zone to one particular applicant so we would need to 

know there was a time constraint on that. 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 30 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes.  And in terms of, first if I take you to the issue of time 

constraint, have you got any thoughts about an appropriate time limit to 

address that issue? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I would think it would need to be in the one to two year 35 

timeframe. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you.  And just also taking you back to the issue about 

the Council needing to be aware of the capacity that it said was 

available, provided that there was a robust process that that would be 40 

achievable? 

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct, yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you.  One other option for addressing capacity issues 45 

is an outline development plan. Now, would you agree that if an outline 
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development plan addressed where there was capacity that there would 

be no requirement to obtain certification if that capacity exists? 

 

MR GREGORY:   If the outline plan showed what infrastructure was necessary 

in that zone then we are effectively saying that that capacity exists 5 

within that area so long as what the outline plan showed was in fact put 

in place, yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes, thank you.  So if there was compliance with – sorry, that 

wasn’t a very well framed question on my behalf.  So if the outline 10 

development plan clearly showed what capacity exists and the 

developer complied with that outline development plan there would be 

no issues? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I think it would be more than what capacity exists, it would 15 

be a general arrangement of the network within that ODP area, yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:  Yes, thank you. I take you onto another matter now, 

Mr Gregory, and that is in relation to the references to the Council’s 

infrastructure standards and guidelines in the plan. Now, there are some 20 

matters of control and matters of discretion which refer to the Council’s 

standards and guidelines.  Would you agree that it would assist both 

developers and the wider public to be aware of what those particular 

standards and guidelines are and what would be assessed as a matter of 

control and discretion on an activity? 25 

 

MR GREGORY:   So the Infrastructure Design Standards exist currently and 

they are basically a set of standards that gives the Council some surety 

that when a development proceeds we will get infrastructure to a 

quality and standard and arrangement that we could inherit and run as a 30 

Council in the future.   

 

 Those are living documents and they do change and certainly through 

the earthquakes, as technology and so on has moved forward, we have 

had to update those.  So we would need to keep the Infrastructure 35 

Design Standards in an environment that they could be regularly 

updated.  It still would be a public document, it would be available to 

any potential developer at any point in time to see what the latest 

version of the standards were but it does need to be kept in that 

environment that we are able to update it reasonably frequently and I 40 

would suggest that is probably annually as a minimum, yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you for that.  So assuming that external documents can 

be mentioned in the matters of control and the matters of discretion and 

be able to be updated without a plan change, would you agree that it 45 
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would be clearer for plan users to specify what those standards are in 

the matters for control and matters for discretion? 

 

MR GREGORY:   Yes, yes. 

 5 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you.  And just for the benefit of the Panel, some 

examples of those documents might be the Infrastructure Design 

Standard that we were just talking about, also the Construction 

Standard Specification? 

 10 

MR GREGORY:   Correct. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   The Waterways, Wetlands and Drainage Guide? 

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct. 15 

 

MS SILCOCK:   And perhaps some of the storm water management plans? 

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct. 

 20 

MS SILCOCK:   So if we continue with the assumption that you can have an 

external document referred to in those matters of control and matters of 

discretion and allowing amendments to be made to those as they are 

required, there would be some options for how they could be recorded, 

they could perhaps be listed in the plan next to those matters of control 25 

or discretion? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I can’t see any reason why not as I say, so long as there was 

no impediment to regularly updating through a formal process, so that 

we all know that we are currently using version 3 or version 4 of a 30 

particular document, and that people would be required to use the latest 

version obviously. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes, that is understood.  Another potential option that 

Judge Hassan talked about yesterday was the possibility of providing a 35 

link in the replacement plan to a website where those documents might 

be listed, would that be another option? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I can’t see any reason why so long as it is technologically 

feasible that that wouldn’t be a good way to go way, yes. 40 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

MS SILCOCK:   And you could also perhaps provide a link for really easy 

access to those documents on that website? 45 
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MR GREGORY:   Yes.   

 

MS SILCOCK:  Thank you.  Just one other matter to discuss, Mr Gregory, and 

that is in relation to an objective in the, sorry in the subdivision 

proposal, which is about horizontal infrastructure, and I will take you to 5 

that policy, it is in Exhibit 2 if you have that available, which is the 

tracked change version of the restructured proposal. 

 

MR GREGORY:  Oh yes. 

 10 

MS SILCOCK:  If I take you to page 6 please.  On page 6 towards the end of 

the page there is a policy, policy 8.1.3.1 which is about the availability 

of infrastructure, and point A of that talks about subdivision where 

infrastructure is not performing, serviceable or functional. Now, now 

that you have had an opportunity to read that, Mr Gregory, there is an 15 

assessment matter which is assessment matter 8.2.4.2 assessment 

matter 11Y which implements this policy and, sorry if take you to that 

page, it is on page 28 of Exhibit 2, oh sorry I apologise it is actually on 

page 27, and that is Y which is again about a third, two thirds of the 

way down the page.   20 

 

 Now that policy, sorry that assessment matter, implements policy 

8.1.3.1A, now you would not have any objection to amending the last 

section of that policy to refer to infrastructure that is performing, 

serviceable or functional rather than the wording that is provided there. 25 

 

MR GREGORY:   Sorry could you clarify that again?  So you want to? 

 

MS SILCOCK:  Sorry, so rather than the last part of that sentence which talks 

about whether the repairs will have been undertaken, sorry actually I 30 

will take you back right to the very beginning of that. The matter 

should rather read whether infrastructure is performing, serviceable and 

functional, rather than whether or not it is damaged. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Gregory, the question being put to you is - - - 35 

 

MR GREGORY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: - - - whether that word “damaged” more or less should be 

replaced by “serviceable or functional”, whether that would be clearer.  40 

Is that fair, Ms Silcock? 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes, it is, yes. 

 

MR GREGORY:   I guess my reason for studying the words is that we do have 45 

situations where infrastructure is damaged but it is still serviceable so it 
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is still able to perform its function in terms of carrying whatever litres 

of wastewater per year or whatever, but it has got minor cracking in it.  

Now we are continuing to use that because it still has some serviceable 

life left in it.  We won’t necessarily replace that pipe until it comes up 

for replacement under the normal renewals programme which may be 5 

several years down the track.   

 

 So the fact that something is damaged does not necessarily mean that 

we would be planning to immediately replace it, nor that it in fact 

totally restricts the functionality of that particular pipe.  So there could 10 

be a situation where a pipe is perfectly capable, is serviceable, it’s 

functional, it’s doing what it’s intended to do but it does have some 

latent damage within it that we know from the earthquake.  So I am just 

not sure how the wording there would address - - - 

 15 

MS SILCOCK:  Sorry perhaps if I could be clearer.  So the policy talks about 

whether the infrastructure serving the land that has been damaged by 

the earthquakes and whether the infrastructure is performing, 

serviceable and functional, and I think that actually achieves exactly 

the point that you were just discussing, Mr Gregory. 20 

 

MR GREGORY: That’s right. That is correct.  Yes.  I mean, if it is performing, 

is serviceable and functional then there is no reason why the 

development should not occur. 

 25 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you and on that basis we could amend the policy, sorry 

amend the matter of discretion to clearly express that rather than 

referring to the words that are there currently.   

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct. 30 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you I have no further questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Silcock.  Ms Dawson? 

 35 

  [10.25 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:  I’m all right, thank you.  Thank you, Mr Gregory.  Each time 

you come back and give us your overview of all the processes that the 

Council has to do with the Long Term Plan, the Annual Plan, it gets 40 

clearer to us, so we are grateful for that, thank you.  I think this has 

helped me understand just another notch up, so thank you.   

 

 I have not really got many questions for you because they have been 

covered with the change of controlled activity status proposed by the 45 
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Council so I have just got one question and it relates to in section 4.7 of 

your evidence if you have got that there. 

 

MR GREGORY:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON: Again it is really about this planning process that you go 

through in deciding what projects you put into the Long Term Plan or 

your Annual Plan. I can see how you make decisions around the 

Greenfields’ area, they are identified, there are proposals coming 

forward for those, but when the Council is making decisions about 10 

which brownfields area, for example might be going to be converted to 

say residential, or where the areas of intensification might occur, how 

do the assets’ side of the Council make those decisions? What 

information do you draw on? 

 15 

MR GREGORY:  There are two sides to that.  So there is through mapping 

where we think the 23,000 household units are going to occur, that is 

split between those three areas. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, yes. 20 

 

MR GREGORY:  They go into the modelling, and so in a general sense we 

have accomplished a level of that development being within brownfield 

sites or within intensification areas when we put those overlays into our 

- - - 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   So generally putting them in? 

 

MR GREGORY:  So they are split in some ratio which I am sorry I’m not 

aware exactly what the ratio is but we will take an assessment of the 30 

total 23,000 - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR GREGORY:  - - - household units, spread it across those three different 35 

categories, apply those to models and then that will flag up two types of 

projects.  It will flag up the major upgrades that are necessary so where 

we have major capacity constraints in a pump station or a major trunk 

sewer.  It also gives us an indication of where we are heading towards 

needing to do more general levels of upgrade as and when the uptake of 40 

land occurs, and for that we put more general funds in place so that 

they are programme level funds which are not attributed to individual 

projects at the time of the LTP, but as development actually occurs and 

we monitor that we then on an annual basis decide what the funding 

allowed for in next year’s LTP for example there might be two or 45 

$3,000,000 towards general network upgrades in the wastewater 
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infrastructure because of what we are now aware of is occurring in 

different areas, those are the projects that we put into next year’s actual 

work programme. 

 

MS DAWSON:  That initial – the higher level decision making – when you set 5 

up the original broader modelling, you said the distribution of where 

population growth might occur is between Greenfields and brownfields 

and intensification, and Greenfields are all mapped - - - 

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct. 10 

 

MS DAWSON: - - - you sort of have a bit of an idea where they are going to 

go, Belfast area, Halswell are etcetera.  But brownfields areas could be 

any number of locations, and similarly with intensification there is a 

whole lot of areas zoned for intensification or not zoned but could and 15 

we know or we have heard they are not all going to be developed - - - 

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - so how do you distribute that side, the inside the existing 20 

urban area portion of the intensification between the different areas of 

the city as a whole, you just add? 

 

MR GREGORY:   It is an interesting process because at any point in time we 

have an Annual Plan ahead - - - 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR GREGORY:  - - - and by monitoring what is happening around the city in 

terms of the applications that are coming in and the general uptake in 30 

different zones we then modify that annual programme to try to target 

the money that is available in the LTP to the right areas of the city, and 

that comes from, as we have heard through these hearings, discussions 

with organisations like Housing New Zealand and what their plans are, 

and we will modify and adapt the programme that we have to try and 35 

match pace with what those particular developers are planning to do. 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:  So it is an ongoing juggle for you in terms of where the 40 

internal intensification might occur? 

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct.  
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MS DAWSON:   Because as I think you’ve said, it would be inefficient to plan 

for all the potential areas all being intensified, because we know from 

evidence that’s just not going to occur. 

 

MR GREGORY:   So at the highest level we’ve tried to provide enough funds 5 

to enable that annual programming and the three yearly review, so 

every three years. If the predictions are wrong, then we can come back 

to the LTP every three years and put that in front of the Council for the 

10 years beyond that point, but equally there is a process every annual 

plan when we’re putting the actual work programme together. If it was 10 

required to make a significant change to the LTP then we can do that 

through the annual plan process to get a resolution in Council to put 

some more funds into the pot of money, so to speak, if it was necessary 

to keep up with the pace of growth as it actually occurs.  

 15 

MS DAWSON:  So for that juggling of money amongst areas and projects, you 

are quite dependent on monitoring what has been going on recently and 

this other side, which you have talked about which is finding out what 

developers’ plans are. 

 20 

MR GREGORY:   That’s correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Either through preliminary discussions or as applications start 

to come forward. 

 25 

MR GREGORY:   So there’s three streams to that, there’s discussions with the 

development community, so knowing what their plans are, their longer 

term plans are where we can, there is monitoring of the actual flows 

through the various pipes, so that’s done on an almost a live basis, so if 

an area was starting to increase that would show through in our flow 30 

monitoring records, so we don’t necessarily need to know specifically 

that people have built on areas, we can see that in the result through the 

increase in flow trends and so we would need to react to that, and so 

that’s basically the work that Ms O’Brien and others do as part of their 

day to day job, is to plan for that on an annual basis. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:  Right, thank you very much. Thank you for your help with 

that.  

 

MR UDALE:  I just was interested in your thoughts around the ODP process 40 

and whether the processes, as they are currently set up both in the RPS 

and the draft plan at the moment and in practice as it occurred in the 

Grenada, are adequate for Council to be able to sort of balance or tread 

the fine line or certainty that land owners and developers want and 

clearly the flexibility that Council needs, given a limited fiscal arm, 45 

well I think you can’t service every possible piece of land and do those 
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processes as they are currently constructed and practised, can do you 

that? 

 

MR GREGORY:  I don’t personally have a view on how the current practices 

and processes work in terms of the ODPs that we’re looking at here, 5 

and I think Ms O’Brien’s suggestion to indicate some core 

infrastructure on those ODPs – our interest is more at the core trunk 

level of the network within those ODP areas so that we have some 

certainty where the key roads are going to go or the key trunk sewers 

need to go, or the fact that it’s a pressurised zone for wastewater 10 

disposal et cetera. That’s how we would see we need to provide the 

information through the ODP, the underlying ODP documentation.  

 

 So the detailed discussions around the detail can happen with the 

developer at the time, but we do believe that the ODP needs to indicate 15 

enough level of detail about so that the core trunk network within those 

ODP areas for each element of infrastructure. 

 

MR UDALE:  One of the things I think that’s in the RPS is some reference to 

addressing both the provision and funding for infrastructure around 20 

ODPs, and I just wonder when it will be required and how it will be 

funded, that’s right – how, and to what level, how Council addresses 

those issues with a group of landowners or developers at the moment 

and to what extent they can realistically be addressed through a district 

plan and to what extent they are actually addressed through subsequent 25 

agreements with such parties, clearly it is not efficient for Council to 

install trunk infrastructure and then find that development actually 

doesn’t occur. 

 

MR GREGORY: That’s correct, and currently the arrangements and 30 

discussions, particularly with the larger developers are in a balance 

between infrastructure they may be providing that will provide for 

others in the future and a recognition of that in the developer 

contribution adjustment. So they might be providing a pump station 

that actually provides for their development and others as part of the 35 

development of that area, we would recognise that under the current 

process as part of the agreement with the developer on the developer 

contribution calculation and some acknowledgement under that as to 

the parts that Council should actually pay for. 

 40 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR UDALE:  Would that be done at the kind of development of the ODP 

concept or proposal, or would that be done when an application for 

subdivision is made? 45 
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MR GREGORY:   Normally when an application comes in so you’ve got some 

detail around what part of the area that particular developer is looking 

at and the proportion of what is their impact and what they may be 

providing for others within that area. So that would need to be 

discussed at that point in time. 5 

 

MR UDALE:  I guess my question was, probably going back to my initial 

question, I think there are certain ODPs in front of us now but clearly 

the life of this plan contemplates a number of other ODPs will come 

through, some of which may or may not be known at the moment, so I 10 

was just interested in your views on whether those processes are 

sufficient and they send those signals both to the landowners and 

developers about how those processes will be managed because 

effectively, without being oxymoronic, you’re trying to deliver just in 

time infrastructure and balance a capex budget across a wide area.  15 

 

MR GREGORY:   I think the major developers are well aware of that process, 

they have all been through it at various times with the Council and 

reached those agreements between the two in terms of the funding 

arrangements for what they will provide, and sometimes they do 20 

provide infrastructure outside of their development area, because it is 

sufficient, it’s effective and Council will contribute to that, so they 

currently are as part of the agreement with the developer. 

 

MR UDALE:  Okay, thank you. 25 

 

MR GREGORY:   That process seems to work, it allows enough flexibility to 

have those discussions, sometimes fairly robust discussions, but 

nevertheless they’re pragmatic discussions with the developers around 

what they’re proposing and where maybe they can assist by upsizing 30 

something in their development that will actually achieve Council’s 

longer term aim.  

 

MR UDALE:  Okay, thank you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Udale. Mr Gregory, just a few other matters 

of detail really in terms of clarifying exactly what we need to consider 

in regard to the certification idea. So the first just matter of detail was, 

yesterday other Council witnesses indicated you would be the right 

person to effectively be specified as the certifier, you or your delegate, 40 

would you say that was right? 

 

MR GREGORY:  I couldn’t answer whether the Council would decide whether 

to delegate that authority to me eventually, I mean it would need to be a 

delegation of the Council and it would either be myself or Jane Parfitt 45 

as the operating officer I would envisage, chief operating officer. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so what we will need to do, were we to go with this 

proposal, is to specify in their description of the certification, the 

relevant officer. If it was you it would be asset and networks unit 

manager or delegate effectively? 5 

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Parfitt, chief operating officer or delegate? 

 10 

MR GREGORY:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Would you be in a position to make sure counsel knows 

that before closing submissions which of those two it should be? We all 

need to know for our decision. 15 

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct. I will have to take that back to Council and discuss 

that with Jane Parfitt in terms of the process she would need to go to 

because it would need to be something that went through out 

delegations process and was nominated in our delegations manual, 20 

which is – a timeframe for that I would need to go and check and come 

back to the Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, if there was more time needed, if you could let 

counsel know how much time so we can factor that in. It could be 25 

received by way of a counsel’s memorandum, given it’s just a matter of 

detail, after closing submissions, but we will need to know a timetable 

that works for us as well. 

 

MR GREGORY:   Okay. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, the other important issue I think – well, before I get 

to the important issue, just some other supplementary matters. 

 

  [10.40 am] 35 

 

 This concept of a mapping tool being used, and also this concept of 

using the website as a repository of the relevant technical documents 

and guidelines that might be updated from time to time.   

 40 

 On the website address, again perhaps it could be you or one of the – 

would you be in a position to assist on what that website address is, 

through counsel again, to actually get that precise and clear.  Mr Long 

could also assist on that no doubt. 

 45 

MR GREGORY:   Yes, we could provide that address, yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, and what we would need for that is, in other words 

for the Council to consider the specific requirements that would be 

needed as a hosting site, in other words that this hosting site would 

have to be set up to include the applicable documents at any one time 5 

and that would need to be referenced in the rule, all right? 

 

 And the mapping tool, so that is another idea which has sort of come 

out of discussion, a little bit in the formation at the moment rather than 

I suspect being fully thought through. 10 

 

 It sounds like you are  comfortable, but say you are not if you are not, 

that the mapping tool would be one in which would indicate where a 

green light could be given, in other words the Council knows it has got 

infrastructure clearance in that area and can simply map it green. 15 

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  If that was the concept, do you think logistically that could 

be provided through the same website? 20 

 

MR GREGORY:  I can’t see any reason why not. The operative we would 

become a PDF which could be put onto – so we would drop out a map 

from our modelling tool as a PDF onto that website, which would give 

the latest version of that information. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, yes.  Well again, if there is anything that arises in 

that area that Council needs to inform the Panel of, if you could make 

sure counsel knows about it for closing.  As I say, on the basis that 

simple housekeeping matters could come through a bit later by way of 30 

a memorandum if need be if it relates to how a rule should be framed to 

correctly refer to the right thing.  

 

MR GREGORY:   Okay. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the other important substantive issue that you have 

made note of and other Council witnesses have also made note of is 

when it comes to certification you need to know the details of what’s 

designed and intended by the applicant.   

 40 

 So what occurs to me there is, for instance in a part of the city where 

you know there may be some challenges but it depends on what the 

applicant does by way of how it approaches its staging of development 

and/or what it does by way of provision on infrastructure itself, that 

that might be relevant to the question of whether or not certification can 45 

be given.  Do you think that is right? 
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MR GREGORY:   That is correct, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Now, you may not have been told about this, but you may 

already know that when it comes to a consent application the consent 5 

that issues from it can do no more than grant what is applied for.  In 

other words, if an applicant in their application volunteers 

commitments as part of their proposal then the consent effectively 

implies that is part of the consent terms. 

 10 

 So thinking about that legal principle you would need to see, as I take it 

for certification, an application that effectively describes those 

commitments and parameters of what’s proposed pertaining to 

infrastructure so that your certification can be given on that specific 

understanding, is that right? 15 

 

MR GREGORY:   That is correct.  Yes, we would definitely need to see that as 

part of the certification process so they could flow through, yes, 

correct. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, and pertaining to that is the question of timing.  

Because in a practical sense certification has to run the life of the 

consenting process through to its logical conclusion, otherwise 

everyone’s wasting their time. 

 25 

 So if that level of detail came through with the application for 

certification you could sign it off on the basis of a fully-fledged 

application, describing all intentions in regard to infrastructure, staging 

of whatever else might be relevant, then a certification that would say 

“endure for two years or such time as is required in order to determine 30 

the consent.”  Do you think that would satisfy your needs, so that we 

don’t have a lacuna with a certificate that expires before the consent 

decision is made? 

 

  [10.45 am] 35 

 

MR GREGORY:   Yes, I could understand why you would need that provision, 

yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and it seems to me that if an application for 40 

certification is accompanied by all of that detail the risk of goldmining 

or banking capacity would perhaps diminish somewhat.   

 

MR GREGORY:  It would certainly address one of my concerns, in terms of 

behaviour in the development community if we had capacity 45 

constraints in some area of the city, and there is enough to provide a 
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proportion - or the capacity that is available provides for a proportion 

of the development in some zone, and then as soon we obviously issue 

certification we have effectively used up that amount of spare capacity, 

and thus precluded anyone else in that zone developing without some 

sort of provisions until such time as the capacity can provide. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Unless they provided an application to you that took 

account of that context. 

 

MR GREGORY: That is correct, so it would address my concerns that they are 10 

in fact - they have invested to a level that it gives us some confidence 

they do indeed intend to proceed through the whole process, and do 

whatever development they are proposing, rather than just obtaining a 

certificate over a title planned.   

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Gregory.  Anything arising, Ms Silcock? 

 

MS SILCOCK:   No. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, a follow-up question, if I may? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly, Mr Carranceja. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [10.46 am] 

 25 

MR CARRANCEJA:  Just thinking about the timeframe.  I am wondering if 

you could have possibly – it’s a new idea so I just want your thoughts 

on it, a double timeframe process where you have a certification issued 

but a timeframe for the lodgement of an application, and then Judge 

Hassan’s idea of having two years after that, or such time as the 30 

consent decision has been issued. So if you like, you can further protect 

the gold rush infrastructure banking thing by requiring applicants to use 

a certificate for the purpose of just lodging the application within a set 

period, and then you get the two years after that.   

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It’s a very leading question, Mr Carranceja, but I will let it 

happen anyway.   

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sorry, sir.   

 40 

MR GREGORY:   I suppose my concern at that point would be we wouldn’t be 

in a position to be able to issue the certificate until we had some detail 

of what the application was going to contain, so I can’t see – we would 

not be able to issue a certificate without that detail. 

 45 
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 So if we have the certificate issued with a timeframe against it that they 

are going to lodge an application, within 12 months say, that almost 

implies that they have not done any of their planning for that 

subdivision at that point which would enable us to assess the certificate.  

 5 

MR CARRANCEJA:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, Mr Carranceja, anything arising Ms Viskovic? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   No, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Thank you.  All right, well thanks very much Mr Gregory, 

that was very helpful, and we will just expect anything that might come 

through in due course through counsel or in a supplementary way on 

those matters of detail. 15 

 

MR GREGORY:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 20 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10 48 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, now we have got Ms Walsh and Mr Jones.   

 

MS WALSH:   Yes, good morning, sir. Just before I call Mr Jones on Ms 25 

Stevens’ supplementary brief. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS WALSH:   Did the Panel have questions for Ms Stevens? 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will check actually, yes.  

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, appreciating you have only had the supplementary 

for five minutes or so. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, that’s all right.  

 

MS DAWSON:  No, I don’t have any questions.  She has set out in good detail, 

thank you, where everything is at. 40 

 

MS WALSH:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the one outstanding matter she has set out, so no. 

 45 

MR UDALE:   And I didn’t have any. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No, the only thing I was going to just put to her, but it was 

more a question of making sure she understood what came through 

yesterday in the evidence, which I thought was important to your 

client’s interest - - - 5 

 

MS WALSH:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: - - - which relates to the acknowledgement that at a later 

stage the activity categorisation for protected areas is a matter that 10 

would be reconsidered, for instance restricted discretionary is a 

category that I think the Council had indicated they had in mind for 

that. 

 

MS WALSH:   Yes, absolutely sir.  It is my understanding of the deferral of the 15 

matters of particular interest to Te Rūnanga, which is the springs and 

silent file views(ph), they’re subject to the deferral, so they wouldn’t 

be captured by - - -  

 

  [10.50 am] 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS WALSH:   - - - any decision or activity status at this stage, so they’re 

entirely - - -  25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I think the “cultural landscape” was the other one - - 

-  

 

MS WALSH:   Yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - which pertained to that word “significant” and the 

fact that it was intended to be identified in the plan, and for those 

matters I think the Council was assuming that it may be restricted 

discretionary activity that they would put forward to us to think about 35 

rather than control. 

 

MS WALSH:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The other matter – thank you, Ms Walsh – there was one 40 

other matter that I wanted to raise with Ms Viskovic, just for 

clarification. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  On page 10 of the track change version, rule C5, it actually 

comes out of Ms Walsh’s discussion with me just then – I just 

reminded myself of it – it says “subdivision in any zone” and I’m 

wondering whether that for clarification means “any zone” as part of 

stage 1 that the matter in regard to stage 2 remains for later. 5 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I will have to check with Mr Long, but I imagine - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, if you could do that. 

 10 

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - that is the case. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, just for clarification, thanks. 

 

 All right, yes, Ms Walsh. 15 

 

MS WALSH:   Sorry, sir, so just to clarify, would you want Ms Stevens to be 

available? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, we have no questions for Ms Stevens. 20 

 

MS WALSH:   No, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  As evidence it’s not subject to cross-examination or any 

questions from the Panel, it’s received by consent, subject to the usual 25 

rider that’s given when minutes issued, simply we can’t predetermine 

anything so we can’t give any assurance that we’ve accepted the theory 

of the evidence till such time as we have deliberated. 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you. 

 

MS WALSH:   I’ll now call Mr Jones please. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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<JASON CHRISTOPHER JONES, affirmed [10.52 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS WALSH [10.52 am] 

 

MS WALSH:  Good morning, Mr Jones, can you please confirm your full 

name for the record is Jason Christopher Jones and that you’ve 

prepared a statement of evidence dated 8 June 2015 for this hearing? 5 

 

MR JONES:   That’s correct. 

 

MS WALSH:   And that you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

the introductory paragraphs to that statement? 10 

 

MR JONES:   That’s correct. 

 

MS WALSH:  And are there any amendments or corrections you wish to 

make? 15 

 

MR JONES:   No. 

 

MS WALSH:   So can you confirm that your statement is true and correct to 

the best of your knowledge and ability? 20 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 

MS WALSH:  Thank you. Now if you could take the Panel through a very 

short summary of the main points of your evidence and also including 25 

any further matters which you may wish to comment on arising out of 

Council’s revised proposal, thank you. 

 

MR JONES:   Thank you. Good morning. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning, Mr Jones. 

 

MR JONES: My evidence is presented in two parts, I firstly signal my 

agreement with the amendments proposed by Mr Long in his evidence-

in-chief and as a result of mediation which are of relevance to the relief 35 

sort in Ngāi Tahu Property submission. 

 

 That opening section of my evidence also records my particular support 

for the Proposed Replacement Provision for policy 8.1.2.9 as described 

in the evidence of Ms McIntyre and in Mr Long’s rebuttal statement. 40 

 

 Specifically I express that the proposed amendment will enable the 

Replacement Plan to better implement policy 6.3.3 of the RPS by 

providing guidance from the formatting content to be adopted in outline 

development plans. 45 
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 In my view the amendment will also benefit decision makers through 

resource consent applications deemed to be not in accordance with an 

ODP. 

 

 The second part of my evidence focuses on the main issues that prior to 5 

yesterday remained in contention between Ngāi Tahu Property and the 

Council, being the appropriate entry status for subdivision. 

 

 I previously addressed this matter as it relates to subdivision in 

accordance with outline development plans at the proposal 14 hearing, 10 

though I reinforce my view in this evidence that controlled activity is 

appropriate for subdivision proposals in accordance with ODPs that 

implement policy 6.3.3 of the RPS. 

 

 For areas where outline development plans are not required, my 15 

evidence considers alternatives to the notified restricted discretionary 

approach, with particular regard to the need to manage infrastructure 

capacity issues. 

 

 In summary, the options I present seek to better identify the scale and 20 

significance of capacity constraints and to enable subdivision of land 

not subject to those constraints to proceed as a controlled activity. 

 

 As one option to achieve this, I promote the use of a constraint 

mapping exercise whereby known capacity issues can be especially 25 

identified on the planning maps and link to a discretionary consent 

pathway, while other general areas with no constraints can be 

controlled. 

 

 Having reviewed Ms O'Brien’s rebuttal evidence I appreciate that this 30 

approach has its limitations, given the ever changing state of play 

applying to the remediation of the city’s horizontal infrastructure 

capacity issues. 

 

  [10.55 am] 35 

 

 There is another option, I support the approach whereby applicants are 

required either as part of the consent application or perhaps via pre-

lodgement certification to demonstrate that the surrounding networks 

have sufficient capacity to support the level of intensification proposed. 40 

 

 To this end, I reference an existing critical standard in the operative 

city plan which requires applicants to demonstrate how a particular 

development will provide for wastewater servicing and capacity both 

within and beyond the development boundary as needed. I also cite an 45 

example from the second generation Tauranga City Plan that requires 
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subdivision applicants to demonstrate upstream catchments are 

provided for and downstream capacity is available to service the 

development intensity site with respect to wastewater/storm water and 

drinking water. 

 5 

 I reviewed the revised proposal circulated by the Council on Monday 

evening and noted that this latter approach has been adopted. I’m 

generally comfortable with the proposed wording for the capacity 

clauses proposed in that version. However, if the Panel have the view 

that greater certainty is required about how adequate capacity and/or 10 

effective management are demonstrated, I believe this could be 

signalled under the relevant standard including by reference to a pre-

lodgement certification process. 

 

 I also just wish to note my support for the revised structure of the 15 

chapter proposed by Mr Long – I think it’s much clearer than the 

notified version. 

 

 Having attended yesterday’s session and having observed the Panel’s 

questioning of other witnesses, I’ve given some additional thought to 20 

matters not specifically addressed in my evidence, in particular I’ve 

considered the function of ODPs where multiple landowners are 

involved and the need to ensure the design and implementation of 

ODPs is robust. 

 25 

 While I remain comfortable with the controlled activity status applying 

to subdivisions in accordance with ODPs, I believe some further 

thought maybe needed with respect to the notification criteria and the 

assessment matters for applications for restricted discretionary 

activities that are not in accordance with ODPs. 30 

 

 So if I just consider some examples, there was some discussion from 

the Panel yesterday about the distribution of densities and the impact 

on separate landowners where one landowner develops in one density 

and then a flow on effect is that, to compensate where that’s not in 35 

accordance with a minimum net density of say 15 households per 

hectare, a different density is required by the second landowner. 

 

 In that instance, there may be a need for that second landowner to be 

involved through the resource consent process, such that any sort of 40 

issues of prejudice could be sorted out through that process. 

 

 Similarly, if you had a indicative road shown connected to adjoining 

landowners through an ODP and the first landowner puts in an 

application which is showing that road in a separate location from 45 

what’s shown on the ODP, if that was deemed to be a noncompliance, 
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it would also be deemed to be a noncompliance by default for the 

neighbour to connect to that road, and therefore they’d require a higher 

level resource consent by definition. 

 

 So I think some further thought might be required around notification 5 

procedure and perhaps signalling that sort of risk in assessment matters 

as well. 

 

 I think I’ll leave it at there but I’m happy to answer any additional 

questions about that matter. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, thanks, Mr Jones. 

 

MR JONES:   Tēnā koe. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And thank you for the work you’ve done on this, all right. 

So we got, yes, Ms Viskovic, thank you. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [10.59 am] 

 20 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir. Good morning, Mr Jones. 

 

MR JONES:   Morning. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Again given the levels of agreement that there are between 25 

the Council and other parties, these are mostly questions of clarification 

just to confirm your position, first of all in relation to the new structure 

of the provisions, obviously you were very involved in the drafting of 

the version of the proposal that was attached to the mediation report? 

 30 

MR JONES:   That’s correct. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  And the newest version from the Council that was at that 

stage 22nd of June, could I just get you to confirm whether you support 

the structure of that version over and above what you had proposed in 35 

the mediation report? 

 

MR JONES:   The most recent version from this week? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. 40 

 

MR JONES:   I think they’re much of a muchness, I don’t support it less than 

the version from the mediation. I haven’t done a complete redline 

comparison of the two. 

45 
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  [11.00 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Sure. 

 

MR JONES:   But I certainly support the approach that is adopted in 5 

Mr Long’s - - - 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   In terms of the framework I think in your evidence - - - 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 10 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - you said that you agreed with the approach of a single 

subdivision rule and the approach that is being proposed by the Council 

now is essentially that so you would support that - - - 

 15 

MR JONES:   Absolutely, absolutely. 

 

MS VISKOVIC: Thank you. Then just confirming in relation to the constraints 

overlay, obviously the Council has presented some evidence in relation 

to the issues with including that in the Plan and there has been some 20 

discussion about it being provided essentially outside of the Plan as a 

guide I suppose to Plan users and I am just wondering if you could 

confirm that you support that approach rather than actually including 

the constraints overlay. 

 25 

MR JONES:   Yes I do. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  In relation to the infrastructure design standard, again just 

confirming, and I discussed this with a number of the witnesses 

yesterday, you say in your evidence at paragraph 38B that the 30 

compliance with the IDS be relocated to an activity standard for 

subdivision. Again the Council has put forward quite a bit of evidence 

in relation to the issues with including the infrastructure design 

standard within the Plan in that kind of a way.  I am just wondering if 

you still support including it in an activity standard or whether it is 35 

more appropriately referenced as a matter of control or matter of 

discretion? 

 

MR JONES:   I believe it could go either way and I am not trying to be flippant 

about this but I think there are some Councils who approach a design 40 

standard or a code of practice as a means to set standards that are then 

complied with by applicants, so I think it is open to Council to do that 

if they see merit in that.  The problem that I had with the way it was 

drafted originally was that it read as a rule, but it was not in the rules. 

 45 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. 
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MR JONES:   So being clarified as a note, if it is not the intent of Council to 

use it as a standard, I think is acceptable. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Yes.  And that is essentially what has been proposed in the 5 

most recent version, I will just find the reference.  If you refer to what 

is now 8.2.1.2 on page 9 of the red line version, it reads “Note: Works 

and infrastructure to be vested in the Council shall be of a standard 

acceptable to the Council. The infrastructure design standard is the 

Council’s technical compliance manual and sets out the relevant 10 

standards”. 

 

MR JONES:   Yes, I am comfortable with that. 

 

MS VISKOVIC: Now just turning to the concept of certification and the 15 

discussion that we have been having particularly this morning around 

gold rushes in relation to banking of capacity I suppose, do you agree 

that if certification was given to a development this could potentially 

lock up available capacity as an example if a developer approached the 

Council for a large subdivision that essentially used the last of the 20 

capacity that would lock out smaller sub-dividers if certification was 

granted? 

 

MR JONES:  That could be one outcome.  I think there has also been some 

discussion about the need or otherwise for the certification process 25 

where large developments in accordance with an ODP and generally 

the larger ones are linked to ODPs so if that is the means of 

determining capacity - - - 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. 30 

 

MR JONES:   - - - I do not think that is as much of an issue.  I would think it is 

going to be more smaller scale, two, three lot subdivisions where the 

capacity certification will be applicable and under that regime I think 

you would need a lot of perhaps one developer getting a lot of those 35 

certificates in a single catchment to where it would become a problem. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   So you support that where a development is in accordance 

with an ODP that certification would not be required but certification 

would be required outside of - - - 40 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - Outline Development Plan areas. 

 45 

MR JONES:   Yes. 
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MS VISKOVIC:   And Ms Walsh yesterday in her opening submissions talked 

about sort of a two-tier system, I am not sure if that is exactly how she 

described it, where some developments would require certification and 

some would not.  Is that your understanding of what she was talking 5 

about? 

 

MR JONES: I was not here for Ms Walsh’s presentation yesterday 

unfortunately. 

 10 

MS VISKOVIC:   Is that how you could see, I suppose then, a two-tier system 

working where some subdivisions required certification and some 

would not? 

 

MR JONES:   Yes, yes I would think that would be appropriate. 15 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   So those in accordance with a ODP - - - 

 20 

MR JONES:   Correct. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - would not require certification - - - 

 

MR JONES:   Correct. 25 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - those outside would.   

 

MR JONES:   I will say that I also as per the evidence I provided to the Panel 

on Chapter 14 I do think that there are some amendments to ODPs that 30 

are required to provide that level of certainty as well, for infrastructure 

so I will just qualify that for the benefit of the Panel member who was 

not involved in that hearing. 

 

MS VISKOVIC: Finally, just turning to the level of information that the 35 

Council would require to enable it to give certification that there was 

sufficient capacity, so Mr Gregory was discussing this morning, is it 

your understanding that the Council would need to have a fairly high 

level of knowledge as to what was being proposed by a subdivision for 

a subdivision to enable certification to be granted? 40 

 

MR JONES:   Yes I think he raised an interesting point around the timing and 

what the certificate would actually be for and I think that some thought 

needs to be given to that. Is it a precursor to grant a consent from a 

servicing point of view basically and if so is there a timeframe that 45 

needs to be applied in that respect?  Or is it something that you are 
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basically just going to the Council and saying, “I am thinking of in the 

next two years doing a subdivision, is there capacity in the area?”  I 

think the Council would benefit from having more information up 

front.  They would benefit from knowing whether or not you are doing 

a two lot subdivision versus an eight lot subdivision and that would 5 

then follow as to the level of detail they would be comfortable granting 

as a certification process.  So cutting to the quick, yes, I do think a 

certain level of detail needs to be provided in that certification process 

and it is absolutely appropriate for the Council to have a condensed 

timeframe for which to give effect to that certificate. 10 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Thinking about where you do have a detailed subdivision 

that the Council is considering and they are certifying that that 

certification may be subject to certain conditions perhaps to ensure that 

capacity is adequately provided for or if there were specific 15 

requirements, say on the site, treatment needed to occur or on site 

holding, that that could be the subject potentially of a certification as 

well? 

 

MR JONES:   Absolutely. 20 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  And just thinking about the other example you gave of 

someone sort of saying “I am thinking about doing a subdivision.”  If 

that approach was adopted that could potentially lead to this gold 

mining kind of exercise or developers seeking certification for 25 

servicing at a very early stage, perhaps even as part of due diligence 

before they even purchase a site to ensure that they could go by. 

 

MR JONES:   That’s right. 

 30 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Ms Viskovic.  Yes, Ms Dawson, thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Thank you.  Thank you very much and thank you also for the 35 

work you have been doing on this, Mr Jones, and following on from the 

Residential work you did.  So I am just going to follow on from the 

same questions that we have all been talking about and just get the 

benefit of your views on some of these matters of detail.   

 40 

 So just following on from this discussion about how, I guess it goes 

back to I think having more certainty about compliance with the 

infrastructure capacity or effective management conditions, and you 

expressed that well in your presentation.  I am just trying to find my 

notes that I was rapidly taking while you were talking – yes.  So the 45 

way Mr Long has written them, and they are not very dissimilar to the 
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way you had included them, it says that there needs to be adequate 

capacity, I think, for water supply and wastewater, and there needs to 

be an effective management method for storm water.  

 

 So you said if we think there is a need for more certainty than those 5 

words as standards then that could include a certification process. 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Did you have in mind any other ways that that certainty could 10 

be obtained other than using the certification, and that is just something 

that has come out of discussion – did you have anything else in mind? 

 

MR JONES:   Not specifically, but that is not to say there are not other options.  

It is something I could absolutely turn my mind to.  I have not, apart 15 

from the certification process, or perhaps defining how capacity can be 

– a number of methods in which capacity can be demonstrated.  So it 

does not necessarily have to be via the certification process. 

 

  [11.10 am] 20 

 

 There has been discussions about reference to the non-statutory map 

that indicates capacity as well.  So provided that that is ticked off that 

would be another potential option. Apart from that I haven’t considered 

any additional options. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because you raised just mapping generally but that map to be 

a rule or a standard it would need to be in the plan. 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I think you have accepted that there are problems about 

that? 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:  I mean my concern about having mapping that is not validated 

through a certification process, that if that map is the green light to 

whether one meets a standard or not, effectively that map becomes part 

of that standard and would really need to be in the plan. 40 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Which is what we are trying not to have. 

 45 
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MR JONES:   Yes, I suppose the way I envisage it working outside of the plan, 

it would still be subject to a certification process effectively but as 

opposed to simply saying, “This maps says you are within the green 

line and therefore you are certified”, you would then also need that 

other area that has been discussed about where you are not necessarily 5 

in the green line area.   

 

 So I suppose that is what I was trying to signal under this you could say 

there is multiple ways in which you might determine capacity and one 

could be by getting the tick through the map, one could be by getting 10 

the tick through an exchange of technical evidence or reports and there 

may be other ways as I say.  But I agree you don’t want to be running 

into those issues where you are fixing yourself to one map which you 

need to be changing constantly. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   You also in discussion with Ms Viskovic – I can’t remember 

if it was you or Ms Viskovic that says about what is this standard, is 

this standard a precursor to being able to grant consent?  And I am 

interested in your view on that but as I read it, it is a standard that must 

be met to be able to achieve controlled activity status.  If a proposal 20 

doesn’t meet that standard it defaults to a different activity status.  

Now, they can both be granted or - - - 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   So do you see it that way that the standard, it is a precursor 

standard that establishes an activity status or is there some other way of 

looking at it? 

 

MR JONES:   No, I think you are right and that is why I do support the 30 

wording that Mr Long has proposed, at least as the precursor for the 

standard because if you are unable to demonstrate that there is 

sufficient capacity or effective management then you would kick into 

that higher consent category.  If based on methods that are outlined 

underneath that, ie the mapping check or the other certification process, 35 

you can demonstrate capacity then you are within that controlled 

activity regime. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the way it works then is that capacity is demonstrated? 

 40 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   The controlled activity, the application can then be dealt with 

on that basis? 

 45 

MR JONES:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:  And I think Mr Gregory and I think in your exchange, people 

have agreed that the Council needs effectively the application 

information, like what would be lodged with that application and 

possibly even what the likely conditions are going to be on that 5 

application, to be able to certify that the application can even be made 

on the basis of a controlled activity.  So there is a bit of chicken and 

egg but it could all be done as long as there is good discussion about it. 

 

MR JONES:   Indeed. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Is that the reason that you said at the end of your discussion 

with Ms Viskovic that there should then be a need for some tight 

timeframes, like the work has to be all done upfront? 

 15 

MR JONES:   I think for some subdivisions it may be very conceptual and that 

might be fine, you may have an area, you may have a catchment that is 

just – it is wide open and you have got plenty of capacity and you are 

only going to be considering a two lot subdivision and you are not 

going to need any onsite facilities to compensate.  And in those 20 

instances the Council may be comfortable just saying, “Go ahead, it is 

fine, a two lot subdivision can proceed.  Here is your capacity 

certificate”. 

 

  [11.15 am] 25 

 

 In other areas where it is more challenging you might need to actually 

express those conditions of consent as a precursor to giving consent 

and I don’t think that is inappropriate, I think that is fine provided that 

it is clear to the applicant what is going to be required of them to be 30 

deemed to be providing sufficient capacity or effective management.  

So I think as long as the dialogue is clear the certification process 

should be effective. 

 

MS DAWSON:  And there seemed to be two timeframes, and this has been 35 

discussed.  There is the timeframe that the certificate lasts which then 

enables the consent to be granted on the basis of a controlled activity. 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   And then there is the timeframe for the controlled activity 

itself for it to be given effect to.  Now, the timeframe for the certificate 

doesn’t really go beyond the granting of the controlled activity? 

 

MR JONES:   Correct. 45 
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MS DAWSON:  So that is to make sure that people get on, make their 

application and it is granted.  Do you see any need for there to be then 

in any circumstance for there to be a subsequent control on the lapsing 

timeframe for the controlled activity because that presumably could go 

on for five years or however? 5 

 

MR JONES:   Yes, it could or - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   So that people could bank capacity through the consent 

process as opposed to prior to that? 10 

 

MR JONES:   It is probably a question better suited for the capacity managers 

because they will have a better feel for those timeframes and how 

flexible they need to be to respond to those sorts of issues where you 

may get bottlenecks or you may get people trying to bank the capacity.  15 

I think it is just again reverting to that notion that if you use your ODP 

for Greenfields for larger developments as your determining factor - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   We are not really talking about ODPs here at the moment. 

 20 

MR JONES:   Yes, but I think the point there is that those are the large scale 

ones where you are really going to be worrying about capacity, and so 

the ones you are going to be certifying are generally going to be 

smaller I would anticipate.  And so again, with some reference to the 

Council experts about their professional opinions from network 25 

management points of view, I don’t know if seven years would be too 

long, I can’t envisage that being too long.   

 

MS DAWSON:   But a shorter time could be specified if that is crucial? 

 30 

MR JONES:   It could be and maybe that is an appropriate solution where you 

are in marginal territory anyway, maybe that is what you would want to 

do to encourage that development to get on and say, “If you are going 

to do this you have got to give effect to your consent within four 

years”.  I am not sure if that is getting into other legal areas forcing but 35 

for the purposes of determining compliance with that condition your 

ability to give effect to that consent has to be within that period because 

that is when you are demonstrating that there is capacity available. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Now, you just mentioned, I mean I think you 40 

have drawn this comparison between the ODP areas where all these 

things should be sorted out upfront and how infrastructure capacity is 

to be provided between multiple landowners and timing and staging, 

that should be addressed in an ODP so that these matters of capacity 

don’t need to come up at subsequent consent stages. 45 
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 And then you said “But of course there are some ODPs that don’t do 

this”.  I mean I can’t recall what you have said in previous hearings 

anyway and we are in this hearing now but is it your view that some of 

the ODPs that are either in the plan now, and I don’t if you are aware of 

ones that are coming up that have been notified as part of stage 2, 5 

where there are concerns that it doesn’t address this range of matters 

and perhaps don’t address, don’t give effect to the regional policy 

statement or this new policy to go into the plan? 

 

MR JONES:  Yes, in the proposal 14 hearing I believe in response to a 10 

question from yourself, commissioner, I think I indicated that the two 

stage 1 ODPs were perhaps lacking in some information and I think I 

referred you specifically to the servicing clauses in policy 6.3.3, the 

funding clauses in 6.2.3, the distribution of densities clauses.  And I am 

also aware of operative ODPs, I have helped prepare some of those, 15 

and I am also aware of some of the ODPs that are coming online in 

stage 2. 

 

 I have also prepared an ODP for a development area based on the 

policy framework that was attached to Ms McIntyre’s evidence, a two 20 

plan with narrative ODP which I’d think is an appropriate level of 

information be provided – it’s been submitted on behalf of a submitter 

for stage 2, who is zoned new neighbourhood zone. 

 

  [11.20 am] 25 

 

 I think the attempts by Mr Long with the stage 1 ODPs to provide rules 

to compensate for shortcoming on the graphic displays on the ODP, is 

an appropriate response. There are some areas where I think some 

further information would be helpful and that’s where I think the role 30 

of the narrative can be quite important, I think it’s quite difficult to 

show how infrastructure is going to be funded diagrammatically so 

that’s a perfect example where that can come into play. 

 

 I know the Panel’s sought some advice from counsel on their ability to 35 

change those ODPs through this process.  If they’re not able to do that 

by changing the maps, as it were, perhaps there is some opportunity to 

look at the supplementary standards and potentially some narrative to 

inform those maps. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   So in terms of the rule structure that we’ve been talking 

about, and just looking at infrastructure at the moment, of having, okay 

ODPs, comply with everything, “no need to go through some sort of 

certification process about capacity or effective  management”, but if 

you’re outside those areas which mostly would be smaller subdivisions, 45 

yes there’s a process to be going through to check capacity – that relies 
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on the ODPs having adequate information about a, well, for that being 

addressed, dealt with - - -  

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and in the ODPs? 

 

MR JONES:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so without that, another method needs to be worked out, 10 

now whether that’s updating the ODPs in the narrative information or 

some other rule method, but it does require, in your opinion it requires 

another - - -  

 

MR JONES:   Response. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - track. 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Right. The one other area where I think you’ve mentioned 

previously and others have mentioned, that the OD-, some of the ODPs 

are deficient as in the – showing the density areas. 

 

 Now have you turned your mind to whether there’s any other track that 25 

can be used to fairly and efficiently ensure that the 15 households per 

hectare is addressed across an ODP area “in appropriate locations”, 

without showing that on the ODP itself? 

 

MR JONES:   Yes I have, and I actually think there’s perhaps more merit in 30 

doing it an alternative way than showing it prescriptively on an ODP, 

and that’s purely borne out of experience with the operative ODPs 

which are very prescriptive, and lead to some unnecessary consenting 

requirements where you manipulate things at subdivision stage. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   So are you able to conceptually tell us what - - -  

 

MR JONES:   Sure. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - in terms of a subdivision rules or whatever you have in 40 

mind - - -  

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - how that might work if they’re not shown on the ODPs, 45 

which we know they aren’t for many of them. 
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MR JONES:   I believe they can be stipulated in the ODPs, so again this is the 

role of the graphics and the narrative. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Narrative. 5 

 

MR JONES:   So let’s say for example with the ODP that’s before us, you have 

three landowners, you could conceivably say “landowner 1 is stage A 

and landowner 2 is stage B and landowner 3 stage C”.  

 10 

 You could stipulate in your narrative that as a baseline to achieve the 

RPS, the minimum net density across the entire development would 

meet the 15 households per hectare. And then you could say “within 

stage A the net density shall be or the minimum net density shall be, 

and within stage B the minimum net density shall be …” and so on. 15 

 

 Further to that, where you’re wanting to enable medium density 

housing for example, which is defined in the plan and envisages a 

certain development density type, separate to more traditional housing 

enabled by the new neighbourhood zone, you could stipulate 20 

“conceptually” through the narrative where those areas would be 

located in proximity to reserves, public transport nodes, etcetera, the 

same criteria that was examined in the proposal 14 hearing. 

 

 So there would be more of a relationship between concepts stipulated 25 

in the narrative and shown on the plan. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if you took the ODP to mean “the plans and the narrative” 

in terms of whether a proposal was consistent with them or not in 

accordance with them, then you’re saying, that information – nice and 30 

clearly – could be written in the “narrative” part and then the “in 

accordance or not” standard, would apply to that narrative, as much as 

it might up to, if it was shown on the plans themselves. 

 

  [11.25 am] 35 

 

MR JONES:   That’s correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, thank you, that’s helpful, but it is still putting it 

in the ODP - - -  40 

 

MR JONES:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - just in the narrative part as opposed to the mapped part. 

 45 

MR JONES:   That’s correct. 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes. And - - -  

 

MR JONES:   If it would be of assistance, I can table that submission example, 

you’d perhaps be seeing it in due course through stage 2, but if you 5 

want a reference now I’m happy to table that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think that would be helpful, thanks Mr Jones. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That would be helpful, yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just run it past counsel – I presume there’s no objection – 

you have the right to objection. 

 

MR JONES:   And just so it’s clear, this ODP, it’s been underpinned by 15 

technical reports, which have been circulated to the Council, the ODP’s 

been circulated to the Council prior to lodging the submission for their 

feedback and their comments – I won’t speak for what those comments 

were but - - -  

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we’ll call this Exhibit #4. 

 

EXHIBIT #4 – OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN, RICCARTON 

PARK RACECOURSE 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Because I think Ms McIntyre said to us yesterday, “There 

may be some of the ODPs that are either in stage 1 or stage 2 may have 

a lot of information behind them” - - -  

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - it’s just not necessarily apparent from what’s in the plan. 

 

MR JONES:   Yes, and I think some of the witnesses made the point yesterday 

as well that a lot of the ODPs that are in the operative plan and have 35 

been brought forward into stage 2, pre-date the RPS and so the level of 

information provided on them may not correspond one for one. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because I think I said “our plan doesn’t pre-date this”. 

 40 

MR JONES:   That’s correct, so you have the opportunity – I think there’s also 

a fantastic opportunity to look at some of these ODP areas that are in a 

state of evolution at the moment, and to streamline them, that’s not a 

decision for you but I think that is something that can be looked at in 

subsequent hearings. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   And I think Ms McIntyre said yesterday, some of the ODPs 

that were discussed at your mediation were actually at the other end of 

the spectrum - - -  

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - had more information than was needed. 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So just coming back to my original question, if one takes an 

ODP to include the plans and the narrative, are you – have you ever 

envisaged any other mechanism for ensuring that the 15 households per 

hectare can be achieved across a whole of a multiple party ODP area 

without the ODP having put that in place to start with? 15 

 

MR JONES:   Well one mechanism would be to simply state that in the rules 

for the zone, that any subdivision demonstrate 15 households per 

hectare as a minimum. But I think there’s potentially some drawbacks 

there, just in terms of, you may have two landowners who are adjoining 20 

one another and one wants to develop to 10 households per hectare and 

one’s quite happy to go to 20 households per hectare, and if they can 

accommodate that that’s perhaps not a bad outcome. 

 

 So specifying that each individual neighbourhood is 15 households per 25 

hectare is perhaps counterintuitive to installing choice throughout the 

development and variety of housing. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And ensuring that the 15 households per hectare, or the 

higher density areas are in the appropriate locations. 30 

 

MR JONES:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. All right, now just one last question, when you interpret 

the policy 8.1.2.9 as it’s proposed, do you, as Ms McIntyre said 35 

yesterday, interpret that as being “in addition to” all the matters in 

policy 6.3.3 of the Regional Policy Statement? 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. Well - - -  

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Well elaborating upon but not meaning the other matters that 

are mentioned in 6.3.3 aren’t also required? 

 

MR JONES:   As I signalled in my summary, I saw this as sort of a two 

function policy, one being to sort of say, “Right, we need some 45 

consistency about what’s going to be shown in ODPs”, and I think that 
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comes through both in terms of the outcomes that are specified under 

clause A and also the more structural sort of notes that are in clause B 

about the format, so that’s one role that I think it plays. 

 

 But also it plays the role of giving a framework for assessment for 5 

decision makers where applications are not in accordance with an ODP, 

that the outcomes under clause A in particular. The predecessor to this 

policy was tied to a clause that said you must be in accordance with an 

ODP and if you weren’t you were a non-complying activity, and when 

you reverted back to the policy it said ensure that development is in 10 

accordance with ODP, so you got into a vicious cycle under 104D, test 

regime, you are already contrary to the key policy. 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 15 

 So I think in this instance it’s more about the outcomes that the ODP is 

trying to achieve and that there may be some variety for subdivisions 

that are not in rigid accordance with an ODP to still achieve those 

outcomes, provided that they’re cognisant of these outcomes. 

 20 

 There’s obviously a relationship with policy 6.3.3 and it would benefit 

to signal that more overtly. I think clause B might have a reference to 

it, is that - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but it is for a different purpose. 25 

 

MR JONES:  Yes, that’s correct. So I think equally for the purposes of 

providing that benefit to the decision-maker for assessment purposes, it 

would benefit from a reference to policy 6.3.3 in there. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much for your help. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Jones, we will take the morning recess, so you are still 

under cross-examination, under questioning from the Panel, but I 

thought I’d just put a word into counsel in terms of the anticipated 35 

request for caucusing to be confirmed on these matters for Friday, I 

have in mind issuing a minute which will set some questions for that, 

so that we have a proper framework for it, but I also have in mind 

making a direction to give counsel ability to file brief supplementary 

submissions on one matter ahead of that caucusing, and that is in order 40 

to assist effectively us and also those participating in caucusing of 

some legal parameters to what they should talk about, and the specific 

issue I would like submissions on from those who will be having 

witnesses participating in it, is the legal capacity – well, put it this way, 

further to the indication I gave earlier, which is my own understanding, 45 

the extent to which an applicant who volunteers restraints, conditions 
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and commitments in an application for consent is bound by those in any 

decision it issues on the basis you don’t get more than you ask for. 

 

 I think it would be of assistance for that to be put on paper in order to 

address some of these questions around condition setting and how it 5 

relates to certification. So I will make that direction now informally, it 

will be confirmed in the minute for those submissions, if you wish to 

make them, to be put in by 5.00 pm on Thursday prior to the caucusing, 

that is Thursday 25 June. 

 10 

 Thank you. We will take the morning recess.  

 

ADJOURNED [11.33 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.54 am] 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   Thank you. I think we have done to death or thrashed to death 

the issue around certification and stuff but I am going to have one more 20 

go for my own clarity of thought.  

 

 So the way I understand where we might be landing in this is, setting 

aside for a moment the ODPs that are kind on foot (ph 0.42) and 

whether or not they are adequate or otherwise, through the process of a 25 

new ODP coming into being and compliance particularly with 6.3.3 of 

the RPS and the issues around staging and funding, that would really 

deal to the issue then of how infrastructure came on stream, how that 

was allocated between different landowners and therefore certification 

wouldn’t be required because effectively we would come through the 30 

process. 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 

 So a certification regime is really more around kind of ad hoc or 35 

unexpected smaller development either in greenfield or areas where 

there is a left over pocket or something or more likely in infill and 

redevelopment areas? 

 

MR JONES:   That is as I envisage it, yes. 40 

 

MR UDALE:   And therefore a process where there was some mapping that 

said in this area there is unconstrained capacity or if you have a four lot 

subdivision then it is not an issue, it could almost be a kind of, you 

know, the map could be a certification in its own right up to a certain 45 

level and/or if you wanted to do 20 dwellings in that area you could 
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then go, prior to spending all the money, to Council, obtain a 

certification that said “In principle I want to do this, is there capacity or 

not?”  

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 5 

 

MR UDALE:   Okay, well, that would be a fairly sensible sort of regime so that 

makes a lot of sense to me, thank you.  Just on another matter on the 

density provisions, and I think your kind of couple of examples before 

were quite helpful.   10 

 

 So having gone through an ODP process those density provisions, 

whether they were, you know, allocated as you suggested like, you 

know, parcel A, parcel B, parcel C, three different landowners might 

have three different kind of target outcomes.  Those could be a fixed 15 

element of the ODP so harder to depart from? 

 

MR JONES:   They could be.  I have not yet provided a view on the fixed 

versus flexible elements and I at least have some reservations with 

stipulating that.  Because I think even in some of the elements that we 20 

may think on the surface of it should be stipulated as fixed, for example 

a connection point to a state highway, depending on the timing of when 

the development goes ahead there may be other developments in the 

area or there may be other improvements that are being advanced by, 

say, the state highway operator anyway which would mean that by the 25 

time you get to your subdivision stage it might be better to shunt things 

along a little bit. 

 

 I think the important thing is to indicate the critical matters to show that 

you are providing for those matters but in terms of locking them in and 30 

providing a higher level of assumption that if you don’t meet that one 

matter then you are in a higher level of consent category or you are in 

more trouble than if you meet one of the more flexible ones.  I think 

part of the issue why a policy is so useful for this for determining the 

format and the content of the plans is because people have different 35 

expectations about their role and how flexible they should be. 

 

 So I think provided that it is clear that if you are going to fix certain 

elements, if there is a departure from that there is a process to depart 

from that, as long as the outcomes anticipated by the ODP remain 40 

fundamentally there, as long as you are implementing the RPS and as 

long as you are not prejudicing one of the other landowners, that those 

are the core values I think should come through the ODPs and the 

associated rules. 

 45 
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MR UDALE:   So in the context of the issue of density and how that might be 

distributed across an ODP, and accepting that different areas for good 

reasons would have different density provisions, how do you deal with 

the issue where having agreed all of that one landowner then wants to 

depart from that? 5 

 

MR JONES:  I think that is where you would have the higher consent category. 

So let us just assume that all the landowners that are involved in an 

ODP area are all in agreement at the time the ODP goes in.  So you 

have the assumption that your stage is going to be (INDISTINCT 10 

4.57) 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you want an adjournment, Mr Carranceja?  You might 

just want to repeat the last part of that answer, Mr Jones. 

 15 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

MR JONES:   So if you have an agreement on what the distribution of densities 

is at the time that you go into the process then you are all clear what 

you are developing towards, you are all clear roughly where your key 20 

infrastructure is going to be, where your basins are going to be, if you 

need a pump station, where it is going to be, and that is all determined 

up front. 

 

 Any departure from that, whether it be different distribution of 25 

densities, a substantially different location of critical infrastructure, that 

would then trigger you into a higher consent category and as I was 

saying in my highlights package before, potentially would trigger the 

need for limited notification so that those parties affected by that 

change could be involved in the consent process. 30 

 

MR UDALE: So in the issue of density say for example I had a density 

requirement of 20 and you had 10, and I decided that actually 20 I 

didn’t want to do any more and now wanted to do 12 - - -  

 35 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 

MR UDALE: - - - how do you deal with that issue in terms of the fact that one 

party has already agreed to do something which they are adhering to 

and the other party is seeking to change that.  Would that just then be 40 

an issue between the party seeking to change and Council? 

 

MR JONES: Yes I think so, but via that elevated consent process.  So provided 

that your ODPs prescribe that level of information that I was describing 

before, if you say at ODP stage that you are going to develop to 20 and 45 

I am going to go to 10 and then at subdivision consent stage you are not 
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in accordance with 20, you are down to 12, that would then trigger the 

higher consent category and a discussion between us and the Council 

perhaps as to what the fallout of that is. And it may be that it is 

determined through that process that I am happy with that, I am happy 

to go higher and I could support that and perhaps even give written 5 

approval for your development, but by the same token I might not like 

that and I might wish to stress to the Council that that might be putting 

me in a position that I would not want to be in in order to achieve the 

RPS. 

 10 

MR UDALE:   It could lead to a stalemate of a ODP development. 

 

MR JONES:  Or it could lead to, if again we are using yourself and myself as 

the applicants, or the neighbours as examples, it could mean that your 

application needs to be amended to raise the density or if you were 15 

prepared to do that it might be declined. 

 

MR UDALE:   Okay. 

 

MR JONES:  And I do not think that is an inappropriate outcome, and I base 20 

that on the fact that if we are all going in together at the beginning and 

we understand what our obligations are to satisfy the ODP, then it is 

appropriate to have a process to engage in to depart from that, provided 

that all the parties are on the same page. 

 25 

MR UDALE:  Yes I think my line of question was really making sure there 

was a kind of equitable response to that. 

 

MR JONES:   Yes. 

 30 

MR UDALE:  Where one party’s desire to depart from something that was pre-

agreed did not then preclude others from proceeding. 

 

MR JONES:   That is correct. 

 35 

MR UDALE:  Or impose an obligation on them that had not been agreed 

unless it was obviously by a subsequent agreement.  Just one other area 

I was interested in, in the new neighbourhood zones particularly, there 

are various standards around lot size and dimensions and in particular 

yesterday, I do not know if you were here, there is a provision for 40 

terrace housing with a minimum seven metre frontage, is that 

something you are happy with?  Or you think actually delivers the kind 

of outcomes we are trying to achieve through this, those sorts of 

provision? 

 45 
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MR JONES:   I am not averse to it.  In listening to Ms McIntyre’s response to 

that question yesterday I agree with her that your minimum lot size and 

your shape factor play a role in setting the character of the area and 

establishing what your and your neighbours’ expectations are about the 

permitted level and development that can carry on outside of that, so 5 

from that perspective, the use of a shape factor standard I am 

comfortable with.   

 

 I also appreciate that we are trying to achieve a mix of housing in these 

areas in particular and the approach that I put forward in my evidence 10 

on the Chapter 14 proposal was to try to be enabling of as many 

different types of development in these areas as you can be, and 

therefore I believe with particular regard to that standard preceding the 

one that is highlighted, that looks at minimum lot size in particular, my 

evidence was that it should be lower than 300 square metres, that it 15 

should be enabling of medium density housing because that is certainly 

a type of housing I would envisage in these zones, so I did not see any 

need for example for clause 3 to be limited to 10 percent of the 

developments.  From what I understand from most parties involved and 

I certainly give my view, the interpretation of the RPS is a minimum 20 

net density of 15 households per hectare and if we can achieve higher 

densities then that that is a positive thing. 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 25 

 So answering your question, I think more flexibility and providing for 

more innovation is absolutely an outcome that is anticipated by the 

RPS, by the LURP, by the Plan, by the Proposed Plan. I do not 

necessarily think that seven metres is overly onerous, and non-

compliance with this standard would presumably kick you into a 30 

restricted discretionary activity regime so you could still get consent if 

you wanted to go under seven metres and that is not necessarily an 

inappropriate outcome, from my perspective. 

 

MR UDALE:   Okay, thank you. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Mr Udale – ah, Mr Jones, I had a few questions, a number 

of them, but events have transpired since which show a significant 

degree of alignment with your initial thinking. I am grateful for that.  

Are you available for caucusing? 40 

 

MR JONES:   Certainly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Thank you. All right, well you are excused for the moment. 

 45 

MR JONES:   Thank you. 
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<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.06 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Ms Walsh, is there anything further? 

 5 

MS WALSH:   Yes, yes sir I have agreed with my friends at the break to take 

one for the team and just ask a little bit more clarification as to I guess 

the underlying issue that you might be concerned with which you want 

us to address legal submission on. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes.  It is not, yes certainly.  It is not so much a – the 

underlying concern I have got is I have my own views about these 

things and I sometimes run the danger of running with those without 

receiving the thoughts of counsel.   

 15 

 It is my understanding of the law that if we are looking at the question 

of certification, if an applicant volunteers restrictions and constraints, 

for instance an applicant that is seeking certification sees that there is a 

need to deal with constraints and pressures in order to secure 

certification, perhaps it is hard to envisage exactly what that might be 20 

but I guess it is possible it might be staging at some stages, or it might 

be provision of infrastructure in others, or it might be nothing at all 

because everything is fine, that when they frame their application 

making commitments on those matters, effectively it is part of their 

application, it sets the boundaries of that application, and as a 25 

consequence of that the consent that issues cannot go beyond those 

boundaries.  And it is an important point to sort of get clear before the 

planner’s caucus as to whether or not I am right about that because that 

might put to rest a number of anxieties as to how to deal with matters 

of conditioning that come out of the consent process at the end of the 30 

day.   

 

 If the applicant volunteers it all, certification is on that understanding 

and that is effectively how far things have been certified.  So that is 

how I am conceptualising it but I do not want to get the law wrong so I 35 

would be grateful for counsel to, if they wish to, to assist the Panel on 

that, and also to assist those that are caucusing, on the basis that that 

degree of direction from counsel is of assistance and does not interfere 

with the independence of the process. 

 40 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, sir, that is very helpful.  And may I be excused sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes you can. 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN: And just on the matter of caucusing I can say now 

Mr Carranceja and Ms Viskovic if you could convey to Ms Limmer 

that the direction sought in the application on behalf of Fulton Hogan, 

the Crown and the Council, for caucusing to occur in accordance with 

the direction sought at paragraph 3 is granted and that will be 5 

confirmed in the minute, and if someone could pass that on to 

Ms Limmer. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir.  Just again on the issue of caucusing we have 

been having some discussions around the format that that should take 

and there was some discussion perhaps earlier that mediation may be 15 

appropriate but that was simply on the basis that there are some 

technical matters that need to be discussed by the planners and they 

may need support from the relevant technical experts.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MS VISKOVIC: So what counsel are envisaging is I suppose a broader 

caucusing than just planner caucusing involving other technical experts 

as well but excluding clients and counsel. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, that is absolutely fine, and that could be reflected in 

the directions that are issued.  I would welcome counsel’s views on any 

matters that they think should be framed as questions for the planners 

to address. We have our own thoughts and we will develop those 

further before we issue a minute but certainly planners and appropriate 30 

support from technical advisors in order for the planners to form their 

views. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   All right, so now I think we have got Ms Hill 

and your various clients. Obviously we are running a little bit behind 

schedule, and bearing in mind the matters that remain in contention and 

those that are not in contention, you know, you can possibly economise 

in a few areas in your legal submissions.  But have we had those 40 

circulated yet? 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

MS HILL:   Yes, sir, I circulated the submissions on Monday morning. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  So I just need to hunt for them.  Yes, I’ve got 

them.  Thank you, just when you are ready. 

 

MS HILL:   Good, thanks.  I will be brief with this.  Acceptable to everybody I 

think the core issues that our clients were interested in was the 5 

controlled activity status. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS HILL:  And that is outlined in the submissions our clients, so that is 10 

Waterloo, the International Airport and the Port, sorry, just to clarify, 

are in agreement with the revised version which was circulated on 

Monday, and which we have been discussing at the hearing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you are at paragraph 5? 15 

 

MS HILL:  Yes, so at paragraph 5 and then 6 I note that the majority of the 

outstanding concerns have now been addressed, and these provisions 

are supported. 

 20 

 I don’t think it is really necessary to go through paragraph 7, that was 

on the off chance on Monday night that the Panel were still here, some 

argument about activity status, but this was also covered by the 

Crown’s submissions as well. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so you agreed with the theory of those. 

 

MS HILL:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And in essence it depends on how the rules are framed and 30 

how the controls are set, doesn’t it? 

 

MS HILL:   Yes, exactly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 35 

 

MS HILL:  Thank you, sir. There is only one real issue of contention, an 

additional matter which is the activity status for subdivision within the 

Lyttelton Port influences overlay area.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS HILL:   This will mostly be addressed my Mr Purvis in his evidence.  

Essentially the Port would still support the non-complying activity 

status for subdivision within the influences overlay area.  This is on the 45 

basis that noise sensitive activities should be avoided within the 
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overlay, and that is a direction in the Strategic Directions’ objective 

3.3.12 (b) (i).  And so on the basis of that clear direction and also the 

fact that the relevant activity status for the land use provisions for 

sensitive activities within the Port influences overlay is non-complying, 

for consistencies sake a non-complying status would be preferred for 5 

subdivision for sensitive activities in the overlay as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS HILL:   But I will possibly now just move to calling the witnesses, if that is 10 

okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, thank you very much.  I think the issues are well-

defined in that area, and no doubt cross-examination will test them.  

Thank you. 15 

 

MS HILL:   Yes, thank you, sir.  So the first witness that I would like to call on 

behalf of the Airport, the Port and Waterloo Park, is Mr Dean Chrystal. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 20 
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<DEAN MICHAEL CHRYSTAL, sworn [12.13 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS HILL [12.13 pm] 

 

MS HILL:   Thank you.  Good afternoon, Mr Chrystal. 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Afternoon.   5 

 

MS HILL:   Do you confirm your full name is Dean Michael Chrystal? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Yes, that is correct. 

 10 

MS HILL:  And you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 8 June 2015? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Yes. 

 

MS HILL:  And your qualifications and expertise are set out in that evidence? 15 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   That is correct.  

 

MS HILL:   Yes.  Do you have any corrections you wish to make? 

 20 

MR CHRYSTAL:   No. 

 

MS HILL:  No, and do you confirm then that to the best of your knowledge 

this evidence is true and correct? 

 25 

MR CHRYSTAL:  It is, yes. 

 

MS HILL:   Thanks.  And I understand you have a summary that you wish to 

present to the Panel, and some further comments that you wish to 

make. 30 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  Yes, I have a summary, it’s perhaps a shorter summary than 

what it was originally.   

 

 The key thrust of my evidence is in regard to whether controlled or 35 

restricted discretion is the appropriate entry level for subdivision.  I 

consider it is possible to have a controlled activity status as an entry 

level status for subdivision and still address the primary concerns 

which were raised by Council staff.  And in that regard I was involved 

in drafting and I support the drafted amended version of Chapter 8 40 

contained in the attachment B of the mediation report of 4 June 2015, 

which introduced a wider control on controlled activity status and 

sought to simplify the structure of the chapter. 
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  [12.15 pm] 

 

 The key area of difference between myself and Council staff appeared 

to be around the status of the servicing components of subdivision, ie 

wastewater, water and storm water. I accept there are servicing 5 

constraints, however, I consider it is possible to set standards at a 

controlled activity level whereby if capacity is not available then the 

default position becomes restricted discretion.  

 

 In my evidence I note that controlled activity status would retain the 10 

status quo for subdivision, which I consider is in-line with the intent to 

reduce reliance on resource consent process in the Statement of 

Expectations in objective 3.3.2 of the Strategic Directions Chapter. 

 

 I also note that from my assessment of the Council’s section 32 15 

statement it appears that the move to restricted discretionary status for 

subdivision was at the time a philosophical one in-line with the 

proposed shift away from the use of controlled activity status across all 

chapters in the Proposed Replacement District Plan. 

 20 

 While I acknowledge some of the reasoning provided by Mr Long, 

Ms O’Brien and Mr Norton in evidence for restricted discretionary 

status, they have not provided any definitive evidence as to the actual 

problems being created with the current controlled activity situation.   

 25 

 I note now that since my evidence was written and since the rebuttal 

evidence was received, the Council’s position has changed to now 

adopt a controlled activity status with associated standards, which is in-

line with the position I have taken in my evidence.  I therefore support 

the proposal as now revised in relation to the adoption of controlled 30 

activity status, and would support the use of a certification process and 

constraint mapping facility. 

  

 Just a couple of other comments, if I may, there has been a lot of 

reference to standards and plans and documents in plans.  My 35 

experience is that they are widely used within rules as well as within 

standards and within conditions.  And a good example that I have been 

involved in as a Commissioner, is the Horowhenua District Plan.  Now 

that plan uses the NZS4404 Land Development and Subdivision 

Infrastructure Standard.  It also uses the Council’s own subdivision and 40 

development principles and requirement standards.  So those standards 

are both referenced at a rule level in that plan. 

 

 So I don’t think it is an uncommon thing at all to refer to them, and I 

really don’t share the Council staff’s concerns about having to do plan 45 
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changes on a regular basis.  These standards are regularly referred to in 

district plans in my view.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.   

 5 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, thank you, Mr Chrystal, I will just see if there 

is any questions.  Ms Dawson? 

 10 

MS DAWSON:  Well thank you for your work too, Mr Chrystal, with 

Mr Jones on the version attached to the mediation.  Without wanting to 

imply that I asked more questions of Mr Jones than I have asked of 

you, I don’t think I will go through all my questions that I asked of 

Mr Jones. 15 

 

 But just generally, I mean you have been here when I have been talking 

to Mr Jones about the certification process and the rules and how that 

might work, and also the Outlined Development Plan, the process of 

how that might work as a basis for controlled activity.   20 

 

 I suppose I am just giving you the opportunity, if there is anything that 

you feel that you can helpfully add to Mr Jones’ comments on either of 

those matters I am very happy to hear them. 

 25 

MR CHRYSTAL: Yes, I listened quite closely to this issue around certification 

and how it might work.  I think at a very basic level I see that as being 

a very useful way of doing things. And if I can give an analogy to 

something that some of us are familiar with the moment, the 

contaminated land situation.  Now ECan have a website where you can 30 

plug in your address, it will tell you whether it is a hale site or not, and 

if it is a hale site you can fill out the details and a report is sent to you 

immediately to your email address, identifying what the issues are, and 

you can attach that to any consent that you then apply for. 

 35 

 A very simple tool, web-based, and I see that as being something that 

could be done.  It could be done both for the certification and for the 

mapping constraints, either/or.  I see that would be quite a useful way 

of doing it.  

 40 

 Moving to how certification then works, and I listened to the sort of 

gold rush scenario and that sort of thing.  In my view, most of the 

certifications would occur within what I call the existing urban areas, I 

don’t think it’s such an issue for the outline development plans, I 

accept I don’t deal with outline development plans in my evidence, but 45 

I don’t think it’s such an issue, I think it’s existing urban areas and the 
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range of certification or the range of subdivision that you’re going to 

get in those urban areas will be quite different from the two lot 

subdivisions that we’ve talked about, the intensification RMD areas, 

two sites which – a good example would be the Ryan site for example, 

which is quite a big site still sitting there vacant as a brownfield land, 5 

and I think there will be differences in the way that that’s treated. I 

would have thought a two lot subdivision – I’m not even sure why you 

would need a certification process for a two lot subdivision if there’s no 

constraints identified, but I can accept there is a level, and I’m not sure 

where that level sits, that certification becomes more necessary and 10 

beyond that there is an issue of this gold rush banking. 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

 I did begin to wonder whether we were actually setting up a services 15 

trading system happening here, it might be the first one in the country. 

Judge Hassan might become the leader for that. But, yes, to me I think 

there is probably a threshold where the certification becomes necessary 

and I’m not absolutely certain where that threshold sits, whether it is a 

number, 10 houses or 10 dwellings or whatever that might be, or what 20 

that might be, but I think, in my view, the smaller stuff, I think if 

you’re showing that you’re not in an area that’s constrained I’m not 

even sure why you would need to go down there.  

 

 Having said that, if you had a system where, like I just described, 25 

around the contaminated land system which all you had to do was to 

plug in some details and tell them what you were proposing to do and 

you got a report back, then it just helps add to the consent process I 

would’ve thought. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   We have heard, I don’t know if you were there, you probably 

weren’t, back in the residential chapter, I think it was Ms O’Brien 

telling us that in some places, I think it might’ve been Bryndwr or 

somewhere, that even an additional one house would cause waste water 

overflows in an area that overflows at the moment and can’t even 35 

handle what’s there, so in some areas even a small subdivision - - - 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  Correct, and that’s where the constraints mapping becomes 

important. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Would identify the really good areas from the areas where 

there are problems. 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  Yes, correct.  

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   I don’t think so. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Chrystal, also I’m grateful for your evidence, I think as 

things have moved on things have become a little bit less contentious in 

some areas and so therefore the questions have moved along. 

 

 Just on the issue of incorporation by reference, one thing which is 10 

exercising my mind a little bit, but I think the answer to it might be 

available as well, which is if we have a website, for instance, that one 

clicks into to find certain information it’s more, not so much the 

mapping, I’m not so much thinking of that at the moment, but more the 

question of documents that are referred to. As I read the provisions in 15 

the Act it’s not automatic that things that are referenced in a certain 

way are incorporated by reference and it may be a matter for legal 

submissions.  

 

 Have you seen any examples where plans have actually made it clear 20 

that the documents being referred to are simply for guidance and not 

intended to be incorporated by reference to get around the sort of 

complexity of having to do a plan change? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  Yes, I have and I’m trying to think where that was. I think 25 

there might be urban design guidelines that have been produced in that 

way, and I have a sneaking suspicion that the operative plan might have 

some reference to some guidelines which - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Make it clear it’s not incorporated by reference? 30 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  Yes, I think it might be. I have seen that in the past. The 

other technique that I have seen, although it is not used often, is not to 

put the date of the document on the end of it, so it becomes a document 

that can obviously be continued to be updated.  35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Okay, thanks very much. I don’t have any further 

questions, apart from asking you whether you are available for 

caucusing? 

 40 

MR CHRYSTAL:  Yes, I am available for caucusing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Yes, okay, that’s good. Thank you very much. Now, 

Mr Purves, I think? 

 45 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.25 pm] 
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<ANDREW MARK PURVES, affirmed [12.25 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS HILL [12.25 pm] 

 

MS HILL:   Do you confirm that your full name is Andrew Mark Purves? 

 

MR PURVES:  Yes. 5 

 

MS HILL:   You have prepared a statement of evidence dated 8 June 2015? 

 

MR PURVES:  Yes. 

 10 

MS HILL:   Your qualifications are those set out in that statement of evidence? 

 

MR PURVES:  That’s correct.  

 

MS HILL:   Do you have any corrections you wish to make? 15 

 

MR PURVES:  No. 

 

MS HILL:   So do you confirm that to the best of your knowledge that 

evidence is true and correct? 20 

 

MR PURVES:  That’s correct.  

 

MS HILL:   Thank you. I understand you have a quick summary that you 

would like to present? 25 

 

MR PURVES:  Yes, it’s actually a slightly longer summary due to the recent 

changes, but not too much longer. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It’s no doubt focused on what’s an issue now rather than 30 

what isn’t. 

 

MR PURVES:  Yes. The notified version of the replacement plan controlled 

subdivision in the Lyttelton Port influences overlay area, it classified 

subdivision of land and buildings as a non-complying activity in the 35 

residential zones of the overlay and classified subdivision of land and 

buildings for the purposes of a sensitive activity as a non-complying 

activity in the commercial, industrial and open space zones of the 

overlay. 

 40 

 I supported the proposed rules in principle, but considered the rules 

needed to be relocated and restructured.  

 

 Andrew Long, however, proposed to delete the second rule applying to 

the commercial, industrial and open space zones. He considered that 45 
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the second rule relating to sensitive activities was too indirect and 

would be better managed in the zone chapters.  

 

 My evidence, therefore, addressed these three issues. Firstly I 

considered that the proposed rules needed to be relocated to another 5 

section in Chapter 8 because the rules were not concerned with setting 

limits on allotment sizes or allotment dimensions, but rather on 

avoiding reverse sensitivity effects.  

 

 Secondly, I considered that the rules relating to subdivision buildings 10 

of land or buildings in the overlay should be directly classified as a 

non-complying activity rather than a stepped approach contained in the 

plan at the time. This was because the standards attached to the 

restricted activity rule meant the subdivision defaulted to non-

complying anyway. 15 

 

 Thirdly, I considered the rule applying to subdivision of land or 

buildings for the purposes of a sensitive activity should remain because 

there are no apparent costs associated with retaining the rule and it 

provides clarity for a potential owner wishing to subdivide land or 20 

building within the overlay. 

 

 Andrew Long, in his rebuttal, paragraph 15.2, supported the relocation 

of the proposed rules. At that time he included it as non-complying rule 

8.2.2.4, and I was comfortable with this. Andrew Long, in his rebuttal, 25 

recommended that the subdivision in all zones in the overlay be listed 

as a non-complying activity without reference to sensitive activities. 

Andrew Long considered this may help pre-empt land use issues 

arising and avoid the legitimising or encouraging of sensitive activities 

in his paragraph 15.3. 30 

 

 Events have moved on and the 22nd June revised version classified 

subdivision as a full discretionary activity for all zones in the overlay. 

This is the first time that the Council has changed its position for the 

residential zones.  35 

 

 I disagree with the approach now recommended and respond as 

follows. Firstly, and as a general principle, I think the status of 

subdivision should be consistent with the status of land use where they 

are both interconnected. In the case of the residential zones, in all 40 

probability any subdivision will be for the establishment of a sensitive 

activity and therefore, in my view, the classification of subdivision 

should be non-complying. This approach also provides better certainty 

for readers of the plan and plan administrators.  

 45 
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 Mr Long, as I understand it, considers it may be onerous in some 

circumstances, however in my view where subdivision will clearly not 

increase the potential for reverse sensitivity effects the application 

would pass any threshold test. Certainly LPC (Lyttelton Port Company) 

will not be interested in opposing such subdivision. 5 

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

 As an aside, my reading of the rules classify subdivision within the 

electricity line corridors as a non-complying activity for reverse 10 

sensitivity reasons, and in those instances that where a platform for a 

particular type of building may be appropriate, then it would also 

become evident in a threshold test. 

 

 With respect to commercial, industrial and open space zones, the issue 15 

is how to control subdivision for a sensitive activity and not capturing 

other commercial or industrial activities. As described in my evidence 

the problem is when a potential applicant could sidestep the rule and 

come back later on and for example make an application for land use 

consent for apartments. 20 

 

 However, I’m not convinced that simply listing subdivision as a full 

discretionary activity or non-complying for that matter solves the 

problem. In my view the subdivision consents administration staff 

could still be, in reality, second guessing whether a proposed 25 

subdivision for a commercial activity for example, was being carried 

out with the intention to convert apartments later on. 

 

 I consider there would be additional transaction costs associated with 

the Council having to assess each application and decide the merits in 30 

terms of reverse sensitivity effects and presumably the Lyttelton Port 

Company would need to be involved on occasions as a potentially 

affected party. 

 

 My opinion remains that the rules proposed in paragraph 19 of my 35 

evidence are the most appropriate. 

 

 If the Panel is in a mind to adopt the full discretionary approach then I 

think policy 8.1.3.10 which is adverse effects on infrastructure, 

becomes very important and I suggest that it should be amended – and I 40 

wonder if that could possibly be brought up. 

 

MS DAWSON:   On the screen. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. What’s the number again, Mr Purves? 45 
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MR PURVES:   8.1.3.10 and it’s adverse effects on infrastructure. It was a 

policy that was introduced, I think in response to the submissions from 

the lines companies. And I think the policy would benefit by deleting 

the word “including” and inserting the word “and” and then adding the 

words at the end “is avoided”, because at the moment there’s a bit of 5 

ambiguity around the policy because the policy refers to subdivision 

design. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So could you just repeat your suggestions, because there are 

two “includings”. 10 

 

MR PURVES:   Delete the word “including” and replace - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   There are two - - -  

 15 

MR PURVES:   - - - with the word - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   There are two “includings”. 

 

MR PURVES:   The second “including” with word “and” and put at the end of 20 

the policy “is avoided”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Purves, sorry just thinking about what you 

just said. Have you got a note of that, Ms Viskovic - - -  

 25 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - for your cross-examination? All right, thank you. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [12.34 pm] 30 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you. 

 

 Good morning, Mr Purves – good afternoon. 

 35 

 So you have helpfully set out for us in your summary the concerns that 

you had raised in relation to subdivision and the port influences overlay 

so than you for doing that, and just to confirm that previously what was 

proposed in the subdivision chapter was that, subdivision within the 

port influences overlay was generally restricted discretionary activity 40 

and then would step up to a non-complying activity in certain 

circumstances. 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Viskovic, if you could speak up a bit - - -  
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MS VISKOVIC:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: - - - (INDISTINCT 0.02) picking that up, and a step up to 

discretionary activity, was it? 5 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Would step up to non-complying activity. 

 

MR PURVES:   Well it was clearly non-complying because the standard on the 

restricted discretionary activity was that it should be no subdivision, 10 

and so it had to go to noncompliant and that’s why I made comment in 

my primary evidence that there was no point in having a step, because 

the rule will automatically default it to non-complying. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And you have confirmed that the Port’s concerns essentially 15 

with the port subdivision within the port influences overlay is to ensure 

that reverse sensitivity effects on the port are managed and that’s 

primarily in relation to noise? 

 

MR PURVES:   That’s correct. 20 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Now you’ve just referred us to policy 8.1.3.10 and you have 

suggested an amendment to that policy to clarify the avoidance of 

reverse sensitivity effects. 

 25 

MR PURVES:   That’s correct, yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And that policy clearly is to ensure that effects including 

reverse sensitivity effects on infrastructure are recognised when 

subdivisions are being designed and developed doesn’t it? 30 

 

MR PURVES:   Well subject to the amendments I’ve proposed it would, yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC: Well it says that when subdivision designs ensure 

requirements on infrastructure are recognised in subdivision design 35 

including any potential for adverse effects including reverse sensitivity 

effects from subdivision. 

 

MR PURVES:   Well my reading – my problem is with the word “subdivision 

design” because you could then interpret the additional phrase as being 40 

related to potential adverse effects from subdivision design and this is 

beyond just design of a subdivision. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   It refers to just subdivision in the second part of that policy, 

but it probably is just a clarification really rather than - - -  45 
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MR PURVES:   Well in my view it’s - - -  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - substantive. 

 

MR PURVES:   - - - that there is ambiguity there. 5 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Depending on the outcomes of other decisions that the Panel 

will make, in particular in relation to the commercial and industrial 

chapters and the residential chapter, it’s highly likely that for a land use 

to establish within the port influences overlay, a resource consent is 10 

going to be required? 

 

MR PURVES:   That’s correct. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And that would be a relatively high threshold as well, so 15 

non-complying activity particularly for noise sensitive activities? 

 

MR PURVES:   Generally yes that’s correct. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Without second guessing what the Panel is going to decide.  20 

So just to clarify, subdivision would be unlikely to result in a land use 

particularly a noise sensitive activity that would be able to establish in 

the port influences overlay as of right, that wouldn’t be the outcome of 

a subdivision application being granted consent. 

 25 

MR PURVES:   So it’s – sorry, could you just run the question past me again? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Sorry, I’ll rephrase that, so a subdivision consent being 

granted wouldn’t result in the owner of that site being able to undertake 

a land use activity as of right, particularly a noise sensitive activity 30 

within the port influences overlay? 

 

MR PURVES:   Well that will be the likely outcome, that’s correct. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Now you are aware that the Council is now supporting 35 

discretionary activity for subdivision in the port influences overlay 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And that covers all of the zones that you had previously 40 

raised, including the commercial Banks Peninsula zone, open space 

zone, the industrial general zone as well as the rural Banks Peninsula 

zone the residential conservation zone – it covers everything, any zone 

within the port influences overlay. 

 45 

MR PURVES:   Well that’s correct, yes. 
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MS VISKOVIC:   And it’s not specific to noise sensitive activities although it 

would cover noise sensitive activities. 

 

MR PURVES:   Well that’s right, it would be a full discretionary activity 5 

across the zone. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Across all zones. 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 10 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   In questioning yesterday Mr Long raised that in some 

situations a subdivision may not result in new activities establishing, 

for example a boundary adjustment or where an activity was already 

being undertaken on a particular site and the subdivision was just to 15 

divide up that site essentially.  So based on that in some circumstances 

it may be appropriate for a consent to be granted for subdivision? 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 20 

MR PURVES:   That is correct, and that is why I said that if it went through a 

threshold test and it was clearly not related to a reverse sensitivity issue 

then there is no reason why it wouldn’t be processed through the 

threshold test and be granted. 

 25 

MS VISKOVIC:  A discretionary activity gives the Council the ability to 

decline a consent for subdivision in the overlay if it did not consider 

that that subdivision was appropriate and, in undertaking that 

assessment, the Council would consider a number of matters including 

actual and potential effects including reverse sensitivity effects on the 30 

port? 

 

MR PURVES:   Well, the reason for the full discretionary activity - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you answer the question first please. 35 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then you can comment if you wish but it is important 

that the questions are answered. 40 

 

MR PURVES:  Yes, sorry. The reason as I understand for the full discretionary 

activity across the zone is to manage reverse sensitivity effects, so it is 

not for any other reason. 

 45 
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MS VISKOVIC:  Yes. And in undertaking that assessment as well for a 

discretionary activity the Council would consider the relevant 

provisions of planning documents and that would include 

policy 8.1.3.10? 

 5 

MR PURVES:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  And in granting consent the Council could impose conditions 

on that consent? 

 10 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And perhaps some of those conditions could require 

mitigation of reverse sensitivity effects? 

 15 

MR PURVES:   On the subdivision, I am not sure - - - 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Probably less likely on the subdivision. 

 

MR PURVES:   I am not sure what the mitigation conditions could be. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What about a covenant? 

 

MR PURVES:   Well, that would be possible but I think that would apply 

equally to non-complying activity or full discretionary activity. 25 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Viskovic.  Ms Dawson? 

 30 

MS DAWSON: Thank you, Mr Purves. Just one angle, I will put the residential 

zones to one side, you have given us your opinion that all subdivision is 

very likely to result in noise sensitive activities, that is your basis for 

saying all subdivision should be non-complying? 

 35 

MR PURVES:   In the residential - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the residential areas. 

 

MR PURVES:   In the residential zones, yes.  40 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, all right, thank you.  So in the commercial and industrial, 

in those type of zones that are covered by the overlay, I think you said 

the problem is how not to capture subdivision that is for non-noise 

sensitive activities? 45 

 



 Page 221 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

MR PURVES:   That is right, that is the difficulty. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So whether it is non-complying or discretionary and if it is 

applied across all of those zones for any type of subdivision, then it 

could capture a subdivision that it is end purpose is to have nothing to 5 

do with noise sensitive activities? 

 

MR PURVES:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So your solution to that is to have a rule that ties the 10 

subdivision to the likely activity from that subdivision? 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And Mr Long’s opinion to us is that that is difficult to do at a 15 

subdivision stage. 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Particularly in an area where a wide range of activities could 20 

occur as of right? 

 

MR PURVES:   No, I accept that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So how are you anticipating the Council would know the 25 

answer to that question at the time of subdivision to know what status 

of activity would apply? 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes, that is a good question and it has certainly been taxing 

my mind on it.  That I saw the difficulty no matter which way it went, 30 

even for a full discretionary activity for example, it is still the same 

issue actually arises. 

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 35 

 However, the judge’s comment around the potential for a covenant, if 

that could be set out in a policy maybe related, there may be an 

opportunity there and it may be better to have it as full discretionary. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Across the zone? 40 

 

MR PURVES:   Across the zone.  But what I am mindful around it is not - the 

transaction costs imposed on everybody so I would be very keen for 

quite a clear policy direction around that.  So that for the sub-divider it 

is subdivided for a standard commercial activity, it is very quickly 45 

rubber stamped through if you like. 
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MS DAWSON:   So because on the one hand we are trying – there is having 

certainty in the standard that sets the activity status, you have agreed 

that is difficult when you are applying it to an unknown future activity? 

 5 

MR PURVES:   In the commercial and industrial zones, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, just in the commercial and industrial, yes.  And so the 

Council’s solution to that is to apply a status across the zone just 

blanket and irrespective of what may be the future activity on that 10 

subdivided allotment but in order to make it easier for people who 

don’t intend to do noise sensitive activities, the Council is suggesting 

discretionary? 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   So is your position to us now that that may be a better 

solution provided the policy is clear about how that would be dealt 

with? 

 20 

MR PURVES:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  And the policy is clear or assessment matters even 

if it is discretionary, are clear enough that it could lead to the sort of 

solutions that the judge mentioned before and other - - - 25 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes, that is right, some assessment matters would be very 

useful around that.  I certainly always have considered that that the 

commercial and industrial zone is a difficult area because you don’t 

want to be controlling unnecessarily sub-dividers for commercial and 30 

industrial activities. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And is it an area of lesser risk to a port operations in terms of 

established – setting the framework for the potential establishment of 

noise sensitive activities, given that they have to go through a resource 35 

consent anyway themselves? 

 

MR PURVES:  Yes, that is correct.  In terms of actual future development 

there is actually more risk in the commercial zone as a general 

principle, the residential zone lots are small, generally on the slope and 40 

they are already fee simples as far as I am aware with houses on them. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  So there is actually more scope for new activities 

in the commercial and industrial zone in Lyttelton? 

 45 

MR PURVES:   Yes, well, the commercial in particular, yes. 
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MS DAWSON:  But if, as I think Ms Viskovic said, in the end a noise sensitive 

activity itself would need a resource consent in that zone? 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes, that is right.  Yes, that is correct. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much, Mr Purves. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Udale? 

 10 

MR UDALE:   Just I guess on kind of non-regulatory tools or maybe it is a 

regulatory tool, a consent notice on a subdivision will achieve a similar 

outcome, wouldn’t it? 

 

MR PURVES:   Ah - - - 15 

 

MR UDALE:   Where you set the threshold for the activity. 

 

MR PURVES:   I am not sure, I can’t answer that off the top of my head, it 

may be a mechanism. 20 

 

MR UDALE:  It is just easier than a covenant and something that can be within 

the purview of Council to impose as part of any subdivision consent. 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes, I am not sure which is the best mechanism but I can 25 

certainly see that that is a potential mechanism as well. 

 

MR UDALE:   Thank you.  No other questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Udale.  Just further to that, and it may be a 30 

matter for submissions I suspect, I mean I had a recent encounter with a 

matter in Auckland, Mangawhai Heads subdivision application, where 

a good number of matters of a land use nature to do with dwelling 

design and landscape issues and so forth, both the Council and the 

applicant promoted a consent notice approach through the subdivision.   35 

 

 I suppose this area of subdivision versus land use, there is an element 

of common ground, isn’t there, in a sense that a subdivision is 

effectively in part a land use consent? 

 40 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

MR PURVES:   Well, it is and that was the point of my evidence that really 

they are completely connected. 

 45 



 Page 224 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, but as to activity categorisation, I am just thinking for 

instance even if we pick up on the question of the residential areas, I 

would be right to understand, wouldn’t I that in that residential area 

there would be a number of existing use right situations where people 

are established, so if there was a change to non-complying activity for 5 

subdivision in regard to that area, that would further impose restriction 

on those parties’ ability to change their land use wouldn’t it, through 

subdivision? 

 

 Take a large existing use, accommodation facility of some kind which 10 

comes within the definition of sensitive activity in an outfit saying 

“Well we have only got existing use rights, we want to make better 

commercial use of this with a shop for a commercial use within the 

residential zone but we need subdivision first, and your model would 

make that more difficult wouldn’t it? 15 

 

MR PURVES:  Well it would have to go through the threshold test but if it was 

clearly an example like that it would pass - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  It would make it more difficult, wouldn’t it?  In other 20 

words the threshold test would have to be passed, and it could be 

declined, greater risk of declining with objectives and policies being 

read in a certain way. 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Otherwise you wouldn’t be suggesting non-complying 

activity at all because it makes no difference. 

 

MR PURVES:  Well the non-complying activity is clearly related to the 30 

development of sensitive activities for sensitivity effects.  So if the 

subdivision was in the scenario that you have given – I am fully aware 

there are examples of where non-complying consents are processed 

non-notified for example, where it is clearly a consent that is processed 

no differently to a discretionary activity. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Just thinking about the right tools, though, to deal with 

what you have concern about. Given that you have acknowledged there 

is a capacity for a covenant approach and the consent notice approach 

which perhaps counsel can look at a bit further, do you think you would 40 

get to relatively the same place? 

 

MR PURVES:   It would be - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   With properly supporting policy. 45 
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MR PURVES:   Exactly, exactly, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Which would indicate those tools. 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   For these issues. 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Across all zones, residential, commercial, industrial? 

 

MR PURVES:   I agree, but as I said in my summary, that the subdivision in all 

probability will be for a sensitive activity in the residential zone as far 

as I am aware, of my knowledge of those residential zones.  15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because it is not necessary - - - 

 

MR PURVES:   I - - - 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - it is not necessarily – sorry I interrupted you. 

 

MR PURVES:   No, no that’s all right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is not necessarily a safe assumption to make though is it 25 

that all categories of activity even contemplated by the residential zone 

are inherently residential. There is a good number of them which the 

plan’s policy framework would encourage that are of a non-residential 

nature, just not adversely impacting more than they should on 

residential activity. 30 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes, there is one example I think of, a community, it might be 

a community garden or - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There are a number of them. 35 

 

MR PURVES:   - - - but it, yes, yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Let’s take a large building – existing use rights, inside the 

overlay, residential zone. It’s better use, its best use is as a medical, 40 

dental and other community service building. That would be one 

example wouldn’t it? 

 

MS DAWSON:   With no overnight stay, unless there’s a mortuary associated 

with it. 45 
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MR PURVES:   That is correct, and I think that certainly and that is why I 

responded quite quickly when the issue of covenants for consent 

notices were developed, I think one of the problems has been often the 

policies are not that particular to situations and so therefore the 

guidance side of assessing a full discretionary activity in my view is 5 

really important. 

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, policies that are properly directed in this area - - - 10 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: - - - are certainly relevant to the discretionary activities, 

and in an overlay area there may well be a case for identification of the 15 

matter more specifically.   

 

MR PURVES:   Yes, for subdivision, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well are you available for caucusing? 20 

 

MR PURVES:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think it would be helpful to develop these thoughts 

further and see what comes out of it. 25 

 

MR PURVES:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions arising? 

 30 

MS HILL:   No thank you sir. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   No sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, thanks very much.  Thanks very much.   35 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.56 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, Mr Cleary. 

 40 

MR CLEARY:  Good afternoon, your Honour, members of the Panel.  I 

actually have not filed any written submissions but if I may be 

permitted to speak briefly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just as long as you use the microphone. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   I thought I was.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Let’s just pause a moment because I wanted to find some 

paper that I’d lost.  What I was looking for Mr Cleary was a copy of the 

exemplar decision which I thought I had on my desk.  Do you have a 5 

copy of that handy to you? 

 

MR CLEARY:  I do not have it on me.  Perhaps it could be, oh I do now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  During the course of the last couple of days there has been 10 

quite a bit of discussion around the ideal position that different planners 

see for new neighbourhood zones generally and how best to give effect 

to the Regional Policy Statement in particular in regard to Outline 

Development Plans.   

 15 

 Now, and I am not intending to put you on the spot now, I just wanted 

to raise it with you at the beginning as it may be a topic which 

Mr Brown can assist on and which you can further assist on at closing 

submissions. 

 20 

 So the real issue in that area that comes up in regard to North Halswell, 

given that we’ve made our decision number four on this, and around 

about paragraphs 54 and 55 or thereabouts of that decision we flagged 

that there may be a need to bring back certain matters into better 

alignment with what we decide later, and that was simply in 25 

anticipation of the fact that we didn’t know what was coming up later 

and the things that would come up. 

 

 So I would be grateful if Mr Brown would give a bit of thought to this, 

and yourself, and give us guidance you see as relevant here.  I mean 30 

quite clearly North Halswell could be seen as an exception in the sense 

that the decision has been made but subject to those rights. 

 

MR CLEARY:  And of course Danne Mora has proceeded with its application 

on the basis of, you know its consent application  - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes that is where I was going next. 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - on the basis of that decision that has been made - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So just thinking about that, Mr Cleary and bearing in mind 

the comment that was made about “mindful of the legal effect of the 

provisions” which was the last line of paragraph 56, I am wondering 

out loud and I do not have a view and I would be guided, whether in 

fact there should be a tweak to this regime such that it is made more 45 



 Page 228 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

specifically applicable to the consent application that you refer to or 

whether that would cause any difficulties.   

 

 The reason I am thinking about it out loud is that it seems one way or 

the other North Halswell is an exception in the sense that it is a whole 5 

regime designed around a certain approach and the Council has now 

taken a significantly different approach in the advice it has not given 

through its evidence on how to treat new neighbourhood areas more 

generally, new neighbourhood zones, so this particular one is according 

to a certain design. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the question is what size ring fence should we put 

around it, I think, in order to recognise that legal rights are associated 15 

with and expectations around consent processes are in train and clearly 

it is not desirable to disrupt those so early at all but in fact to allow 

them to be included properly in accordance with the framework that is 

in place. 

 20 

 But then also looking about the general question of how we design the 

approach to New Neighbourhood Zones so that we take proper 

consideration of the alternatives now put to us, which are a bit more 

refined that what we had back then.  So it is an issue. 

 25 

  [1.00 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   I am happy to sort of give some thought to that and perhaps 

Mr Brown, he is here - - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - and perhaps he can - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Give some thought to it as well. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The question I was going to put to Mr Brown, just to 

forewarn, was effectively, would it be a sensible thing to frame an 40 

additional rule for that package, to define a ring fence around that 

context, the consent application process, allowing those matters to 

continue at according to what was expected or whether – and in fact 

counsel may well have other questions around the need to refine that 

further, but not to cause unnecessary disruption to consenting 45 

processes. 
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MR CLEARY:   I think there is another dimension which is reflected of the 

uniqueness of the exemplar for zoned provisions, that it’s different, it’s 

sort of another dimension other than the consent process and that’s 

their reference to the Statement of Commitment.  5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So there are expectations on behalf of not just the applicant in 

terms of the consent process that is in train (ph 1.18) but there is also 10 

expectations on behalf of the Council. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, RND, and those are acknowledged in the framing of 

the framing of the provisions that were signed off.   

 15 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, absolutely.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So we’re certainly happy to give it some thought. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think it would be of assistance, and perhaps for 

Mr Brown to be available in the caucusing to the extent that these 

issues may need to be thought about there, simply to ensure that the 

intention is of trying to get as much cohesion as we can across the Plan. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  But nevertheless to recognise that certain expectations 

have already been set around things and are entrained as well. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:  Yes, and Mr Brown will obviously be able to give you an 

update as to where that application sits at the moment.  I am not 

entirely sure whether it has actually been lodged or not, whether it is 

upon the point of lodgement.  Perhaps he can assist there. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  All right, so I have just thrown that at you, 

and that is helpful thanks.   

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The other dimensions of that which have come out of the 

evidence which would be good to think about, there is three issues 

which have been tabled more or less, or two.  One relates to 

infrastructure, and the evidence that has come in, which no doubt you 45 

will address, is Ms O’Brien’s view that the Outlined Development Plan 
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for North Halswell doesn’t provide the clarity she would like to see in 

terms of indicative areas for storm water retention ponds. 

 

MR CLEARY:   No, I think that was Mr Norton’s. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Mr Norton’s, thank you.  I think his opinion was that 

it is the sort of thing where it should be indicative rather than 

prescriptive, to allow flexibility, but he would find that helpful.  I think 

Ms O’Brien actually said something about water supply and those sorts 

of things. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:   And low pressure waste and so on. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  And so that starts to raise a question in our minds at 

the moment, subject to what you have got to say, as to whether in fact 15 

some tweaking could be done to the Outline Development Plan which 

would not cause undue grief, but would nevertheless achieve an 

improved position on clarity on those matters. 

 

 Because it seems to me that, subject to submissions, there might be 20 

changes that could be made that don’t cross the line into notification 

because they are effectively internal to the interest of the landowners 

concerned. 

 

 But again, I don’t want to put you on the spot, I just want to alert you to 25 

that and you can deal with it as you see fit, ask questions of Mr Brown 

as you lead him. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Can I just sort of indicate that I intend to address those issues 

in a preliminary sense in those opening submissions. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.   

 

MR CLEARY:   And hopefully I can actually cover them off. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good.  I will let you loose now. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I guess the starting point, sort of from Danne Mora’s point of 

view, that it is actually comfortable with the position set out in my 

friend Ms Viskovic’s opening submissions.  On behalf of the Council it 40 

essentially was that they have taken together the combination of the 

existing ODP for North Halswell and the rules package for controlled 

activities are appropriate to provide for ongoing subdivision of the 

North Halswell Outline Development Plan area. 

 45 
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 But of course there are two issues that have had the benefit of some 

bedtime reading of the transcript last night and I was at the hearing.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  

 5 

MR CLEARY:   And so quite clearly there are two issues in terms of concerns 

raised by the witnesses and to put the potential shortcomings of the 

Outline Development Plan in sort of the level of detail on infrastructure 

firstly, and then secondly density.   

 10 

  [1.05 pm] 

 

 And if I could just deal with, firstly with infrastructure, and I will sort 

of make the starting point is that the Panel, with the exception of 

Commissioner Udale, has already had benefit of quite a reasonably 15 

substantial body of evidence regarding sort of how the infrastructure is 

going to be provided for the North Halswell Residential Meadowlands 

and Key Activity Centre segments of the Outline Development Plan, 

and that was of course of the evidence, firstly it would be Mr Brown’s 

evidence for the Meadowlands exemplar zone, Mr Hall’s evidence for 20 

the Residential New Neighbourhood Zone Hearing, Chapter 14, 

followed up by his evidence for the Commercial, Chapter 15 for the 

Key Activity Centre. 

 

 And the Panel has also had the benefit of previous evidence from 25 

Ms O’Brien and Mr Norton on those infrastructure matters, and also 

there will be some limited evidence for the witnesses, the infrastructure 

witnesses for Terrace Development Services and the Key Activity 

Centre Hearing. 

 30 

 I just make the point that there is actually no contest in the evidence, in 

the sense that all the witnesses have agreed that this area can be 

appropriately serviced for wastewater, water supply, storm water, 

et cetera.  

 35 

 I would just perhaps also say, that the lack of contest between the 

witnesses was probably not surprising, given that there has been a 

significant level of discussions between the experts engaged by Danne 

Mora and the Council over those various issues, such that the benefit of 

these discussions is that there is extremely high level of knowledge and 40 

detail on the infrastructure, and I see that level of detail is reflected in 

Mr Long’s rebuttal evidence, and I wonder if we could bring the 

redline version of Mr Long’s rebuttal evidence, I wonder if we could 

bring that up, it is page 38 of his redline attachment onwards.   

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Is this the plan attachment to his rebuttal? 
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MR CLEARY:   His rebuttal evidence dated 15 of June, the first attachment is 

the redline version, and it will be at page 38, possibly 37.  It is 8.3.4, 

servicing, and so you have got 8.3.4 A, then we’ve got controlled 

activities, and you have got servicing.   5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can that be brought up.  Thank you.  

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, if you actually, that is the starting point, for the 

controlled activity, and if we scroll down to C3, which is “water supply 10 

North Halswell”.  So there you have got a significant level of detail as 

to a controlled standard for water supply, and then if we go over to 

page 40, which is Controlled Activity Standard C7, Surface Water 

Management, North Halswell.  And that’s even more detailed and 

comprehensive.  15 

 

 And lastly, if we go over to C12, which is on page 42, Sanitary Sewage 

Wastewater Disposal, North Halswell.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   I understand that there has been a level of opposition to 

actually including that level of prescription in the controlled activity 

standards, and I think that the Crown in particular opposed that.   

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, on the other hand Ms O’Brien I think indicated the 

importance of having clarity around the pressure related systems there. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Given the nature of that land could it tolerate anything 

else. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But I think the simple point to make is that we have the level 

of detail there, it is common knowledge between the parties as to the 35 

detail of the infrastructure.  And that being the case, I would suggest 

that – I would expect agreement could be reached between the parties 

as to what narrative, obviously a narrative should accompany the ODP 

for north Halswell on those issues. 

 40 

  [1.10 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In other words the ODP is not just a picture, it includes 

words? 

 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Well, I mean its common practice for the ODPs to include 

words, so I don’t have a particular issue with that, and it may well be 

that not all that level of detail needs to be included as a narrative for 

accompanying the ODP, but I would suggest that it’s a very, very good 

starting point. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I know you had some questions of Ms McIntyre about that 

yesterday, about the level of detail that was available and I think her 

answer was, “Well she’d need to come and have a talk to us”, but in 15 

actual fact the detail is out there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Any other points? 

 

MR CLEARY:   The second issue of course is density, and – like I’ve asked 20 

Mr Brown to actually have a think about that issue in terms of whether 

or not the current package of the ODP and the rules is appropriate, and 

he will say something about that in his summary, but in the meantime 

I’d obviously accept that it’s common practice for outline development 

plans to contain a level of detail around different densities and, you 25 

know there are numerous examples such as Wigram/Halswell west, 

northwest Belfast which is the section 293 saga, and of course Prestons. 

 

 And I guess the question that the Panel might be thinking, is whether or 

not we should undergo that exercise for north Halswell, and if the Panel 30 

is minded to go there, I would suggest that perhaps there is a 

reasonably significant jurisdiction of issue to address and that’s in the 

context of your powers under section 13(2) and section 13(4) of the 

Order in Council - would it be possible to bring that up? 

 35 

 So dealing firstly with section 13, subsection 2 which allows the Panel 

to make any change you consider appropriate and it also reinforces that 

you’re not actually bound by the scope of submissions, and in this case 

I’m not aware of any submissions that seek to identify a range of 

densities across the ODP. But nevertheless you’re not bound by the fact 40 

that no such submission exists. 

 

 And so section 32 I would submit that it seems like a fairly open ended 

power on your behalf, but there must be some inherent limits and the 

most obvious one being would be section 13(4), where if the changes 45 

that are needed are in the material way outside the scope of the 
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proposal, you can’t exercise your discretion to make the changes 

without a further formal process of notification. 

 

 But I’m just wondering how you would exercise discretion to make a 

change that you consider appropriate and to me the key word there is 5 

“appropriate”, and that of course depends on – will probably depend on 

a range of factors and it would obviously include the degree and extent 

of the proposed change and for that an example is sort of a relatively 

minor change that doesn’t impact on the interest of parties before you 

or not, that would appear to readily fall within your discretion. 10 

 

 But on the other hand if the change is potentially to significantly impact 

on particular parties or not before you, then I would suggest a 

cautionary response is required to a decision whether to exercise your 

discretion under 13(2). 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well I hear what you’re saying there and clearly there’s an 

issue quite beyond the prescription of the provisions themselves about 

natural justice, which applies to a Panel in any event. 

 20 

  [1.15 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Although I’m interested also, you’ll see sub-clause 5 25 

entitles us to revisit decisions made to ensure that the plan is coherent 

and consistent. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Indeed. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I suppose the issues in that regard, not to be heard on 

the basis that the Panel’s got a particular appetite to add to its workload 

at all, but nevertheless it seems to come back to generally a question of 

due process, doesn’t it, either non-notified or notified. 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   One or either of those processes is probably due process, 

do you agree? 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   I would, sir, but I would probably place a lot of emphasis and 

I’ll explain why, on the natural justice considerations, because in the 

present case, you know the Panel will already know that there are a 

number of landowners within the north Halswell ODP area, and Danne 

Mora is a significant landowner but is not the only one. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   One of six or something, is it? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Look, there are much more than that - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 5 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - it’s one of six in terms of the key activity centre, but it’s 

probably one of 15 or more - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:  - - - in terms of the wider residential new neighbourhood zone, 

and I’m sure the Panel will also know from collective experiences that 

greater number of landowners within an area to be rezone for 

residential or whatever, then the greater the variety of expectations on 15 

landowners we have is how they would like their land to be developed, 

and that greater variety of expectations leads in my experience and 

probably in the Panel’s experience, to a greater potential for conflict. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, at end of the day I suppose their obligation is to 20 

ensure what we deliver by way of a plan is as coherent and consistent 

as it can be. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Indeed. But if we were to go down the exercise in identifying 

different densities across the various properties, I’m sure that there will 25 

be a number of those people within the north Halswell outline 

development plan area who would be very interested in what density 

should apply to their land and they would like an opportunity no doubt 

to be heard on that. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  

 

MR CLEARY:   And they’d want to make sure that whatever density is chosen 

beyond the 15 per hectare requirement, is consistent with their 

expectations and it’s consistent with the capacity of the land, and so 35 

just as an example, you might go through an exercise of identifying a 

particular piece of land that had been suitable for 20 or 30 households 

per hectare, but there may be sort of constraints in terms of, you know 

sort of for example the part of the land may be TC3, and you have – 

you’ve already heard evidence that some of the land within the north 40 

Halswell area is TC3, and so it made the land, simply may not be able 

to support high density development for economic reasons. 

 

 And so I think I would certainly urge a degree of caution on your 

behalf to embarking on an exercise of identifying those densities. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, I mean certainly that’s helpful, but we’re also mindful 

of it - - -  

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:  - - - about the process dimensions to our obligation as well 

as the outcome ones. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And one of those outcome ones which no doubt your 

submissions in closing will assist us on, is whether or not the exemplar 

as we’ve got it, needs to be revisited in this area or not in regard to 

giving effect to policy 6.3.3 of the RPS, which is obviously our 

ultimate obligation. 15 

 

 Effectively we have to deal with this plan and chapters, and each time 

where you make a decision we have to satisfy ourselves of that 

obligation, but ultimately to be satisfied that the plan as a whole will 

give effect to the RPS. 20 

 

 Now it may well be that your evidence and submissions will be that it 

does on the basis of what’s in front of us, but we will need to be 

assisted I think. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   Well I would submit on a preliminary basis, the first point I’d 

like to make is just looking at 6.3.3 of the Regional Policy Statement 

that, it doesn’t state that the outline development plan alone should 

address all the areas that are set out in – and I think it’s sort of - - -  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - quite a comprehensive list, but it talks about the outline 

development plans and associated rules or other rules in this preamble. 

 35 

  [1.20 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it does and that first sentence would suggest that it 

can be a combination of the two. 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, and we would submit that, subject to any amendments 

you might like to make in respect of infrastructure, would submit that 

the existing package of the ODP and the rules actually does give effect 

to the regional policy statement. Maybe not – if one were to compare it 

to other outline development plans it doesn’t give effect to the same 45 

level or the same quality or whatever as those of the outline 
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development plans, but nevertheless we would say, I would submit that 

it does give effect to that policy.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I think it would be good for us to see that as crystal 

clear as we can, for instance in regard to paragraph 7, I mean I think 5 

that’s the one, isn’t it, in regard to - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:  Density. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - density issues and so forth.  10 

 

MR CLEARY:  Well, that’s E, the distribution of different residential 

development areas. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that’s right, it’s E and – I mean you haven’t had time 15 

to prepare careful submissions on this and you will have the right in 

closing obviously like anyone else to nail these things down as you 

wish in regard to making sure we fully understand all of it, and I will 

just urge you to, Mr Cleary, I think, to do that. I hear what you are 

saying now and obviously consider that, but be as clear as you could, 20 

noting that obviously the decision number 4 is relevant to our attention 

now as much as the rest of what we’ve got in front of us for this issue. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I mean, do you want me to sort of make comment now as to 

whether I think the exemplar decision gives effect to policy 6.4? 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The purpose of opening submissions is to be relatively 

brief in the introduction of your evidence, and you haven’t had the time 

to be brief. But perhaps it’s not something we need to put you under the 

test now to have on the transcript, submissions that – it sounds like 30 

you’re confident to make them, I would say possibly for our benefit 

and yours, it would be good to have them rounded out in closing. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Indeed. And I am suggesting to better give effect to the 

regional policy statement, that particular policy, that single policy, is 35 

that some amendments can be made and I have no doubt that agreement 

could be reached on those amendments between the parties. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. Look, that’s helpful to know and it’s a helpful 

introduction to it and I am glad you’re focused on it and Mr Brown no 40 

doubt will be as well as he goes into caucusing as well as giving 

evidence so that’s good. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Indeed. Thank you. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks Mr Cleary.  



 Page 238 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

 

MR CLEARY:   Do you want me to call Mr Brown now or we’ll have lunch? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We obviously got really distracted - - - 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   Just captivated by my - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - all right, so we’ll take the luncheon adjournment and 

we’ll come back at 2.15 pm. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir. 

 

ADJOURNED [1.23 pm] 

 

RESUMED [2.16 pm] 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.  Mr Cleary you are calling Mr Brown, is that 

right? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Unless you have any questions arising from - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: No I don’t think so but I suspect there’s going to be a 

number arising from Mr Brown. 

 

MR CLEARY: I am sure he looks forward to it.  Okay, so I will call 25 

Mr Brown. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

30 
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<MR MARK BERNARD BROWN, sworn [2.17 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [2.17 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right, thank you, Mr Brown.  If you could please confirm that 

your full name is Mark Bernard Brown. 

 5 

MR BROWN:   It is. 

 

MR CLEARY:  And in respect of Chapter 8 you have prepared a statement of 

evidence dated 8 June 2015. 

 10 

MR BROWN:   That’s correct. 

 

MR CLEARY: And do you confirm that you have the qualifications and 

experience set out in the introduction to that statement of evidence? 

 15 

MR BROWN:   I do. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And can you confirm that the contents of your evidence are 

true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 20 

MR BROWN:   Yes, I can. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Now as I indicated to the Panel before I have asked, given that 

things have moved on, I have asked Mr Brown if you could give a 

summary of his opinion as to where matters have got and if you could 25 

proceed with that and answer any questions the counsel or the Panel 

may have? 

 

MR BROWN:  Thank you.  I can confirm I have read Council’s latest proposal 

for Chapter 8 and believe that the revisions create an appropriate 30 

framework for controlled activity status to be used in respect of 

subdivision activity.   

 

 The revised proposal retains the relief I requested in respect of the new 

neighbourhood zone standards and also provides further amendment to 35 

the wording of additional new neighbourhood standard 13C(4) relating 

to lots which front areas of public open space. I believe the amended 

wording provides greater clarity as to the intent and purpose of this 

standard. 

 40 

 I am aware of the commentary from yesterday’s hearing around ODPs 

and more particularly relating to the north Halswell ODP. I note that 

the ODP and associated policies and rules for north Halswell contain 

the following information. Land uses in the form of roads, reserves 

heritage and public transport are identified in the ODP along with 45 

residential and commercial zoning. Net density requirements for the 



 Page 241 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

ODP are currently provided for by way of policy and rules with 

standards. An integration in connectivity from a transportation 

perspective is addressed through the flexible internal road network and 

the use of fixed and flexible access points.   

 5 

 It is my opinion, the only substantive matter remaining in terms of this 

ODP is that of infrastructure.  The ODP does not identify nor provide 

direction in terms of detail relating to water supply, detail in respect of 

wastewater whilst the existing storm water network within the ODP is 

shown as both a fixed and flexible feature. 10 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

 A quick scan of current ODPs within stage 1 proposals identify that 

these omissions are not uncommon. Water and wastewater are 15 

frequently not included within ODPs and I would note, a presumption 

on my behalf, that this is presumably because in the majority of 

instances the conveyance of water and wastewater is directly aligned 

with the internal road network, therefore the only real matter that needs 

to be addressed relates to external network connection. 20 

 

 The evidence presented yesterday from the Council in respect of 

wastewater from Ms O’Brien and storm water from Mr Norton 

recommends more information be included in the North Halswell ODP.  

The detail and level of certainty around design in respect of wastewater 25 

and storm water is only available in this instance because of the 

extensive pre-application work that has been undertaken by the 

applicant for the Meadowlands exemplar development.  To me this 

represents an exception and not the norm. ODPs are typically 

conceived as part of a plan change with consent applications to follow.  30 

The level of information supporting a plan change is typically of a 

vastly different nature to that which is included with a consent 

application.   

 

 On this occasion, in respect of North Halswell, an application and the 35 

commensurate level of investigation, discussion and design has 

occurred concurrently with the zoning process.  It is for this reason 

alone that so much certainty and detail is available. In ordinary 

circumstances this level of detail and certainty is unlikely to be 

available at the conception of the ODP particularly for areas which 40 

consist of multiple landowners. 

 

 Irrespective of that I see no reason why this information shouldn’t be 

used for North Halswell given that it is available, and that is the reason 

why I was not averse to the prescriptive rules package for the first 45 

proposal put forward by Mr Long in his evidence-in-chief.  I note that 
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this information has now been diluted in the current proposal however 

it would seem possible that this previous detail in regards to water 

supply, wastewater and surface water could be included as a narrative 

along with the current ODP plan. So that concludes my summary, 

thank you. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Brown.  Mr Carranceja? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [2.22 pm] 

 10 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, just really one question.  Mr Brown, on the basis of 

your view that the detail that was previously controlled, I will just call 

it the older version of the Council’s controlled activity status, if that 

could have been included, from your perspective, in the narrative of the 

Halswell ODP I presume then your confirmation is that your view is 15 

that the current revised version of the controlled activity status now 

proposed by the Council can apply elsewhere and you wouldn’t have 

any issues with that? 

 

MR BROWN:   No, I am comfortable with that. 20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir, no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Carranceja.  Ms Dawson? 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Brown, why do you think that the RPS has a policy about 

outline development plans? 

 

MR BROWN:  Broadly speaking I think it is to achieve good coordinated 

outcomes in areas, particularly greenfield areas. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   And particularly in areas with multiple landowners? 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:  In your presentation you just said to us that normally this 

information wouldn’t be provided at an outline plan stage where there 

are multiple landowners but are you saying that the RPS is asking for 

something that is abnormal, not necessary, unable to be provided 

normally? 40 

 

MR BROWN:   No, just to make myself clear, I think it is level and the detail 

of information that we currently have available in this situation.  There 

needs to be a satisfactory level of detail to ensure an ODP is prepared 

in the right fashion and achieves the right level of coordination so I 45 

completely agree.  And I suppose the difficulty in getting coordination 
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of a higher detail and having that reflected in the ODP becomes more 

difficult the greater the number of landowners involved.   

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 5 

 So I think if you have got a situation where there are multiple 

landowners when you are preparing an ODP less detail is more, enough 

to satisfy that the land is suitable for its intended purpose.  And I 

suppose using a rather crude sort of test it is being able to show that an 

ODP area can be serviced and how it is serviced is a matter for 10 

subsequent consents. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Do you not the think that the more landowners the more an 

ODP is important and to ensure, I think as you said, good coordinated, 

integrated development of one area? 15 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, I do but I think the importance becomes more relevant but 

to achieve outcomes I think we have to be mindful of detail because I 

think it is the detail that can have knock on effects that could actually 

make development more onerous rather than enable it. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean using storm water as an example because it requires 

land often. 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 25 

 

MS DAWSON: And yet, as I understand it, the ODPs are looking for a 

coordinated approach, an integrated approach to storm water 

management across each ODP area? 

 30 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON: So the level of detail and the way that that is then implemented 

through the rules does it not need to be such to ensure that once 

subdivision applications coming in owner by owner, that that 35 

coordinated approach continues to be implemented? 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, I agree with that completely. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So if you don’t know on the ODP at all where things are 40 

going to happen in order to provide for the integrated storm water 

management, effective management of storm water across this area, 

how do we know that it is not going to happen in an uncoordinated, 

unintegrated and eventually maybe unfair way? 

 45 
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MR BROWN:  Yes, look I fully accept the thrust of what you are saying there.  

I suppose the difficulty is to achieve the right level of balance because I 

think, using the North Halswell as an example, I think the outcomes 

that Council are seeking could be achieved through narrative and 

maybe some small visual inclusion on the ODP without going too far.  5 

And Mr Norton alluded to that yesterday, that previous iterations of the 

ODP had a series of ponds throughout that ODP identified and yet now 

the favoured response is one big pond for the whole ODP, so in the 

space of a few years that has changed. 

 10 

 Now, if we went with that first proposal where there was a series of 

ponds, if that is what we were dealing with now but Council’s position 

was for a large one, the ODP creates an impediment because you 

wouldn’t be complying with it because there is just that level of detail 

there.   15 

 

 So I think the key direction, you know, with some visual aid just to 

provide some basic clarity but with some detail around outcomes that 

are in the words and the narrative I think preserves a position where 

you can maintain consistency and integration but also take account of 20 

new information that comes to hand.   

 

 And that could even be in respect of the conditions of the site.  You 

know, it is only once you embark on subdivision and even get a consent 

and go beyond subdivision into detailed design that much of the 25 

characteristics that will influence these types of decisions become 

known.  And again if we constrain ourselves with too much detail that 

makes responding to those conditions that you don’t know about at the 

start just a lot more difficult. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:  I mean I accept what you are saying that it is not easy to 

decide exactly what goes in an ODP and how flexibly that is shown, 

whether it is a visual or a narrative and how that might relate even to 

rules that support it, but do you think having nothing about these issues 

on the ODP is a solution that meets the regional policy statement? 35 

 

MR BROWN:   No.  No, I do not.  

 

MS DAWSON:   So you agree that the North Halswell ODP that is before us at 

the moment in the notified plan needs to be enhanced somewhat in an 40 

appropriate way to meet the RPS requirements? 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, I think some further addition to it, whether through rule 

or narrative or change that - - - 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   All right.  So in relation to the servicing we have got before 

us some standards in one of the versions. 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 5 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, that is good. 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:  Now I haven’t looked through those in detail but are you 

satisfied – well no let’s move back. So Ms O’Brien for example, looked 

at the two standards that are in the latest version - - - 

 15 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - which relate to a couple of wastewater matters I think. 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   So they do not relate to – she thought they were adequate to 

cover the key wastewater matters that need to be covered off and may 

in this case be a package of rules and ODP that would meet the RPS 

but they don’t cover a key matter she identified about water supply, and 25 

Mr Norton said they didn’t cover the new needs for storm water 

management. 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, I am aware of that so - - - 

 30 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, so are you satisfied that the standards that are before us 

could be rewritten as narratives for example or retained with smaller 

rules, that together with the plan could meet the infrastructure 

requirements of the ODP and the policy 8.1.2.9? 

 35 

MR BROWN:  Yes, I am, yes. So I suppose just to endorse that, Mr Hall 

provided evidence around some subtle changes to those original 

standards, so that relief was accepted - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 40 

 

MR BROWN: - - - so taking his lead, they are satisfactory so if they are 

represented in some form then that would suffice for this area. 
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MS DAWSON:  And it would enable all landowners within this area to 

understand what’s expected and between themselves work towards the 

staging and integrated development of those services. 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, it would give clarity - - - 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Clarity. 

 

MR BROWN:   - - - to them all around those matters.   

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Okay.  So now we turn to density.   

 

MR BROWN:   I thought we might. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Because it is, I think Mr Long admitted it is harder.  You have 15 

said, I think that the policies and standards relating to net density would 

meet the provisions of the RPS in relation to density. So can you 

explain to me very clearly how that works, in this latest version. 

 

MR BROWN:  Yes, so I think there’s a policy, I think it’s 8.2.8 but there is a 20 

policy that relates to brownfield and greenfield density targets for 15. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So as far as I read it doesn’t mention policies.   

 

MR BROWN:   I beg your pardon?  Oh, correct, yes. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   It talks about - - - 

 

MR BROWN:   ODPs and rules. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   - - - yes, ODPs and rules. 

 

MR BROWN:  Yes.  So there is a non-complying standard that if you don’t 

meet the policy which directs you to 15 per hectare then you are non-

complying. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   And does that relate to each individual subdivision? 

 

MR BROWN:   That’s my understanding, yes. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   So I don’t know how many 7,000 square metre subdivisions 

there could be over this area but there could be quite a few. 

 

MR BROWN:   That’s correct, yes. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:  So for each and every one of them that doesn’t meet 15 

households per hectare, the method to be used is to look at each of 

those individually and make decisions about whether as a whole they’re 

going to meet that over the zone.  Is that, are you really telling me 

that’s what’s intended? 5 

 

MR BROWN:   I presume that is the case. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Intended by the RPS. 

 10 

MR BROWN:   Well I think the RPS sets 15, so that’s the expectation.  With 

that rule requirement around non-complying there would have to be a 

very good reason put forward by an applicant not to comply with the 

15. Now it is my opinion that sometimes those reasons do exist but 

whilst we may be talking about a multiple consent situation of a 15 

minimum of 7,000 square metre areas of sites, I suppose at least it’s 

being held to account to that 15.  So if all of them were assessed and 

had good reasons not for meeting the 15, then Council’s taken account 

of the final outcome as well as the current one. 

 20 

 So the alternative obviously is to start getting into specifying areas for 

density and again like I mentioned previously it is difficult, with my 

experience, it is something that is difficult to deal with.  In anticipation 

of this question I have spoken to one of my colleagues who does the 

consent applications out at Longhurst and Knights Stream, which is the 25 

Halswell west ODP, so they have density A, B and C areas specified 

and she has reliably informed me that every subdivision application in 

those density areas has been non-complying because they have not 

fully conformed with where those areas are. 

 30 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

 Now I think that’s quite telling because that’s a situation where there’s 

a single owner and that development has been fully master planned to a 

high level, you know we have got that information transposed into the 35 

ODP.  But the minute you specify something and it’s reflected in the 

ODP, unless you do it you incur the subsequent consequences.  And the 

reasons for change are multiple – they could be responding to the 

market for those types of densities, they could be in relation to 

engineering design reasons, ground conditions – there’s a lot of stuff 40 

again that will happen subsequent to an ODP that may determine 

whether those, identifying those areas.   

 

 And that even becomes more complicated when you’ve got an area 

consisting of multiple owners, because for want of a better word, you 45 

almost have to pick winners.  Some people are going to miss out, get 
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what they want, some aren’t. That creates a very difficult situation. 

How do you decide who gets what.  And then to expand that a little bit 

further, some of the reasons for deciding where density goes could be 

on the surrounding environment, so where a KAC is or where a reserve 

is.  Now even things like roads and reserves are susceptible to change 5 

once you get to detailed design.  So a reserve may be slightly shifted in 

location and it may shift into another landowner and therefore you’ve 

taken density from one landowner to another for a perfectly good 

reason, but that could be an outcome. 

 10 

 So it’s just I think going to the point of really nominating densities, it’s 

a snapshot in time, it’s done when you do the ODP and it has to live 

beyond that and I think, you know my experience shows that events 

quite quickly outdate if the ODP has that level of detail.   

 15 

 And I’ve been personally involved in Faringdon out in Selwyn as well 

and we’ve had the exact same thing. So we applied for applications 

now, they’ve zoned their density areas – medium density or 

comprehensive areas – and we’re continually making applications for 

sites that don’t conform with that density and they have to have consent 20 

notices placed on them because there actually is an underlying zone. 

 

 So it’s inherent, one way or the other, there’s difficulties. 

 

MS DAWSON:  All right, so say, unlike the experiment that we’ve had in 25 

identifying densities on a master plan and putting them into an ODP, I 

mean Mr Jones talked about this, were you here before when he - - - 

 

MR BROWN:   I just caught the tail end of it, sorry. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:  - - - so he said similarly to you, putting them on the plans very 

precisely can have problems and his view is that it’s better perhaps to 

put something in narrative about the likely location or the general 

location of areas of higher density and at least that’s something that can 

be worked towards and be consistent with, but that was his view. 35 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So the next step is not to show that at all and really in terms of 

rules, in order to meet policy 6.3.7 which is the 15 households per 40 

hectare, are you really saying that the anticipated outcome is that it will 

be all over.  All, the whole, the base outcome to be departed from by 

non-complying activity status, is to have 15 households per hectare 

across every 7,000 square metre part of this Outline Development Plan 

area?  And that’s what will drive the development. 45 
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MR BROWN:  Yes,  I am tending to that.  I think there’s a possibility for some 

maybe modification around the activity status because there are 

situations, I know we’re talking about - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   I didn’t ask you about the activity status, I’m asking about the 5 

outcome on the ground - - - 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, so look I’m comfortable that the baseline is 15. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Everywhere? 10 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And if you depart from that then you come along for a non-

complying and if it’s to go to less someone would have to show how 15 

overall it’s still going to be achieved? 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Without ending up with the last person having to do 100 20 

households per hectare or whatever. 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

MR BROWN:   Exactly right, yes - - -  25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, yes. 

 

MR BROWN:   - - - so, yes, 15 baseline, yes, for - - -  

 30 

MS DAWSON:   That’s in it. 

 

MR BROWN:   - - - and that’s a minimum obviously so - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   So how does that fit with policies about having mixes of 35 

density? 

 

MR BROWN:   So - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, typologies - - -  40 

 

MR BROWN:   - - - I think that’s where the - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and - - -  

 45 

MR BROWN:   Yes, I think that’s where the rules - - -  
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MS DAWSON:   ‘Cos there’s another policy - - -  

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, yes, and I think that’s where the rules, the subdivision 

rules kick in, because they require you to account for a percentage of 5 

typologies so you get variation through compliance with that to start 

with - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   But - - -  

 10 

MR BROWN:   - - - so every subdivision must identify the typology and no 

one subdivision can have 80% of one typology I’d say. 

 

MS DAWSON:  And so each 7,000 square metre plus subdivision needs to 

come up with its average of 15 and a mix of typology? 15 

 

MR BROWN:  Yes, so those current rules mean 80% of the number of lots 

within that 7,000, need to, you know can only be of one type, the 

remaining 20 have to be a mix, so that rule gives you the variation. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:  Yes. And that – to vary from that would be non-complying 

and that’s the catch that would prevent the last person standing being 

lumped with all the variety and all the high density or whatever. 

 

MR BROWN:  Yes, well if it’s done by site by site you don’t sort of get that 25 

loading up I suppose - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   That’s right, yes. 

 

MR BROWN:   - - - so that’s – and that’s where I - - -  30 

 

MS DAWSON:   That’s how you use - - -  

 

MR BROWN:   - - - that’s one of the reasons I do favour that approach, and 

just – I think is a correction – no, that’s fine, that’s fine. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   So can you put me to the rule that requires the 15 households 

per hectare in this latest version? 

 

MR BROWN:  So that’s what I mentioned earlier, it’s the non-complying 40 

standard so it’s 8.2.2.4 by memory. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So any subdivision that doesn’t achieve it is non-complying? 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right. 

 

 And do you think this is going – this is the new norm? 

 

MR BROWN:   I don’t know how to answer that. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because when I look at stage 2, at least half the outline plans 

look exactly the same as this. 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, I am aware of that.  10 

 

 Yes, look I think, I think it is because I, you know I do have, just 

through my experience just concerns ODPs with detail and a 

framework that makes it hard to change it, you know they create real 

difficulties, in terms of enabling development, so getting that right 15 

balance of detail is important and, you know less is more and I think as 

long as the ODPs contain those key elements and with the necessary 

direction through narrative as well, I think that’s the starting point. 

 

MS DAWSON:  My final concern is about – and I’m trying to look for the 20 

policy support for this and I think it is somewhere but I’m – is policies 

that talk about having the higher density development focused around 

the key activity centres, mixed use areas, public transport interchanges 

and corridors, how is that sort of policy achieved through an approach, 

a rules based approach that basically smears the mix of density across 25 

the whole ODP area? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Maybe (INDISTINCT 3.43). 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well just - - -  30 

 

MR BROWN:   I say – yes – I say, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I don’t know what else to say. 

 35 

MR BROWN:   Yes, yes. Well I suppose – well, the 15 is a minimum, so you 

can go beyond the 15 as of choice as long as you still comply with 

standards. So these alternative areas, as you mention the case, is (1) it’s 

suitable for a higher density, you know it suits that type of living, so 

that’s why it’s to be encouraged – now I believe that policy is part of 40 

chapter 14 and there was a fair bit of discussion around it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That’s right, there’s a whole list of things on it. 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, my recollection around it is that, the direction it provides 45 

is it encourages that type of density around KACs because it’s, you 
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know it’s complimentary, it’s not sort of directive – well it’s not 

ensuring that development occurs there, it’s suggesting - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   And it’s not just around - - -  

 5 

MR BROWN:   - - - it’s a good place for it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - KACs though - - -  

 

MR BROWN:   No. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - there’s various features, isn’t it - - -  

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   - - - where they’re – yes. 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean – yes, I think, I think we got to distinguish between 20 

the policies relating to the locations of the RMD zone - - -  

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - which are very much focused more around KACs and - - 25 

-  

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

MR BROWN:   I agree. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - policies like, the policies that relate more to Greenfields’ 

development around - - -  

 

MR BROWN:  Yes, so in this instance I do think that north Halswell’s – I 35 

think, by recollection – is the only greenfield priority area with a 

greenfield KAC. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but others have - - -  

 40 

MR BROWN:   And so - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - local commercial - - -  

 

MR BROWN:   That’s right, and they’ve all got those other zones around them 45 

- - -  
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MS DAWSON:   Local, commercial zones. 

 

MR BROWN:   - - - so this is the only new neighbourhood situation where that 

– so that’s – we did make a submission to have that type of thing 5 

reflected.  

 

MS DAWSON:   So you’re saying that that that might happen if people want 

to? 

 10 

MR BROWN:  Yes. I know discussions with the consultant team involved with 

the Meadowlands’ project that’s definitely the intention. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean that’s an example. 

 15 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But if - - -  

 

MR BROWN:   And so I suppose what that does also, is it does create a little 20 

bit of flexibility for other landowners, but if that high level of density is 

prevalent then it does provide some wiggle room for that overall 15. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Only if they come first? 

 25 

MR BROWN:   Yes, yes, agreed. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well I don’t think I can take that any further, thank 

you very much, Mr Brown. 

 30 

MR BROWN:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Udale. 

 

MR UDALE:  Look, I had a fairly similar kind of line of questions as Ms 35 

Dawson, I’m sort of interested in the kind of issue about sort of 

specificity and sort of multiple landowners versus not very many, it 

would seem to me – and I’ll be interested in your view – that actually 

the fewer landowners there are the less detail you need arguably, but 

the more landowners there are the more detail you’ll need particularly 40 

around issues of integration and staging and funding that typically go 

with infrastructure. 

 

MR BROWN:  Yes, I wouldn’t necessarily agree with that correlation, I think 

instead of “detail” maybe “direction”, if you’ve got a lot of detail with 45 

a lot of landowners you’ve got a lot of problems. 
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MR UDALE:   Wouldn’t you say, if you have no detail and a lot of landowners 

you probably got more problems - - -  

 

MR BROWN:   That’s – and that’s where – yes, yes, that’s where that balance 5 

is important and having that, you know that direction provided by the 

narrative or the rules’ package, it’s definitely useful. 

 

MR UDALE:   Just on that line and look I’m not seeking to re-litigate anything 

around north Halswell other than you get to use it as an example, given 10 

there are 15 landowners there, and I read the storm water management 

piece here and it says quite specifically that the entire catchment is to 

be managed by two storm water detention basins and two 

sedimentation basins, and clearly they are going to sit probably on two 

people’s pieces of land for the benefit of all.  15 

 

 How do those issues get managed in that scenario? 

 

MR BROWN:  Yes, so in that instance and if there’s private agreements for 

access between landowners that’s one way that, you know access to the 20 

infrastructure is facilitated, otherwise it’s just sort of wait your turn. 

 

MR UDALE:   And so if the parties at the bottom of the catchment, which is of 

course is where they are - - -  

 25 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MR UDALE: - - - don’t see great benefit in turning their land over to 

storm water treatment devices, then essentially the whole ODP is held 

up. 30 

 

MR BROWN:  That probably is an extreme outcome, conceivably it is 

possible, but, yes - - -  

 

MR UDALE:  I would have thought it was fairly typical outcome on large 35 

pieces of greenfield land. 

 

MR BROWN:  Through those discussions that have come up through this 

situation in north Halswell, Council and our engineering experts have 

sort of made it clear that temporary storm water facilities on people’s 40 

own land are an acceptable response, so long as the infrastructure is in 

place to connect in the future when access is available, so I think that is 

the response that would circumvent that sort of being held to ransom. 

 

MR UDALE:  Well I won’t ask you to answer on Council’s behalf but I’ll very 45 

interested to hear from Council about how they would intend to 
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actually manage that impracticality and over time because at the end of 

the day the person downstream left with pieces of land which they can 

get no commercial value is never going to deliver up to large detention 

basins or sedimentation basins, at least I wouldn’t. 

 5 

MR BROWN:  Yes, it’s possible, but again it’s something – again this is – this 

situation is a shift, the previous response was a series of ponds and 

basins scattered throughout the ODP, but this larger integrated facility 

is now the flavour of the day, so that’s just an example. 

 10 

MR UDALE:  But as an example of what is likely to come down the pipeline 

of ODPs and indeed may already be in the pipeline of ODPs, would 

you say that’s typical/unusual? 

 

MR BROWN:   I haven’t had - - -  15 

 

MR UDALE:   Extraordinary? 

 

MR BROWN:  Yes, I haven’t had an experience with it to date, with ODPs that 

I’ve dealt with, so this is the first of that nature. 20 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

MR UDALE:   But clearly there is a shift to large storm water devices for large 

areas of land, for maintenance and all sorts of other good reasons. 25 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, if grant conditions preclude other ways of dealing with 

storm water. 

 

MR UDALE:   Sure.  30 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MR UDALE:   Okay, look I think Ms Dawson kind of pretty well tortured the 

issues that I was interested in as well, so I will leave it at that, other 35 

than to reinforce them.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Can I follow off one question?  So say the rule, the standard 40 

that Mr Udale just read out to you about storm mitigation for the entire 

Outlined Plan shall be in two separate sedimentation basins, so say that 

was brought in the narrative part of an Outlined Development Plan and 

it said “storm water shall be disposed of…” blah, blah, blah, and the 

first person came along, first subdivision came along and one of those 45 

wasn’t in it, or two of them in fact weren’t in that area, how can the 
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Council ensure that that subdivision is in accordance with the ODP, and 

would that mean that that inevitably that first subdivision is going to be 

non-complying activity or a discretionary or whatever the default is.   

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, it would.  If they weren’t able to access those locations 5 

for disposal and then - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   And tighten them up.  

 

MR BROWN:   - - - and yes, they wouldn’t comply with that standard, so they 10 

would trigger to a different status, and then they would – the applicant 

would have to satisfy Council that their alternative method is 

acceptable to the Council, and if it’s not - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   But in the long run would lead to the outcome that the ODP 15 

is indicating.   

 

MR BROWN:   That would be a matter for the Council and how they decide to 

administer it. This is a very good example, but there is a lot of other 

matters that dictate how an ODP is developed sequentially. Just 20 

because it is zoned it is not an entitlement for anyone in that ODP to 

sort of kick off their development levels and flows and sewer 

infrastructure. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, you have told up about that.  25 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  My concern fundamentally is that if there is a concept, a 

policy direction relating to integrated development of areas of land that 30 

have a certain way of going about that, and in the end the 

development’s going to be by a whole lot of resource consent 

applications, in separate resource consents, all being looked at, often 

not in compliance with the ODP, and moving away from the policy 

direction. Some of those will be discretion and some might be non-35 

complying and in the end it is going to ad hoc decisions as opposed to 

integrated development of an area. 

 

 And are you saying that’s really inevitable? 

 40 

MR BROWN:  I think that’s the process at which ODPs will be developed, yes.  

The 7,000 as a minimum - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I understand. 

 45 
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MR BROWN: - - - so that is the worst case, though there’s other things that 

determine the size of a subdivision.  And in terms of ad hoc or whether 

they are non-complying or not, I suppose that’s up to how Council 

decides to administer those applications.  They need not be that, they 

can still be integrated and achieve the outcomes, albeit with some 5 

temporary solutions or albeit they just have to wait their turn. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Brown, another question from Mr Udale. 10 

 

MR UDALE:  Sorry for this ping-pong.  Look, I was just interested around this 

and just your view on, in the context of establishing an ODP, and let’s 

assume it’s a new ODP, the sort of weight that you would therefore 

give to 6.3.3, 6 and 7, in particular in the RPS, which certainly talk 15 

about agreement around staging and those sorts of things, which would 

suggest in fact that most of these things should be sorted out between 

landowners up front. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Or to the extent relevant. 20 

 

MR UDALE:   Or to the extent relevant.   

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, where relevant I suppose, that is some important wording 

there.  But look, it has to be definitely considered when preparing an 25 

ODP. 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

 Personally I do find that difficult and I do have some trouble with it, 30 

but how you achieve that at that stage. 

 

MR UDALE:  So essentially you could have two baselines, one which is 

effectively a blank canvas where everybody has to achieve everything, 

everywhere, or one by where you can get a more comprehensive 35 

agreement, where people actually agree that not everything is the same 

everywhere, and if people want to change that either way down the 

track then that is by negotiation, which is a pretty standard factor of 

business life. 

 40 

MR BROWN:   Yes, absolutely.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Actually I must apologise for that intervention, and see 

“to the extent relevant” is put into the preface of 3 but not 7.   

 45 

MR UDALE:   Thank you.   
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Any further questions?  Okay.  Mr Brown, just rounding 

this out a bit, I just want to come back to this ring fencing issue that I 

discussed with Mr Cleary.   

 5 

 First of all, in terms of the concept of an Outlined Development Plan, if 

we could put page 41 up, which is the North Halswell one for the 

moment. 

 

 Yes, it is page 41 I think, the track change version.  Okay, so it seems 10 

pretty clear to me that what you said before is correct in regard to the 

concept of an Outlined Development Plan that by definition it can be a 

combination of words and maps, in the sense that it’s defined to be a 

plan.  It doesn’t say it has to be in a diagrammatic form but has to be a 

plan, and interestingly it has to include maps and other descriptive 15 

illustrative material in regard to policy 6.3.9.  But that’s not relevant to 

us, I don’t think, that is the rural one.   

 

 If we go back to 6.3.3, so conceptually at least there seems to be a basis 

for us looking at what we have got in this appendix 8.6.4 and the 20 

capacity to revisit that with a set of words and so forth, as you have 

indicated.   

 

 So the next question I have got is, if we go to the decision on the 

exemplar housing.  I just refreshed my memory on it as we were going 25 

through and see that it was very much contextualised around the fact 

that the exemplar housing matter was a priority, that Danne Mora was 

involved in that.  There had been, I think, at paragraph 5 it says “it had 

been since 2009, and that the land was subject to resource consent and 

subdivision applications,” and so that was the context in which that was 30 

made. 

 

 So my question is this first of all, before we get to whether we have to 

do it. Would you agree with me that conceptually one possible 

amendment to this appendix could be to provide at part A ring fenced 35 

arrangement, including the map that’s shown there, perhaps with 

endorsements that are going to be discussed in caucusing on 

infrastructure and so forth, and anything else that is required, but ring 

fenced only to the context of that decision.  In other words, part A of 

the Outlined Development Plan is the plan as it applies to the topic of 40 

the exemplar housing and the matters in the resource consent 

application, do you agree with that, conceptually? 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, so just to clarify that question, we could potentially look 

at amending the ODP to reflect, to ring fence the exemplar part of that 45 

ODP. 
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JUDGE HASSAN: Yes, I mean in effect if that is considered necessary 

conceptually it should be possible to have an Outlined Development 

Plan that is a little bit more layered.  It provides for what it does in 

regard to the context within which this decision was made.   5 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: And it leaves that with perhaps some degree of 

modification as seems appropriate for the matters being discussed.  10 

 

MR BROWN:   I agree with that.  I suppose further, the fact that the exemplar 

side itself is zoned, so it is shown on a planning map. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that’s right.  15 

 

MR BROWN:   So by extension there is that layer there already, but if it needs 

to be bundled. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Yes, there is nothing in the concept of an Outlined 20 

Development Plan by way of a plan provision, set of rules, set of 

provisions, whatever, to preclude that. 

 

MR BROWN:   No. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you don’t need to come up with the words now, but it 

would be useful, subject to the qualifications you want to put in 

caucusing around it, but to come up with a set of words that would 

describe that ring fence so that it didn’t take outside the ring fence 

things that should be kept within it for the purposes of Danne Mora’s 30 

interests in regard to those processes. 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes, more than happy to consider that. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  All right, and do I take it your opinion to 

be – so I just want to understand your opinion on this now, in light of 

all the discussion that’s occurred with the Panel.  Is it your view that it 

is necessary to ring fence that out or not? 40 

 

MR BROWN:  With it being its own zone I think it’s probably by default 

already ring fenced. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 45 
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MR BROWN:   It has got its own specific structure for or framework for 

subdivision, so I don’t think there’s any danger of Chapter 8 sort of 

bleeding into the exemplar and muddying those waters.  But for clarity 

it could be shown on – the zone could be reflected on the ODP I 

suppose, yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: What I’m thinking out loud about is some of the difficulties 

and how best to overcome them, if having heard everything we decide 

they need to be.  In regard to the level of specificity here versus what 

seems to be the direction that the RPS is giving us and particularly on 10 

matters that you’ve been discussing with other Panel members, 

including for instance item 7 that I misread a minute ago in regard to 

setting the staging and coordination of subdivision and development 

between landowners.   

 15 

 So bearing that in mind, with that assumption do you think more can be 

achieved in that regard on the assumption that it doesn’t revisit in any 

material way or prejudicial way the position Danne Mora reached in 

regard to decision 4. 

 20 

MR BROWN:  I definitely think it can be looked at and could be achievable.  

For no other reason I suppose rather because of its exemplar status it is 

sort of unique and has got a special set of circumstances.  So if it’s to 

be elevated in terms of its staging and priority in terms of coordination 

I think that decision’s already been made outside of this forum by the 25 

LURP. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes it has and for various reasons you would probably 

think it shouldn’t be revisited in that sense, other than in any specific 

way words can be added to the plan in the way you’ve described 30 

before, for that purpose. 

 

MR BROWN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I thought I’d get that clear before you enter caucusing.  35 

Thanks very much. 

 

MR BROWN:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions arising, Mr Cleary? 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   I probably shouldn’t but - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  You might want to just speak – just that microphones are a 

bit of a problem in this room. 45 
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MR CLEARY:  Just thinking about that issue in terms of ring fencing, just 

Mr Brown your understanding in terms of the infrastructure that will 

support the Outline Development Plan and this was Mr Hall’s 

evidence. I am just trying to recollect him to say that the storm water 

system proposed would actually service not only the exemplar zone but 5 

the wider area, is that – can you remember that? 

 

MR BROWN:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So then there may need to be a gate in the fence? 

 

MR CLEARY: Well indeed, in terms of just perhaps it’s not really for 

questioning of the witness, but it’s better we explore at caucusing.  But 15 

my understanding, it may well be that the wider ODP doesn’t need to 

be amended in any way to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well it’s not for you Mr Cleary to give evidence, it’s for 

the experts to consider at caucusing and - - -  20 

 

MR CLEARY:   I know. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: - - - you need to be careful not to lead your expert in the 

theory of caucusing. 25 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.04 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:  I know, I completely take your point and I was reluctant to 

stand up.  Okay I won’t take it any further, thank you, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Right. Thank you. All right well thanks very much 

Mr Cleary and I think your next witness. 

 

  [3.05 pm] 35 

 

 Oh, we’ve got Mr Pedler next.   
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<MR PEDLER [3.05 pm] 
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MR PEDLER:   Thank you.  Good afternoon. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good afternoon. 

 

MR PEDLER:   The Panel has probably already received copies of Radio New 5 

Zealand’s written submissions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we have thank you. 

 

MR PEDLER:  And they rely on the evidence of Mr Gary Fowles.  Mr Fowles’ 10 

evidence has been received by the Panel but his attendance has been 

excused.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, that’s right, on the basis of no cross examination or 

questions. 15 

 

MR PEDLER:   Exactly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to find – I just need to locate my own file, it’s 

here somewhere. Looks like I need another copy. Mr Pedler, that’s 20 

helped us time-wise but you should feel free to bring our attention to 

anything in that evidence that’s relevant to your submissions as you go, 

just feel free to do so. 

 

MR PEDLER:  Yes, your Honour, and as it’s eventuated with the Council’s 25 

revised version there’s very little left in contention. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR PEDLER:   But I’m happy to delve into any aspects of the submission that 30 

the Panel would find useful but I propose just initially to outline the 

one remaining point. I would mention Radio New Zealand is very 

happy with the Council’s revised version. It has created a new problem, 

that’s of notification. So on paragraph, just go to the briefing 

background, paragraph 6 of the written submissions shows what Radio 35 

New Zealand sought initially which was that subdivision near Radio 

New Zealand’s facilities that could possibly lead to reverse sensitivity 

effects should be given an elevated activity status.  So this was when 

the default status was subdivision in the plan was restricted 

discretionary it was proposed that certain subdivision within 1,000 40 

metres would be assessed as discretionary.  That submission by Radio 

New Zealand was accepted by the Council and has proved 

uncontroversial. 

 

 The problem has arisen with Council’s revised version, so that’s 45 

moving over to paragraphs 9 and 10, where the default of subdivision is 
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controlled and the revised version proposed is that within 1,000 metres 

of Radio New Zealand’s facilities that it then becomes restricted 

discretionary. That’s largely acceptable to Radio New Zealand but 

probably the unintended consequence is that neither controlled nor 

restricted discretionary activities can be notified. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR PEDLER:   They would just like – unless otherwise stated, the submission 

today is just that Radio New Zealand would like it to be otherwise 10 

stated so these sort of subdivision applications may be notified on 

Radio New Zealand if in the Council’s discretion I think that would be 

useful. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, and just in terms of that submission are there 15 

any particular passages - - - 

 

MR PEDLER:   Yes, so - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - of the evidence you want to draw our attention to? 20 

 

MR PEDLER: No, your Honour, no particular passages in the evidence, simply 

that it’s probably of benefit to Radio New Zealand and the parties and 

the Council for when there’s issues of land use and compatibility, that 

the activities which may be incompatible, that both parties can be 25 

involved in identifying what the issues might be and resolving them. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So you are referring there to the discussion under “reverse 

sensitivity” are you? 

 30 

MR PEDLER:  I am.  So probably paragraph 32, it’s Mr Fowles’ conclusion.  

So we’re not looking to – Radio New Zealand is by no means looking 

to sterilise the land, it’s simply to engage with developers at the stage 

of subdivision to make sure that they are aware of issues and any issues 

can be addressed potentially at the subdivision stage before any 35 

developers have sort of committed themselves to future applications for 

land use consents that may be sensitive. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Now you mentioned before that this was a matter in 

contention with the Council. 40 

 

MR PEDLER:   Sorry that was probably an unwise - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So have you had discussions with the Council that gives 

you an understanding of their position? If you haven’t I’ll ask 45 

Ms Viskovic what the Council’s position is? 
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MS VISKOVIC:  I wasn’t aware that this was potentially an issue but I can 

have a discussion with Mr Long and perhaps this is something that 

could be covered by way of a memorandum if it’s appropriate. 

 5 

  [3.10 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, I think it would be – is Mr Long down in the back 

room?  I think it might be helpful to perhaps do that now as Mr Pedler 

hasn’t quite finished his submissions but I would like to know the 10 

Council’s position before we ask any Panel questions.  Thank you 

Mr Pedler, if you want to continue, is there anything further that - - - 

 

MR PEDLER:  No, your Honour, we probably see it as no more of an 

oversight, I apologise for the use of the word “contention”, that was 15 

disrespectful.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  No, there is no need to apologise, it is just that this has 

been a bit of a quick moving feast, everyone has had to catch up a little 

bit and perfectly understandable but it would be useful from the Panel’s 20 

point of view to know what the Council’s view is on it. 

 

MR PEDLER:   Yes, I have proposed on paragraph 11 of the submissions an 

amendment that might resolve the issue from Radio New Zealand’s 

point of view.  I am happy to take - - - 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So paragraph 11 is what you are referring to? 

 

MR PEDLER:   Yes. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  Well, if you want to just take a seat again I think 

Ms Viskovic has got an instruction. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes, sir, the Council is happy with the inclusion of limited 

notification to Radio New Zealand as requested. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, okay, thank you.  Well, I will check if there is 

any questions, Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thank you. 40 

 

MR UDALE:   No questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you very much, Mr Pedler. 

 45 

MR PEDLER:   Thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Thanks, Ms Viskovic, that helped to – if I sound like I am 

saying “Miss” occasionally it is because I struggle with words, it is not 

intentional.  All right, so thank you very much, I think that was very 

helpful, thanks. 5 

 

MR PEDLER:   Yes, sir. 

 

<MR PEDLER WITHDREW [3.11 pm] 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, we have got Mr McCall I think from the Surveyors 

Institute and Mr McCall, so you are going to be sworn in to give 

evidence is that your intention? 

 

MR McCALL:   I understood it was a statement. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, well, that is fine too, it is over to you.  It is 

entirely over to you, so you can either be sworn in, in which case you 

give evidence according to the obligations of a witness, not as an expert 

witness I understand that, but entirely your call so perhaps take a seat if 20 

that is your preference.  
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<WARREN McCALL, sworn [3.12 pm] 
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MR McCALL:   I have prepared a summary statement of my evidence if you 

would like. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, if you would sit down there and it will go onto the 

transcript there.  5 

 

MR McCALL:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good afternoon.  So you have prepared a summary of 

your statement and just in accordance with the processes here, you can 10 

just speak to that now as long as it is a summary that helps everyone.  

Have you got it in writing, it will help everyone just to read that? 

 

MR McCALL:   There two pages and they can be distributed. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay.  Well, Mr Carranceja will probably want 

to have a look at it, he hasn’t had a chance to look at it yet I suspect so 

perhaps that could be distributed now. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, please, thank you, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps to Mr Carranceja first.  So basically the summary 

we want from you is just summarise the evidence or the statement you 

have already made and respond to anything that you want to respond to 

that has come up since. 25 

 

 Just in terms of that, Mr McCall, have you caught up with the fact that 

relatively quickly the Council has – well, the Council has moved its 

position somewhat significantly in some areas of the plan, are you 

familiar with that in terms of the latest version of the plan provisions 30 

that were distributed to the Panel yesterday? 

 

MR McCALL:   I am aware that it has been distributed again yesterday but I 

haven’t read it in detail. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, all right.  One of the significant changes the 

Council has taken to its position is in regard to the entry status for 

subdivision, which has been to date restricted discretionary, but the 

Council has now recommended a position of controlled activity for that 

subject to various parameters of control.  It is probably about as far as I 40 

can take it at the moment but just bear that in mind. 

 

MR McCALL:   I appreciate that, thanks.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just proceed when you are ready. 45 
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MR McCALL: My name is Warren McCall, I am a member of the 

New Zealand Institute of Surveyors and a director of Davie Lovell-

Smith Limited.   

 

  [3.15 pm] 5 

 

 I have read the rebuttal evidence of Andrew Long and Oliver Brown on 

behalf of the Council and Sandra McIntyre for the Crown.  Our 

concerns relate to urban density, policy 8.1.2.8, and new standards for 

local roads, subdivision appendix 8.6.3. 10 

 

 We acknowledge that urban density targets are required to be met 

under the RPS policy 6.3.7.  However the targets in themselves do not 

adequately account for the many and varied constraints on land 

development.  We support an increase in residential densities but at 15 

some point, due to practical limitations, some subdivisions will not be 

able to absorb 15 or 30 householders per hectare without compromising 

on good quality urban design.  The RPS assumes a perfect knowledge 

of every development site within the city.  However unforeseen 

constraints will occur and the only available tool to meet the density 20 

target is to create smaller and smaller sites regardless of environmental 

outcomes. 

 

 There are many physical constraints that can impact on urban density, 

some of which have been identified under the definition of New 25 

Neighbourhood hectare in chapter 2.  However development sites are 

often subject to other constraints, for example awkward shaped land 

parcels, building setbacks from high voltage lines, existing dwellings 

and curtilages which for economic reasons are to be retained, streams 

and local collector roads required by an ODP. 30 

 

 None of these constraints have been excluded from the definition of 

New Neighbourhood hectare yet all of them inhibit the ability to 

increase density.  Our concern is that it will be very difficult to achieve 

15 households per hectare including a variety of lot sizes and housing 35 

types when physical constraints are encountered.   

 

 Given that a review of the Land Use Recovery Plan is underway it 

appears that there is an opportunity for the Independent Hearing’s 

Panel, together with Environment Canterbury, to refine the density 40 

targets and introduce flexibility. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Mr McCall, I don’t want to interrupt you but I need 

t probably tell you about something otherwise you are going to be 

cross-examined to death on it.  We have to give effect to the regional 45 

policy statement full stop. So where the regional policy statement refers 
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to the 15 household per hectare in greenfield areas density 

intensification regime, unless you are going to say that it allows us to 

qualify it with “where practicable” and tell us how, while your idea 

might be a good one I am afraid the RPS trumps it as we have to give 

effect to it.  We have no option, it is a statutory direction. 5 

 

MR McCALL:   Well, if it that is the situation with the Panel there is no point 

in pursuing that option. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, then move to the next point. 10 

 

MR McCALL:   I am happy to move to the next point. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Unless you can say that there is something you can tell us 

about that policy statement, I am just trying to save you from the fact 15 

that you are likely to be cross-examined on this, at the end of the day 

the law is the law.  So unless you can say there is something in the RPS 

that directs us otherwise, which would be welcome to hear, there is no 

point in hearing something we can’t do. 

 20 

MR McCALL:   In that case I will skip to paragraph 8. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  

 

MR McCALL:   Failing the above policy 8.1.2.8 should be amended by adding 25 

the words “where practicable” so that subdivision in greenfield or 

brownfield areas where practicable must enable development which 

achieves at least a net density of 15 households per hectare. 

 

 New road standards.  The Council in its revised version dated 21 May 30 

2015 has added clarification No 10 regarding local road standards at 

the foot of the table appendix 8.6.3.  A 14 metre road width and one 

footpath is optional where a road only provides access to less than 20 

residential units and is less than 100 metres in length.  We support the 

option of 14 metres road width and one footpath however the 35 

100 metres maximum road length is unnecessary and should be deleted.   

 

 The fact that a local road serves less than 20 units is evidence alone that 

the road is not long.  Many such roads would be longer than 100 metres 

and applicants would be put to additional cost and delays in resource 40 

consenting.  

 

 I have suggested increasing the maximum road length to 150 metres 

which would vastly reduce the number of non-compliances.  However 

Mr Brown has not relented, citing AustRoads’ maximum spacing 45 

between traffic management devices, 80 to 100 metres as justification. 
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  [3.20 pm] 

 

 I note however that the standard he refers to does not limit the length of 

roads. It is simply a recommendation to encourage lower vehicle 5 

speeds with traffic calming, which could be a condition of subdivision 

consent. There is no need to limit the length of road to achieve this. 

 

 Our position is supported by the Operative City Plan which allows 

local urban roads providing access to less than 25 residential units to be 10 

12 metres wide with one footpath regardless of the length of road. 

 

 Mr Brown also rejects our suggestion of eliminating a berm and 

footpath from the road, where an adjacent reserve includes a footpath. 

He refers to scenarios such as high traffic volumes, bus routes and 15 

sports events which suggest arterial or collective roads adjoining major 

reserves. However our suggested wording, clarification number 10, is 

specific to local roads and is clearly in the context of neighbourhood 

reserves. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN: Thank you very much, now who have we got here – Mr 

Carranceja. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:  Sir, it will be Ms Silcock this time. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Silcock, thank you. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SILCOCK [3.21 pm] 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Good afternoon, Mr McCall, just wanting to talk to you about 30 

the concern that you’ve raised in your evidence about the need for 

every subdivision meet the RPS target of 15 households per hectare. 

 

 Now in your summary you’ve explained that you’ve read Ms 

McIntyre's evidence, can I take you to section 6 of her evidence please, 35 

which is on page 4 – sorry, and that’s her rebuttal evidence – I don’t 

know whether you’ve got a - - -  

 

MR McCALL:   I don’t have that, no. 

 40 

MS SILCOCK:   - - - available – can we have that put up? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We’ll be able to bring it up on the screen I think, so just 

pause until that’s up and Mr McCall’s got a chance to read it. 

 45 

MS SILCOCK:   Just by way of context, Mr McCall - - -  
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, I think Mr McCall should be allowed to read the 

passage first. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Certainly. 5 

 

MR McCALL:   Which paragraph are we talking about? 

 

MS SILCOCK:   The key paragraph 6.1, 6.2 and 6.3. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So what we’ll do, Mr McCall, Mr McCall read that 

through and then you can pose your context question. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes, sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Read that through, Mr McCall? 

 

MR McCALL:   I’m aware of that, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay now put your question thanks. 20 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir. So at paragraph 6.3, Ms McIntyre's providing 

a suggested alternative wording to address your concerns about the 

density targets, now that you’ve had an opportunity to read that would 

you agree that the amendments that she’s making at paragraph 6.3 to 25 

the policy on outline development plans would address your concerns? 

 

MR McCALL:  No, it doesn’t address my concerns. 

 

MS SILCOCK:  Would you have any suggested wording that might be able to 30 

address your concerns – by way of context the purpose of those 

amendments are to ensure that the density targets do not need to be met 

subdivision by subdivision, but could be addressed across an ODP 

area? 

 35 

MR McCALL: No. If you refer to the summary statement I’ve just made, 

paragraph 8, I’ve suggested some wording there which would be 

suitable and it can be adopted into this very simply. 

 

 I’m suggesting adding the words “where practical”, there are going to 40 

be many situations where 15 to the hectare won’t be practical. I’m 

involved in an urban design project at the moment in one of these areas, 

and to give you some appreciation of what we’re faced with, this block 

of land has three collector roads which aren’t excluded from the 

definition of “new neighbourhood hectare.” It has a reserve corridor 45 
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from end to end, which isn’t excluded. It has two substantial existing 

dwellings and curtilages which aren’t excluded. 

 

  [3.25 pm] 

 5 

 And I estimate that once all of those factors are taken out, there could 

be – there are also some potential geotechnical constraints and 

storm water to deal with, but of course they can be included or 

excluded. But the factors that I can’t exclude and therefore I have to 

achieve 15 to the hectare, we’re potentially looking and it is 10 

preliminary, but there could be 50% of this site lost to development - to 

houses. 

 

 When you’re getting down to losing 50% of a site through 

infrastructure and you have to achieve 15 to the hectare, you’re talking 15 

an average household or allotment size of 333 square metres. The 

minimum allotment size allowed is 300. 

 

 The mathematics tells you that you’re going to end up with no 

flexibility. There’s going to be no diversity of housing or not enough, 20 

and it’s all very well to have these various - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Give your answer - - -  

 

MR McCALL:   - - - typologies. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  - - - focus on the question thanks, Mr McCall, I think 

you’ve given a good example but it’s not an opportunity to launch into 

something else. The question was asked and I think you’ve answered it, 

any further clarification to your answer before we go to the next 30 

question? 

 

MR McCALL:  I’d be happy if the words were “practical” were added to the 

paragraph under what I’m looking at. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, thank you. I’m sorry for that intervention but you 

have to appreciate it’s something we have to manage the time and so 

forth, but the question has been fairly answered. I think you may not be 

experienced in giving evidence but the first priority is to answer the 

question and then explain and try to keep the explanation as brief as 40 

you can, thank you. 

 

MS SILCOCK:  Sir, I don’t think I can take my line of questioning any further, 

no further questions. Thank you, Mr McCall. 

 45 

MR McCALL:   Thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I’ll just ask if there are some questions from the Panel, Ms 

Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one specific question, Mr McCall, I think I heard correct 5 

and – that you’ve said that the submission regarding road standards is 

particularly focused on local roads - - -  

 

MR McCALL:   It is. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and when I look at the appendix and the footnote 

identifier, I’m right in reading that it only applies to the line relating to 

local roads, and is that how you read it as well? 

 

MR McCALL:   Exactly, yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR McCALL:   I mean it’s got a double hash which - - -  

 20 

MS DAWSON:   That’s right. 

 

MR McCALL:   - - - relates only to local roads. 

 

MS DAWSON:  And only to the minimum road width and the number of 25 

footpaths on local roads, and so it couldn’t be used – it couldn’t be 

interpreted as applying to collector or arterial roads as - - -  

 

MR McCALL:  I can’t understand how it could be. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   No, all right, thank you very much for clarifying that, that’s 

good, thank you – no more from me. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, Ms Dawson. Mr Udale? 

 35 

MR UDALE:   Just a sort of question around the issue of the net densities, just 

interested in your view, you obviously this town well and land 

development in this town well and I can see you’re suggesting that, you 

know we might inadvertently sterilise land that could otherwise be 

developed, I mean just of the top of your head, what sort of percentage 40 

of the overall land do you think might be affected realistic go through 

this, is it 5%/50%? 

 

MR McCALL:   I couldn’t really give a percentage but I’m aware that because 

there are so few identified priority areas for development, it would only 45 

take one to be tipped up and immediately the household targets 
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projected under the RPS are put into question, and that’s where I think 

it’s fundamentally flawed. 

 

MR UDALE:   So one way it could be to better address the issue of – sorry, net 

hectare definition, is that the phrase? 5 

 

MR McCALL:   That’s right, I feel that if we were able to develop properties 

to perhaps less than 15, if it wasn’t practicable, then we’re at least 

getting on a way to achieving the densities sought - - -  

 10 

MR UDALE:   But if - - -  

 

MR McCALL: - - - and I think it’s in the spirit of the RPS that we’re trying to 

achieve whatever can be achieved up to and perhaps exceeding that 

figure. 15 

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 

MR UDALE:  But you could also achieve the same result by having an 

arguably clearer definition of what should be or should not be in a net 20 

hectare. 

 

MR MCCALL: Well I think if there was a more realistic range offered then we 

wouldn’t be here debating it. 

 25 

MR UDALE:   It’s an alternative way to get to the same outcome.  Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr McCall just a couple of questions. I want to come back 

to this thing as well and I think we should put up this policy on the 

screen, 6.3.7 of the Regional Policy Statement, I beg your pardon. 30 

 

 So I just want to take you through what I was looking at before when I 

explained to you the parameters of what we have to do by way of 

giving effect to this policy statement. In other words under the RMA 

we have to give effect to the RPS in our decision otherwise we make a 35 

legally invalid decision.  We don’t have any wriggle room other than to 

give effect to the RPS.   

 

 So the real question becomes what do the policies mean?  So for your 

position in regard to that policy 3, 6.3.7(3) where it says 40 

“intensification developments and development in those areas shall 

achieve” those densities and it says “at least,” how do you read that in 

terms of allowing for “where practical?” 

 

MR MCCALL: Well clearly there’s scope within an ODP to achieve the 45 

density.  If one property is sterilised because it can’t produce 15 and 
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it’s therefore defunct then there’s going to be no show of achieving 15 

across that ODP. If on the other hand it manages 14 and there’s 

potential for 16 off another property then it can be achieved. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So coming back to Ms McIntyre’s suggestion for it to be 5 

achieved across – so the Outline Development Plans that again are 

provided for under other policies of the policy statement for greenfield 

priority areas they call them, that can encompass a multitude of 

subdivisions within that Outline Development Plan area.  So it would 

assist at least towards your position, would it not, to allow for that to be 10 

averaged out across the entire land. Although we’ve just heard 

evidence from Mr Brown saying that’s difficult as well, so we’ve got to 

balance that, but do you think it’s somewhat helpful? 

 

 So in other words, unders and overs could apply if we adopt 15 

Ms McIntyre’s suggestion even though we have got to think about 

Mr Brown’s evidence as well. 

 

MR MCCALL:  Well largely I mean where I was trying to lead to was that I 

think a range is a fairer option.  But in the absence of being out of 20 

range, that’s beneath 15, then frankly I feel we just have to do the best 

thing we can. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And is the Surveyors Institute taking steps to raise these 

concerns with the Regional Council in the context of the Land Use 25 

Recovery Plan and with a view to revisiting this policy in the Regional 

Policy Statement? 

 

MR MCCALL: Our firm has made a submission on the review that’s 

underway. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Davie Lovell Smith has a position, but what about the 

Surveyors Institute? 

 

MR MCCALL:  The Surveyors Institute hasn’t made a submission but of 35 

course they could get in behind ours. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the other question I had was just so that I understand 

– your evidence describes this issue to do with road length and the 

concern about it being overly rigid, and I’m looking at your paragraph 40 

4.3 and you start “we support.” You’re speaking there for the 

Surveyors Institute and Davie Lovell Smith together? 

 

MR MCCALL:   Yes, I am 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And you have the authority of both organisations to make 

that submission? 

 

MR MCCALL:   Yes, I do, yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So when you say that it’s unnecessary and should be 

deleted, can you give me a sense a bit like you gave to Mr Udale of 

proportionality.   

 

  [3.15 pm] 10 

 

 In your experience how often do you see this as tripping applications 

up?  10 percent of the time, 50 percent of the time, or? 

 

MR MCCALL:   I think the typical road frontage width would be around about 15 

15.  If you’ve got 100 metre road then I guess you could potentially 

have seven, sorry I’d have to do the mathematics.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to get a sense of how - - - 

 20 

MR MCCALL:   Well put it this way.  If we had 100 metre length of road with 

10 metre frontages on one side, both sides, you’re talking 20 residential 

units.  So anything exceeding that, so the minute you’ve got – I don’t 

think there would be too many cases where you would have 100 metres 

of frontage with that many units either side, I think in most scenarios 25 

there would be a longer road, it might be 150 metres. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Which is why you recommend 150? 

 

MR MCCALL:  Exactly.  So I think 150 would cover the vast majority and I 30 

am guessing 80 percent.  My guess is that at 100 metres it might cover 

20 percent. So potentially there’s 60 percent of those applications 

would be forced down a path of further resource consenting. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. 35 

 

MR MCCALL:   Thanks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions arising? 

 40 

MS VISKOVIC:   No sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well thanks very much Mr Hall, sorry, Mr McCall, 

I called you, Mr Hall.  And it’s also helpful for you to put yourself in 

the witness box and be prepared to be tested a bit more thoroughly, it 45 

helps us.  Thank you.  
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<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.17 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Now, Ms Mulcock. Where are we, oh yes.  Now 

Ms Mulcock you’re down as making a statement rather than giving 5 

evidence.  What’s your preference? 
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<MS MULCOCK [3.17 pm] 
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MS MULCOCK:   I think it is more in the nature of a statement, so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right well that’s fine.  So you can go back, you can 

find a microphone just down the back there and just take a more 

relaxed view that you can just speak from there.  You won’t be sworn 5 

in or anything like that. Now we’ve all read your submission and now’s 

your opportunity to address us on the main points. We’ve obviously 

seen each other before.  Welcome again. 

 

MS MULCOCK:   Thank you. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And just feel free to start now. 

 

MS MULCOCK: Right so just to remind you, I represent a Residents’ 

Association from an area that’s been Residential Medium Density for 15 

quite a long time and our submissions in the Subdivision section related 

obviously to Residential Medium Density but to the minimum 

allotment size and the non-complying status of subdivisions outside 

that minimum size. 

 20 

 As I noted in my written statements that we supported the CCC revised 

position of 200 square metres minimum, that was achieved through 

mediation and also the various consequential changes that led to that 

and I now note that in Mr Long’s rebuttal evidence in section 7 he 

notes that the Council would also support a change for the status of 25 

subdivision below the minimum from non-complying to discretionary 

and really just say that incorporating those changes into the plan would 

fully address our concerns. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  Well thank you for taking the trouble to appraise 30 

yourself of exactly where things are at with the evidence because it did 

change quite quickly in recent times.   

 

MS MULCOCK:   It’s been moving. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it has been.  I’ll check if there’s any questions. 

 

MS MULCOCK:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 40 

 

MS DAWSON:  Just one question thank you, Ms Mulcock. The submission 

from the Society and your statement to us today relating to non-

compliance with the minimum lot size. 

 45 

MS MULCOCK:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   Are you addressing us and are you intending us to take from 

your submission that your concern and your desire for a change to the 

plan relates to all the residential zones that are before us or just the 

Residential Medium Density zone? 5 

 

  [3.40 pm] 

 

MS MULCOCK:   We’ve only looked at residential medium density, so I 

really can’t comment outside that.  It probably wouldn’t be proper 10 

because I haven’t looked at it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS MULCOCK:   We are currently 300 square metres minimum.  The 15 

Proposed Plan had 400 square metres and so this 200, our concern is 

related to the fact that because we are existing residential development 

the section size and so on meant that even 300, or more particularly 

400, are to go to non-complying if you couldn’t achieve that, when you 

might only be a few percent out that really wouldn’t have any 20 

significant effect likely.  That was our real concern that a) it was a very 

high bar in terms of 400 dividing the standard size section, in the non-

complying status, if you might have just missed that, or the most 

appropriate development was outside the 400. 

 25 

 So it may well apply to other areas, but I do see it as probably different 

from the greenfield situation where you are looking at existing parcels 

of land that have particular characteristics, you have less flexibility 

probably.  But I don’t know too much about Greenfields development, 

it sounds very complicated of what I heard this afternoon. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   I noticed in your evidence, I mean you have talked – and tell 

me if I picked this up correctly, that this residential medium density is a 

zone where intensification is being encouraged, and I think you say to 

then flip it over to non-complying, just because it is trying to be a bit 35 

more intensive that the minimum seemed to be an unusual way to go 

about it. 

 

MS MULCOCK:  Yes. It did, and I think it was related to – I think the 

intention had been to encourage intensification by making it non-40 

complying, but in our view actually it did the opposite, it discouraged 

it.  Also our other concern was that if you discourage the smaller lots 

you are going to end up with – there is a picture in my evidence that 

shows the – I heard that they’re called “sausage developments” - - - 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 
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MS MULCOCK:  - - - that are predominating and I think would be even more 

likely to predominate if you couldn’t subdivide a typical 800 square 

metre section into two lots, one of which would have to be under 400.   

 5 

MS DAWSON:  But your evidence doesn’t go to the general suburban 

residential zones in saying how they should be treated in terms of 

minimum lot size. 

 

MS MULCOCK:   No, we have just looked at our – really just come to give 10 

you some information about how it has worked in our area and what we 

see the pitfalls and what we see are the future issues.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, well thank you very much for coming along again, it is 

very helpful. 15 

 

MS MULCOCK:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Udale, any questions? 

 20 

MR UDALE:   Yes, and I am not quite sure who I am asking the question of, 

actually, possibly Council.  But I assume, and I probably should know 

the answer to this, but I don’t, but in an example like this an alternative 

approach would be a comprehensive development which would flip to 

what RDA, if it wasn’t a subdivision? 25 

 

 Sorry, I am just trying to understand the logic of what happens in an 

area like this, it would seem that this is a subdivision matter we are 

talking about here, but in practicality, in a development sense possibly 

more likely and as good a, if not better scenario would be to go to RDA 30 

with a comprehensive development.  If that is what you call them in 

this part of the world? 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think multi-unit - - - 

 35 

MR UDALE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON: - - - I mean if I remember rightly, because you came and 

talked to us on the residential chapter - - - 

 40 

MS MULCOCK:   That’s right, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  - - - so at some threshold, which eludes me at the moment, it 

might be three or four units, a comprehensive multi-unit development, 

which may or may not involve subdivision, would require a resource 45 

consent, wouldn’t it? 



 Page 283 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

 

MS MULCOCK:   Yes, at the moment it is six, and I think in the existing plan, 

I think it is going to now be four would trigger it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Four, yes. 5 

 

MS MULCOCK:   But the example I was giving was, we have standard long 

narrow sections in our area, a person who wanted to put two units on - - 

- 

 10 

MR UDALE:   Sure. 

 

MS MULCOCK:  - - - because there are not a lot of – it would be nice to join 

two or three together and make a comprehensive sort of development, 

but there aren’t that many left.   15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Again, just a random question, I am relatively new to 

being a resident here in Christchurch, and reasonably familiar with 20 

your area being, is it Brockvale Place, somewhere roundabout there? 

 

MS MULCOCK:   Brockworth, yes. 

 

  [3.45 pm] 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Brockworth, yes.  And familiarising myself in that area, 

thinking this place is just so well located, it’s got Hagley Park just here 

and a lovely close walk to the CBD as it is to be renewed. 

 30 

MS MULCOCK:   Exactly, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Over Hagley Park, and yet it seems to underperform, and 

as someone well familiar with it, if you could name one thing that 

should change to make it perform what would it be? 35 

 

MS MULCOCK:   Well I do think if we can get a diversity of development 

ongoing, not just all these sections turning into the essentially tenanted 

- - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sausages. 

 

MS MULCOCK:   - - - sausages, yes, that would make a huge difference. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 45 
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MS MULCOCK:   I think there is a real risk that if the majority turns into 

sausages there is a serious loss of amenity.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And diversity is what you are looking for, is it? 

 5 

MS MULCOCK:  Yes, and for example it is struggle enough to keep a 

Residents Association going at the moment because we do have a lot of 

short term residents who really don’t take any particular interest.  To 

get people who take an interest in the wider issues of the 

neighbourhood does require really people who are committed to living 10 

there long term, and those who do think it is a fantastic area to live in, 

but there is a risk of, for example not being able to support groups like 

the Residents Association. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much for assisting us. 15 

 

MS MULCOCK:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 20 

<MS MULCOCK WITHDREW [3.46 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so see what the time is.  We will take the 

afternoon adjournment now.  We are a little bit behind, and hear from 

you Ms Seaton after the break. 25 

 

ADJOURNED [3.46 pm] 

 

RESUMED [4.00 pm] 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Seaton, I’ll just get my papers organised 

from Counsel. 
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<KIM MARIE SEATON, affirmed [4.01 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  So, Ms Seaton, your full name is Kim Marie Seaton, you 

are a Senior Planning Practitioner with Novo Group in Christchurch 

and you have the qualifications and experience set out in your 

introduction section of your evidence. 

 5 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Thank you. Could you please give a summary in 

accordance with our usual approach, keeping it to the points of 

difference and anything arising particularly in regard to the matters you 10 

have been listening to the last couple of days? 

 

MS SEATON:  Yes, indeed, my evidence covered two matters, one being 

policy amendments and the other activity status.  With regard to the 

policy amendments I support the amendments suggested by Mr Long in 15 

his rebuttal evidence on 15 June so I have no further comment on those. 

 

 With regard to activity status in my evidence I maintain that restricted 

discretionary status was appropriate for greenfield subdivision. The 

basis for this opinion was to a large extent reasons that were shared 20 

with the City Council being the ODPs that were coming forward 

through the District Plan review process, notably those notified in 

phase two which were very generalised and not a great deal of detail 

which enhances flexibility but reduces certainty of outcome. 

 25 

 The complexity of greenfield subdivision and concerns about the extent 

of which seriously deficient subdivision design could be remedied 

though conditions of consent and in particular whether infrastructure 

constraints could be adequately addressed including the ability to 

decline where capacity did not exist or could not be created at that time 30 

and regarding infrastructure really are relied on the evidence of 

Mr Norton and Ms O’Brien in the absence of any supporting evidence 

of my own.   

 

 I have read through the opening legal submissions of the Crown and the 35 

City Council including the revised subdivision proposal from 

yesterday. I understand that Mr Norton and Ms O’Brien are now 

satisfied that their concerns as to infrastructure capacity and design 

have or can be addressed through the revised provisions.   

 40 

 I also understand that on the basis of policy 1.2, sorry, 8.1.2.9 which is 

the outlined Development Plan Policy, additional detail is also likely to 

be required for the ODPs. On the basis of this understanding I generally 

support the revised subdivision proposal put forward by the City 

Council in their legal submissions insofar as the structure, the rules and 45 

the activity status matters go – and I note the revised version is much 
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simplified and therefore improved on the notified and previous 

versions. 

 

 I do note that the rules as currently drafted do not provide for some of 

the matters that were addressed in evidence at the New Neighbourhood 5 

Zone hearing, notably for example a mechanism to provide for transfer 

of dwelling density within an outlined Development Plan area and I 

know you have had some discussions around that today which, I am 

sorry, I am not entirely up to speed with.   

 10 

 I was a little bit unclear, the revised version that we have before us, to 

the extent to which that reflected or may reflect Panel decisions on 

matters that were heard at the New Neighbourhood Zone hearing.  My 

understanding was that it did not because you have not issued decisions 

yet so I was a bit unclear how some of those issues we previously 15 

discussed were going to fit so whilst I, in principle, support the revised 

version, I am just a bit concerned that some of that detail is perhaps not 

being incorporated into that yet and I assume the Panel will be dealing 

with that through its decision making process.  Thank you. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, and subject to that explanation, you confirm 

your evidence true and correct? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 25 

  [4.05 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Please answer any questions, I think Mr Carranceja has 

got some. 

 30 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [4.05 pm] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir, it is me this time.  Thank you for that useful 

summary, Ms Seaton.  Look, on the basis that if you are confirming 

that you now support a controlled activity mechanism provided in the 35 

Council’s latest version of the plan I have no questions for you, I was 

going to ask you about your previous views regarding matters of 

discretion. Thank you. 

 

MS SEATON:    Yes, thank you. 40 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, Mr Carranceja.  I will check if there is 

questions from the Panel.  Ms Dawson? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   No, I don’t have any questions, thank you, Ms Seaton, but 

that is no reflection on the information you have provided and the help 

you have given along the way. 

 

MS SEATON:   I understand, thank you. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   So thank you very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Udale? 

 10 

MR UDALE:   The only question I had was, and there has been quite a lot of 

discussion about this over the last couple of days, the requirements for 

the RPS whether you think if those were appropriately incorporated 

into the front end of establishing an ODP, as indeed they should be, 

that they would provide a mechanism for giving some high level of 15 

confidence about density and how it is allocated or distributed? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, it is an interesting question reading through some of the 

transcript from yesterday’s discussion as well today.  I think the key 

issue really is around the density.  A lot of the ODPs it is reasonably 20 

straightforward to incorporate details like where must the main reserve 

areas, where must the main transport connections and those various 

matters that the RPS covers.  It is when you start getting into the level 

of where are the density distribution going to go, which I think the RPS 

policy includes reference to, that it starts to get a bit more problematic 25 

because you are talking about a high level of detail.  That is what we 

have got in the existing Living G zone ODPs in the operative City Plan.   

 

 There is benefits to that, there is certainty around achieving that 15 

household per hectare outcome that is sought.  The downside of that is 30 

in my experience with the Living G zones is a lot of consent variations 

whenever a developer is wanting to shuffle around a bit of density they 

have got to, if it is not in exactly the place that the ODP had it, then 

there is variations required and it can get quite onerous from a 

consenting point of view.  Yes, it is a trade-off between the flexibility 35 

and the certainty of outcome, I am not quite sure where the answer lies 

with that. 

 

MR UDALE:   Yes, it is always a challenge.  Just I guess I would be interested 

to understand if you kind of reflected on what has been done and really 40 

some of the conversation we have had today is sort of two views about 

one you either try and sort it out upfront and get some agreement and 

then actually deal with change over time because, you know, it is only 

ever a version of what could be, or the alternative view is you just kind 

of make it up as you go along.  What do you think is the better 45 

approach? 
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MS SEATON:   I don’t know that there is a better approach.  It comes down in 

part to how many landowners you have got and you talked about this 

earlier, I think it was Mr Brown, the less landowners you have got the 

simpler it is.  When you have got huge numbers of landowners it may 5 

be better off to have it sorted out upfront so it may come down to 

horses for courses depending on the case, you know, the particular land 

in question.   

 

 Personally I think the more direction in the ODP the easier it generally 10 

makes it if you have got very fragmented ownership.  And as you 

commented earlier also inevitably there is going to be negotiations and 

side agreements and so forth needed particularly with a fragmented 

landownership to actually make it work.  It is just not going to work 

otherwise. 15 

 

MR UDALE:   So you would support a view that would say that for, you know, 

multiple landowners that a more specified approach would be better? 

 

MS SEATON:  I think so. I think if you have got quite fragmented 20 

landownership it is probably going to be better otherwise you will end 

up with endless arguments which we have seen in some of those 

existing zones around who is going to take the storm water basin, you 

know, who is going to take the majority of the density or not.  It gets 

quite messy and some of the existing areas that are already zoned or are 25 

deferred zoning and have almost fallen over through inability to reach 

agreement between the landowners about what goes where.  But I think 

the Belfast 293 area, I am not sure if you are familiar with that but 

Council (ph 4.37) might - - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will never forget it. 

 

MS SEATON:   I was going to say Council might be better but perhaps the 

judge is better to comment on this one but my understanding from that 

is that there is problems there where the ODP was specific about 35 

certain things which didn’t fit with the landowner’s aspirations and it 

has all fallen over as a consequence.  So there is no easy answer 

unfortunately. 

 

MR UDALE:   So lack of, doing it without adequate consultation and perhaps 40 

input and knowledge. 
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  [4.10 pm] 

 

MS SEATON:   The judge may be, correct me if I am wrong on this, but my 

understanding is that there was an assumption that the landowners 

would be nice and play together to sort certain things out and they have 5 

not so, yes. 

 

MR UDALE:   Clearly where there’s only one or two landowners and they are 

both large and they hopefully are more kind of professional in what 

they are doing, and I have certainly in Tauranga I think and the 10 

Wairaka area they ran a kind of running average that said you have to 

hit 15 and you can go as low as 12 before you have to make it up, so 

there’s a little bit of room to - - - 

 

MS SEATON:   Indeed, and a good developer – there’s always good 15 

developers and bad developers – a good developer will work with the 

other landowners and they’ll make it work, they’ll make it happen,  

some other developers perhaps less so. 

 

MR UDALE:   So it’s really entering, the point at which you enter into an ODP 20 

and really making the assessment is whoever is leading that process, be 

it Council or presumably a bunch of landowners who could get together 

to promote them being very clear about what the expectation is and that 

could vary. 

 25 

MS SEATON:  Yes, I get a bit nervous about Council assuming that 

landowners will lead an ODP process, that’s when things really start to 

get messy. 

 

MR UDALE:   Can’t stop them if they want to. 30 

 

MS SEATON:   No, I know, absolutely, if they want to that’s great, but an 

assumption that they will - - - 

 

MR UDALE:   Oh no. 35 

 

MS SEATON:   - - - is a problem, yes.   

 

MR UDALE:   Okay, thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You’re not giving evidence are you? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can I follow up with a question? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Can I follow up with a question? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   You said, I think at the start of your answer to questions from 5 

Mr Udale, that there are often, where densities are prescribed in an 

ODP, in your experience, there have been lots of applications to tweak 

that, shuffle them around, all that sort of thing. But you then said the 

flipside of that is where there are multiple landowners the more you 

have the more certainty upfront avoids a different sort of endless 10 

argument down the track.  So overall there are likely – and I think you 

said in your presentation it’s a complex process – so am I hearing, there 

will be applications down the track no matter what you have - - - 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - it’s not going to result in a completely smooth and non-

application process. 

 

MS SEATON:   No. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   It’s just a matter of where that balance lies. 

 

MS SEATON:   It is. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Avoiding arguments by doing things up front, knowing that 

you’ll have to sort out some other problems - - - 

 

MS SEATON:   It is, yes, and the example that I had specifically in mind when 

I mentioned about previous experience with the Living G was with the 30 

Gillman Wheelans development and there was a single landowner. So 

it was a single landowner’s shuffling around of what he was wanting to 

do.  So whether that’s a fair reflection of what happens in the other 

Living G zones I’m not sure.  Perhaps it’s less likely if you’ve got 

multiple landowners, I don’t know. 35 

 

MS DAWSON: Well the flipside is that there’s certainty in terms of arguments 

between them of avoiding arguments between them. 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, yes, they’ve got a baseline from which to start their 40 

argument if you like. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. 

 



 Page 292 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now Ms Seaton just a couple of things, and in terms of 

what you’ve explained in evidence a lot of things have fallen away.  

Are you able to attend caucusing? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes.  Friday morning I understand? 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, subject to what parties confirm with us but yes, 

Friday 10am. 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I was going to question you on the concept of, which you 

describe at paragraph 4 of this composite restricted discretionary and 

controlled activity aspect of it.  What was troubling me about it was the 

Act defines subdivision, and that’s the activity that the rules need to 15 

attach to, but given that that’s gone away I don’t need to question you 

on that I don’t think.   

 

 It’s helpful that you’ve come along because it gives a bit of continuity 

and it reminded me of something I’d forgotten, which in terms of your 20 

mention of some sort of arrangement that could be recognised in the 

rules for agreements to be achieved between landowners for their 

collective interests. 

 

 And in terms of the 15 households per hectare averaged over the area 25 

more or less to be achieved to achieve the RPS and this issue we’ve 

been struggling with, I don’t quite know how to capture it but I have in 

mind I guess is it possible to have some form of rule which works on 

the basis of a demonstrated piece of evidence of inter owner agreement 

that a density average can be expected to be achieved, such that an 30 

application can still enjoy a more benign activity status with that proof 

being in front of the, well, being with the application. 

 

  [4.15 pm] 

 35 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And do you think in concept that is worth exploring? 

 

MS SEATON:   Absolutely, yes, I think it should be possible, going back to 40 

our earlier discussion at the previous Hearing quite what that legal 

mechanism would be, you would need to get some legal advice on that 

but to me it is not dissimilar to the rules we have in the current plan 

which enables a landowner to achieve a lesser density provided they 

can demonstrate they can achieve it elsewhere.  Now, the current rule 45 

applies to within their own landholdings effectively. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   That is right. 

 

MS SEATON:   But to me it is just a short step beyond that to demonstrate that 

you can achieve it somewhere else subject to whatever legal 5 

mechanism is identified if you can find the right mechanism. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, that is right, and the mechanism that we were 

exploring in principle with you last time, I think for that scenario of 

beyond the landowner’s holding was some form of instrument that 10 

would be registered against type. 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Did we go down the track a little bit with that with the earlier 15 

version of the New Neighbourhood Subdivision provisions - - - 

 

MS SEATON:   In the residential Hearing. 

 

MS DAWSON:  - - - at the time of the residential Hearing, there was some sort 20 

of preliminary drafting in some version? 

 

MS SEATON:   I am not sure about preliminary drafting, I think we primarily 

explored it verbally at the hearing. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well perhaps it would be good to think about that, perhaps 

go back to whatever record you can see of that, it would have been on 

the transcript and so forth and it may be something else that Counsel 

can help the planners with, with some thinking by way of submissions 

by Thursday, 5.00 pm, would be on the concept of whether there would 30 

be any impediment in a legal sense to a rule that relied on a registered 

instrument being included with the application to show proof that the 

average density arrangements would still be achieved or would not be 

compromised, I suppose, in some way by an application for a lower 

density at an earlier stage or something like that. 35 

 

MS SEATON:   I think so, I think that concept of a rule will become even more 

valuable with the more fragmented land ownership that is quite 

problematic. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I wonder whether that might find a way through the two 

poles of thinking from Davie Lovell-Smith that we heard.  Thank you. 

 

MR UDALE:   If I can just ask a question before – just in relation to the RPS – 

when I kind of look at this, one of the requirements in the RPS which 45 

gets pulled through into the ODP is in 6.3.3.3E.  The distribution of 
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different residential developments in accordance with, saying those 

have to be shown, and then the other is in clause seven of that that is set 

out the staging and coordination of subdivision and development 

between landowners, would that not suggest that in fact it is a 

requirement of an ODP that it shows the distribution of density and 5 

essentially where it going to go and how it gets delivered? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, the reading of this policy, I was reading it again this 

morning, does suggest that slightly unhelpfully I would suggest but 

nevertheless it is what it is so, yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But on the construct that an Outline Development Plan 

can include a set of words and may be a rule or two. 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes I noted your discussion about the word “show” and what 15 

that means, but yes. 

 

MR UDALE:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well thank you very much, Ms Seaton, and I look 20 

forward to the product of caucusing.  

 

MS SEATON:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.19 pm] 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Weaver, hello again.  I understand you are making a 

submission. 

 

MR WEAVER:   Yes, just speaking to our submitter. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, okay, that is fine, just where you are there is probably 

the best place. 
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<MR WEAVER [4.19 pm] 
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MR WEAVER:  So my name is Mark Weaver, Project Manager with Calder 

Stewart Industries, and I wrote in and lodged a submission in terms of 

the subdivision matters.  There were three matters in our submission, 

the first two have been addressed to our satisfaction, we have got no 

issue with those, the third one relates to appendix 8.6.3 and we take 5 

objection to the minimum number of footpaths required for industrial 

collector and industrial local roads. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Weaver, that microphone is not very sensitive, 

you have to sort of hear yourself echoing a little bit and then you know 10 

it is working properly. 

 

MR WEAVER:   Is that any better? 

 

  [4.20 pm] 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just lift your voice a little bit and it will be fine. 

 

MR WEAVER:  Okay, I will hunch. So the operative plan only requires a 

single footpath for local and collector roads. The proposed plan is 20 

seeking two. We put forward some reasons why we did not think that 

two footpaths were necessary due to the limited number of amenities 

within the zones, that the majority of movement within the zones is by 

vehicle, recreational walking or walking to work is seldom observed 

and there is really not the need for it to facilitate pedestrian passage. 25 

Now, in his evidence for the Council, Mr Brown accepts these points 

but then goes on to say that he thinks that the issue is with shift workers 

who are arriving in the dark, parking their cars on the road and maybe 

being cleaned up by a- - -  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Did you say Mr Brown? Mr Long. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, Mr Brown. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, Mr Brown. 35 

 

MR WEAVER:   Mr Brown. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Brown, transport person, sorry. Thank you. 

 40 

MR WEAVER:   Yes, on page 14 of his evidence. So he is suggesting that shift 

workers come and go in the dark and there is a risk if they park on the 

road that they are going to get hit by a vehicle because they cannot 

walk on the footpath. He also says that it is common for this to occur. 

Our submission is this is not common and also that obviously, roads 45 

have a minimum level of lighting at night time hours to create a safe 
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environment. I think, as I said before, when I appeared in front of the 

panel, I spent a fair bit of time in industrial areas and I would agree that 

there are some areas where there is a tendency for people to park on the 

street. These would be in the older areas and probably in areas that are 

going through a change of use. 5 

 

 What we are looking at here is the construction of new roads in 

Greenfields’ industrial areas and I would submit that the environment 

there is very different to maybe some of the industrial areas closer into 

town. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It seems to be pretty hard to justify that, does it not? 

 

MR WEAVER:   Sorry, in terms of? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:  In terms of what your client is seeking for industrial 

purposes, for instance. Is it not conceivable that workers and/or their 

families and so forth would want to safely traverse to and from work, 

and if necessary, well in fact, if they prefer to do it on a footpath? 

 20 

MR WEAVER:   I fully accept that. What I am suggesting is that a footpath on 

both sides of the road is not necessary. If someone is travelling from 

home to work and there is a footpath on one side of the road, that is 

sufficient to get them to work. They are going to have a cross a road 

anyhow, more than likely. What I am saying and what Mr Brown is 25 

suggesting is the people who are parking on the road are having to 

somehow get themselves in front of traffic to get to their workplace. I 

would suggest that if someone is parking in front of their workplace, 

that the distance they are travelling is very short and they are going to 

take the shortest line. 30 

 

 Now, maybe they are parking on the side of the road with the footpath, 

if not, they are going to cross the road and they are going to be on a 

footpath. I think that the issue we have with it is these footpaths are, to 

a significant point, seldom used in these areas. There is enough hard 35 

surfacing in these areas, with roads and buildings and yards and what 

have you. We are creating another one. There is obviously a cost to the 

footpath to be installed, and is also an ongoing cost for it to be 

maintained. I am not aware of any instances that have been created by 

the existing rule, which only requires one footpath, which have caused 40 

serious safety concerns in an industrial area as a result of only having 

one footpath instead of two. 

 

 So our position is we do not accept Mr Brown’s reasoning for why two 

footpaths should be provided. 45 
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  [4.25 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, anything further on that? 

 

 Yes, I’ll just check if there are any questions – Ms Dawson? 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I think – that’s fine, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Udale? 

 10 

MR UDALE:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, well I suppose at the end of the day accept it’s a 

matter of judgement, where standards apply to the consideration of 

matters. 15 

 

MR WEAVER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, I think – you’re not suggesting it makes industrial 

development uneconomic, you’re saying it adds cost? 20 

 

MR WEAVER:  It’s not so much the cost, it’s providing infrastructure that’s 

not necessary I guess at the end of the day. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  But you’re not calling any evidence on that? 25 

 

MR WEAVER:   Only what we’ve given. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Such as from Mr Penny that – Mr Penny gave evidence in 

the last hearing? 30 

 

MR WEAVER:   He did. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 35 

MR WEAVER:   Sorry, I’m not under - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I’m just – the difficulty I’m having, is you’re putting a 

proposition in submissions and asserting it’s not necessary but not 

giving evidence on it and not electing to call somebody who may have 40 

relevant - - -  

 

MR WEAVER:   I’m sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - skills in the area to help us with it. 45 
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MR WEAVER:   I understand. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So do you accept at the end of the day it’s a matter of 

judgement for us? 

 5 

MR WEAVER:   Without a doubt. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Thank very much. 

 

MR WEAVER:   Thank you. 10 

 

<MR WEAVER WITHDREW [4.26 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  That’s it for the day I think, so Ms Stevens’ evidence has 

come in by consent and any update on anything, Ms Viskovic, before 15 

we finish for the day? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Yes, just a very brief point, I understand that Ms McCloud 

who is a witness for Transpower and Mr Long have had some 

discussion today about the update to the new chapter - - -  20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  - - - and Ms McCloud was just wondering, and I assume that 

the Panel would assume that she’s most welcome to attend caucusing, 25 

they’re just wondering - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - the best way to, to put before the Panel agreements 30 

which they’ve essentially reached and I would suggest that perhaps 

through the caucusing statement might be the most appropriate way to 

do that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, that’s absolutely fine, that would be helpful. So we’ll 35 

now give some thought to the sorts of questions that we have in mind 

for the witnesses to address. We’ve indicated a couple of legal issues. I 

don’t want to burden counsel unnecessarily but it’s just that to some 

extent it would be of some assistance to us if you did have the 

time/opportunity to briefly address those legal points, particularly on 40 

behalf the Council and the Crown but I realise I’m putting it on you a 

little bit. 

 

 So we will issue a minute on those questions I think, if there were any 

particular questions that counsel thought the witnesses should address 45 

themselves too, you’re most welcome to lodge a memorandum on that. 
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If you could do that I think just for our purposes so we get our minute 

out in time, so we will tend to probably trying to get that out tomorrow 

some time – probably close of business tomorrow, all right, thanks very 

much. 

 5 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, just before you close - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Mr Carranceja. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   - - - in terms of the two legal questions you’ve asked - - 10 

-  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA: - - - I think – I did detect a third one, it appeared through 15 

the line of questioning, is that one that’s still to be pursued? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: The one about the mechanism, you mean about the 

mechanism of being able to transfer - - -  

 20 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I’m actually quite interested in whether or not that can be 

achieved, I think hearing the different perspectives today on the 

problem, it would be – and one of those aspects being, “What do we do 25 

about outline plans that area actually relatively embryonic in shape, in 

terms of whether they give effect to the RPS or not”, whether a clever 

rule which would allow an enablement of a transfer to occur in some 

way. 

 30 

MR CARRANCEJA:  Are you proposing that occur outside of the ODP and 

RPS requirements for the ODP, is this - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I mean it may - - -  

 35 

MR CARRANCEJA:   - - - that’s what I was trying to figure out, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that’s what I’m trying to figure out as well. 

 

 Perhaps what I’ll do, is I’ll issue a question on that, once I’ve actually 40 

had a chance to talk to my fellow Panel members - - -  

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - it was really an idea that sprung to mind very late in 

terms of Ms Seaton reminding me of matters we discussed on the idea 

and conceptual terms - - -  

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - when we talked about new neighbourhoods in the 

Residential Chapter and the conceptual idea there was it would be good 

to be able to allow for land owners with different interests to do deals 

with each other- - -  10 

 

  [4.30 pm] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:  - - -in advance of an application and to have them recorded 

in some form of instrument so that someone could go in with some 

more confidence that even though they were below density, it was not 

going to trip them up because the deal was already done to ensure that 

it would be achieved across a wider area of land that their own 20 

interests. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir,  okay, well in that case perhaps if we just proceed 

to deal with that, I actually consider it two issues really, that it’s a 

scope issue plus the Augier condition type- - - 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That’s right. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:    - - -mechanism so we can address that immediately, sir, 

but perhaps hold off on that other until- - - 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It may well be that, yes, no, thank you, it may be that they 

will come up with some interesting ideas on the issue and then we can 

decide whether there is a legal problem with the idea they come up as 

well. 

 40 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Certainly, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right. 

 
MATTER ADJOURNED AT 4.31 PM UNTIL 45 
TUESDAY, 30 JUNE 2015 


